
HEARING TO BE CONDUCTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003 
 

 

 
 

 

City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Committee Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 Licensing Sub-Committee (4) 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Thursday 13 January 2022 

   

Time: 
 

 10.00 am 

   

Venue: 
 

 This is a virtual meeting. 

   

Members:  Councillors: 

  Karen Scarborough (Chairman) 
Barbara Arzymanow 
Aziz Toki 

   

  If you require further information, please contact the Committee 
Officer, Sarah Craddock, Committee and Councillor Co-ordinator. 

Email: scraddock@westminster.gov.uk  Tel: 0779098018 
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 

 

http://www.westminster.gov.uk/


 

 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that officer contacts are shown at the end of 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.  
Regarding Item 2, guidance on Declarations of Interests is included in the Code of 
Governance. If Members and Officers have any questions, they should contact the 
Director of Law before the meeting please. 

AGENDA 

PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)  

1.   MEMBERSHIP  

 To report any changes to the membership.  

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive declarations by Members and Officers of the 
existence and nature of any pecuniary interests or any other 
significant interest in matters on this agenda. 

 

 Licensing Applications for Determination  

1.   REIGN, 215 - 217 PICCADILLY, W1J 9HN (Pages 1 - 44) 

 Ward 
CIA* 
SCZ** 

Site Name & 
Address 

Application 
Type 

Licensing 
Reference No. 

St James’s 

None* 

West End** 

Reign,              
215-217 
Piccadilly   
W1J 9HN 

Variation to 
a Premises 
Licence 

21/08184/LIPV 

*Cumulative Impact Area 
** Special Consideration Zone 

 

 

2.   THE RESIDENCY, 50 WESTBOURNE GROVE, W2 5SH (Pages 45 - 76) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ward 
CIA* 
SCZ** 

Site Name & 
Address 

Applicatio
n 
Type 

Licensing 
Reference No. 

Bayswater 

None* 

Queensway
/Bayswater*
* 

The Residency,       
50 Westbourne 
Grove, W2 5SH 

New 
Premises 
Licence 

21/08577/LIPN  

*Cumulative Impact Area 
** Special Consideration Zone 

 
 
 
 

 



 
 

 

3.   SILVERTIME AMUSEMENT LIMITED, 32 GERRARD STREET, 
W1D 6JA 

(Pages 77 - 
172) 

 Ward 
CIA* 
SCZ** 

Site Name & 
Address 

Application 
Type 

Licensing 
Reference No. 

St 
James’s 

None* 

None** 

Silvertime 
Amusement 
Limited,                        
32 Gerrard 
Street,      
W1D 6JA 

New Gambling 
Premises 
Licence 

21/07775/LIGN  

*Cumulative Impact Area 
** Special Consideration Zone 

 

 

 
 
Stuart Love  
Chief Executive 
5 January 2022 
 



 
 

 

In considering applications for Premises Licences under the Licensing Act 2003, the Sub 
Committee is advised of the following: 

Policy Considerations 

The Licensing Sub-Committee is required to have regard to the City of Westminster 
statement of Licensing Policy, effective from January 2021. 

Guidance Considerations 

The Licensing Sub-Committee is required to have regard to any guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State under Section 182 the Licensing Act 2003.  The most recent version 
was published in April 2018. 

Core hours When Customers Are Permitted to Be on The Premises  

Core hours, as set out in the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy 2021, are when 
customers are permitted to be on the Premises. The maximum opening hours permitted 
will not exceed the start time and terminal hour for each of the days where licensable 
activity is permitted.  

Note: The core hours are for all licensable activities but if an application includes Late 
Night Refreshment, then the starting time for that licensable activity will be 11.00 pm. 

1. Casinos  

Up to 24 hours a day whilst Casino Gaming is permitted by a Premises Licence under 
the Gambling Act 2005.  

2. Cinemas, Cultural Venues and Live Sporting Premises 

Monday to Sunday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

3. Hotels 

Monday to Thursday:  09:00 hours to 23:30 hours 
Friday and Saturday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours  
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 
Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday: 09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sale of alcohol to guests for 
consumption in hotel/guest rooms only: Anytime up to 24 hours 

4. Off licences 

Monday to Saturday:  08:00 hours to 23:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 

5. Outdoor Spaces 

Monday to Thursday:  09:00 hours to 23:30 hours 
Friday and Saturday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 
Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday: 09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

6. Pubs and bars, Fast Food and Music and Dance venues  

Monday to Thursday:  10:00 hours to 23:30 hours 
Friday and Saturday: 10:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 



 
 

 

Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday: 12:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

7. Qualifying Clubs  

Monday to Thursday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Friday and Saturday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 
Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday: 09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

8. Restaurants 

Monday to Thursday:  09:00 hours to 23:30 hours 
Friday and Saturday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 
Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday: 09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

9. Sexual Entertainment Venues and Sex Cinemas 

Monday to Thursday:  09:00 hours to 23:30 hours 
Friday and Saturday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 
Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

 
Procedure for virtual hearings held under the Licensing Act 2003  
The purpose of this procedure is to clarify how the Licensing Sub-Committee (“the Sub-
Committee”) will conduct virtual licensing hearings made under the Licensing Act 2003 (as 
amended) and for licensing applications under other regimes.  All hearings are conducted 
with due regard to the Council’s Constitution, relevant legislation and case law, regulations 
and guidance.  
 
Accessing virtual hearings 
Virtual Licensing Sub-Committee hearings will be held on Microsoft Teams as a live 
Teams event.  Each application will be dealt with by a separate Teams meeting.  All 
applicants, responsible authorities and other persons (who have submitted a valid 
representation) (collectively called “Parties”) will be provided with a link to the meeting 
beforehand.  Only these parties will be able to participate in the hearing (together with 
their adviser) provided they have registered, in advance, with the Licensing Authority, as 
specified below.   A link for the general public to watch the meeting will be available on the 
Council’s website.   
 
Final Submissions before the Hearing  
 
The parties (or their representatives) should use their best endeavours to ensure that all of 
their final submissions have been made so as to be included in the Sub-Committee report 
(typically no later, than 5.pm, 5 working days before the Sub-Committee hearing).  This 
means by 5pm on the Thursday, the week before the Sub-Committee hearing is due to 
take place. Final submissions should set out the key points, policies and conditions that a 
party wishes the Sub-Committee to take account of in determining the application.   
Any final submissions that a party wishes to make, (that have not been submitted so as to 
have been included in the report),  must be submitted to the  Licensing Service by no 
later than 12 noon 3 working days before the hearing is due to take place.  The 
Licensing email address is: Licensing@westminster.gov.uk. 
 
Rules during Licensing Hearings 
The following rules must be followed by all parties to ensure the virtual hearing can 
progress as successfully as possible: 

 All parties wishing to participate in the hearing must register their wish to 

participate in the hearing and provide their email addresses to the Licensing 

Service at Licensing@westminster.gov.uk  no later than 12 noon on the Monday 

before the Thursday hearing is scheduled to take place. 

 All parties should join the virtual hearing at least 15 minutes before the 

advertised start time to ensure they are ready to start at the advertised start time.  

After the advertised start time has passed no registered parties will be allowed to 

join, except in exceptional circumstances, when permitted by the Chairman, as this 

could disrupt the meeting. 

 All parties must only address the hearing when invited to do so by the Chairman. 

 All parties must keep their microphones on mute unless they are speaking.  The 

Chairman has the ability to mute all parties’ microphones. 

 If a party wishes to interject, they should put their name in the messaging field.  The 

chairman has the discretion to invite the party to make their comment at an 

appropriate stage in the hearing. 

mailto:Licensing@westminster.gov.uk
mailto:Licensing@westminster.gov.uk


 
 

 

 All parties are asked to keep their comments as succinct as possible. 

 If a party has a question for another party, this must be addressed to the Chairman 

who will have the discretion to ask the relevant party to respond. 

 Parties wishing to make suggestions as to the conditions that may be imposed in 

the event of the application being granted should do so by reference to the 

schedule of proposed conditions set out in the Conditions Schedule annexed to the 

committee papers.  In so doing, they should use the same numbering in that 

schedule. This is to ensure that there is ease of referencing the conditions by all the 

parties. 

 To ensure the smooth running of hearings, a time limit will be placed on each 

party’s submissions.  This time limit must be adhered to but the Chairman has the 

flexibility to amend the time limit when it is considered appropriate to do so. 

 When referring to the hearing papers, participants should give the page and 

paragraph number when appropriate.  

  The Chairman has the discretion to amend these rules in any given case where 

they consider it is appropriate to do so. 

Procedure 
1. The Chairman will open the meeting and introduce the members of the Sub-

Committee and the other officers attending with the members, including the legal 

adviser, policy adviser and committee officer. 

  
2. The Chairman will confirm the procedure that the hearing will follow.  

 
3. The Sub-Committee members and officers will be asked to declare any interests they 

may have and any other procedural business will be transacted. 

 
4. The presenting officer from the licensing service will introduce the application, giving a 

brief description of the application and introducing all the Parties in attendance for 

each application 

 
5. Each party who has registered to speak, will be invited to make their representations 

and will be allowed a maximum of 10 minutes each.  In order to ensure that the 

hearing is fair to all parties and is conducted in an orderly manner, the Chairman has 

the discretion to extend this time limit where it is appropriate for the determination of 

the application.   

 
6. Parties will normally speak in the following order, (the order may change for other 

types of licensing applications):  

a. The applicant  

b. Responsible authorities  

c. Other persons 

 
7. The Chairman has the right to grant each party the opportunity to ask questions of 

each other for the purposes of clarification only where it is appropriate to do so.  The 

Sub-Committee members will then be able to ask questions of the parties. 

 



 
 

 

8. The legal adviser and/or policy officer may ask questions of the parties as they 

consider appropriate, including in relation to the conditions which should be attached 

to the application if the Sub-Committee is minded to grant the application. 

 
9. Each party will have an opportunity to make a short closing submission each (not 

introducing any new evidence or case law) of no more than 5 minutes each, in the 

following order:  

a. Responsible authorities 

b. Other persons  

c. The applicant  

 
10. The Chairman shall then close the meeting and all parties will leave the meeting. A 

Decision will not be announced at the end of the hearing unless there is a legal 

requirement to do so. 

 

11.  The Sub-Committee will deliberate in closed session and all parties will be advised of 

the outcome in a written Summary Decision.  Unless otherwise required or permitted 

by Regulations, summary decisions will be made within a period of five working days 

of the last day of the hearing. The written summary of the decision (“Summary 

Decision”) will be sent to all the parties as soon as possible after the Decision has 

been made. The full Decision, setting out the reasons for the Decision, (Formal 

Notification) will be sent to the parties as soon as possible thereafter.  The time limit 

for appealing will not commence until the Formal Notification has been sent to the 

parties. 

 

Dated 15 April 2020     

 



 

 
 
 
 
 

Item No:   

   

Date:  13 January 2022 

   

Licensing Ref No:  21/08184/LIPV - Premises Licence Variation 

   

Title of Report:  Reign 
215 - 217 Piccadilly 
London 
W1J 9HN 

   

Report of:  Director of Public Protection and Licensing 

   

Wards involved:  St James’s 

   

Policy context:  City of Westminster Statement of Licensing Policy  

   

Financial summary:  None 

   

Report Author:  Roxsana Haq 
Senior Licensing Officer 

   

Contact details  Telephone: 020 7641 6500 
Email: rhaq@westminster.gov.uk 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
Report 

page 1

Agenda Item 1.



 
1. Application 

 

1-A Applicant and premises 
 

Application Type: Variation of a Premises Licence, Licensing Act 2003 
 

Application received date: 17 August 2021 

Applicant: Strongarm Holdings Limited 

Premises: Reign 

Premises address: 215 - 217 Piccadilly 
London 
W1J 9HN 

Ward: 
 

St James’s 

Cumulative Impact 
Area: 

None 

Special 
Consideration 
Zone: 

West End 

Premises description: 
 

The premises currently operate as a Night club. 

Variation description: 
 

This application seeks the following: 
 

• For a time limited period of 2 years; to extend the 
terminal hour for Saturday trade for existing licensable 
activities to 6am. With alcohol sales and late-night 
refreshment extended to 5am.  

• To suspend condition 55 for a time limited period of 2 
years. Condition 55 currently reads as: 
 “There shall be no entry or re-entry (excluding persons 
from the smoking area) to the premises after 02:30 or 
such time as agreed in writing by the Westminster 
Police Licensing Unit (and a copy of any agreement to 
be held at reception).” 

 

• To add additional conditions 
 

Premises licence history: 
 

The premises has had the benefit of a premises licence since 
2005. The current premises licence (21/00725/LIPCH) can be 
viewed at Appendix 3 of this report along with the premises 
history. 
 

Applicant submissions: There are no submissions from the applicant. 
 

Applicant amendments: None 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 2



1-B Current and proposed licensable activities, areas and hours 
 

Regulated Entertainment 
 

Playing of Recorded Music 

 

 Current  
Hours 

Proposed  
Hours 

Licensable Area 

Start: End: Start: End: Current: Proposed: 

Monday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 Basement, 
Ground floor, and 
First floor. 

No Change 

Tuesday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Wednesday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Thursday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Friday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Saturday 10:00 04:00 10:00 06:00 

Sunday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

Current: Proposed: 

N/A N/A 

 

Performance of live music  
 

 Current  
Hours 

Proposed  
Hours 

Licensable Area 

Start: End: Start: End: Current: Proposed: 

Monday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 Basement, 
Ground floor, and 
First floor. 

No Change 

Tuesday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 

Wednesday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 

Thursday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 

Friday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 

Saturday 10:00 03:00 10:00 06:00 

Sunday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

Current: Proposed: 

N/A N/A 

 

Performance of Dance 
 

 Current  
Hours 

Proposed  
Hours 

Licensable Area 

Start: End: Start: End: Current: Proposed: 

Monday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 Basement, 
Ground floor, and 
First floor. 

No Change 

Tuesday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Wednesday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Thursday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Friday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Saturday 10:00 04:00 10:00 06:00 

Sunday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

Current: Proposed: 

N/A N/A 

 

page 3



Anything of a similar description to Live Music, Recorded Music or Performance of 
Dance 
 

 Current  
Hours 

Proposed  
Hours 

Licensable Area 

Start: End: Start: End: Current: Proposed: 

Monday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 Basement, 
Ground floor, and 
First floor. 

No Change 

Tuesday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Wednesday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Thursday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Friday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Saturday 10:00 04:00 10:00 06:00 

Sunday 10:00 04:00 10:00 04:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

Current: Proposed: 

N/A N/A 

 

Late night refreshment 
 

Indoors, outdoors or both Current : Proposed: 

Indoors No Change 

 Current  
Hours 

Proposed  
Hours 

Licensable Area 

Start: End: Start: End: Current: Proposed: 

Monday 23:00 04:00 23:00 04:00 Basement, 
Ground floor, and 
First floor. 

No Change 

Tuesday 23:00 04:00 23:00 04:00 

Wednesday 23:00 04:00 23:00 04:00 

Thursday 23:00 04:00 23:00 04:00 

Friday 23:00 04:00 23:00 04:00 

Saturday 23:00 04:00 23:00 05:00 

Sunday 23:00 04:00 23:00 04:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

Current: Proposed: 

N/A N/A 

 

Sale by Retail of Alcohol 
 

On or off sales Current : Proposed: 

On the premises No Change 

 Current  
Hours 

Proposed  
Hours 

Licensable Area 

Start: End: Start: End: Current: Proposed: 

Monday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 Basement, 
Ground floor, and 
First floor. 

No Change 

Tuesday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 

Wednesday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 

Thursday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 

Friday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 

Saturday 10:00 03:00 10:00 05:00 

Sunday 10:00 03:00 10:00 03:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

Current: Proposed: 

N/A N/A 

page 4



 

Hours premises are open to the public 
 

 Current  
Hours 

Proposed  
Hours 

Premises Area 

Start: End: Start: End: Current: Proposed: 

Monday 09:00 04:00 09:00 04:00 Basement, 
Ground floor, and 
First floor. 

No Change 

Tuesday 09:00 04:00 09:00 04:00 

Wednesday 09:00 04:00 09:00 04:00 

Thursday 09:00 04:00 09:00 04:00 

Friday 09:00 04:00 09:00 04:00 

Saturday 09:00 04:00 09:00 06:00 

Sunday 09:00 04:00 09:00 04:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

Current: Proposed: 

N/A N/A 

 

1-C Layout alteration 
 

None. 

 

1-D Conditions proposed to be removed 
 

None. 

 

1-E Conditions proposed to be added  
 

1. A copy of the premises dispersal policy shall be made readily available at the premises for 
inspection by a police officer and/or an authorised officer of Westminster City Council. 
 

2. On Saturday trade there shall be a designated welfare officer appointed separate to SIA 
functions to monitor the behaviour and conduct of patrons within the premises and on dispersal. 

 

3. The variation of hours under ref: xxxx shall be permitted for a limited period of 2 years only 
until (insert date). 

 

4.  
a) On Sundays to Fridays there shall be no entry or re-entry excluding persons from the 
smoking area to the premises after 0230 or such time as agreed in writing by the Westminster 
Police Licensing Unit and a copy of any agreement to be held at reception 
 
b) On Saturdays there shall be no entry or re-entry excluding persons from the smoking area to 
the premises after 0400 or such time as agreed in writing by the Westminster Police Licensing 
Unit and a copy of any agreement to be held at reception. This condition shall be in force for a 
limited period of 2 years only until (insert date). 

 

5. Condition 55 shall be suspended for 2 years only until (insert date). 
 
Condition 55 reads as the following: 

“There shall be no entry or re-entry (excluding persons from the smoking area) to the 
premises after 02:30 or such time as agreed in writing by the Westminster Police 
Licensing Unit (and a copy of any agreement to be held at reception).” 

 
 

page 5



2. Representations 
 

2-A Responsible Authorities 
 

Responsible 
Authority: 

Metropolitan Police Service  

Representative:  PC Adam Deweltz 

Received:  
 

06 September 2021 

RE: Premises Licence Application for Reign, 215-217 Piccadilly, W1J 9HN 
 
With reference to the above, I am writing to inform you that the Metropolitan Police, as a 
responsible authority, are making a representation against this application. It is our belief that if 
granted the application could undermine the Licensing Objectives in relation to The Prevention 
of Crime and Disorder. The hours sought are also beyond those of Westminster’s core hours 
policy.  
 

Responsible 
Authority: 

Environmental Health Service 

Representative: Mr Dave Nevitt 

Received: 
 

13 September 2021 

I wish to make Representations on the following grounds: 
Representation is made in relation to the application, as the proposals are likely to increase the 
risk of Public Nuisance. 
 

 
 
3. Policy & Guidance 

 

The following policies within the City of Westminster Statement of Licensing Policy apply: 
 

Policy HRS1 applies A. Applications within the core hours set out below in this policy will 
generally be granted for the relevant premises uses, subject to not 
being contrary to other policies in the Statement of Licensing Policy. 
 
B. Applications for hours outside the core hours set out in Clause 
C will be considered on their merits, subject to other relevant 
policies, and with particular regard to the following: 
 
1. The demonstration of compliance in the requirements of policies 
CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1 associated with the likelihood of the effect 
of the grant of a licence for later or earlier hours on crime and 
disorder, public safety, public nuisance and the protection of children 
from harm. 
 
2. If the application is located within a Special Consideration Zone 
they have demonstrated that they have taken account of the 
issues identified in that area and provided adequate mitigation. 
 
3. Whether there is residential accommodation in the proximity of 
the premises that would likely be adversely affected by premises 
being open or carrying out operations at the hours proposed. 
4. The proposed hours of the licensable activities and when 
customers will be permitted to remain on the premises. 
 
5. The proposed hours when any music, including incidental music, 
will be played. 

page 6



 
6. The hours when customers will be allowed to take food or drink 
outside the premises or be within open areas which form part of the 
premises. 
 
7. The existing hours of licensable activities and the past operation 
of the premises (if any) and hours of licensable premises in the 
vicinity. 
 
8. Whether customers and staff have adequate access to public 
transport when arriving at and leaving the premises, especially at 
night. 
 
9. The capacity of the premises. 
 
10. The type of use, recognising that some venues are more likely to 
impact the licensing objectives than others; for example, pubs 
and bars are higher risk than theatres, cinemas and other cultural 
and sporting venues due to the nature of the operation. 
11. The Licensing Authority will take into account the active 
measures proposed for a ‘winding down’ period including 
arrangements for people to be collected from the premises to travel 
home safely. 
 
12. Conditions on hours may be attached that require that the supply 
of alcohol for consumption on the premises ceases a suitable period 
of time before customers are required to leave the premises. 
 
13. The council, acting as the Licensing Authority, may reduce hours 
if, after review, it is necessary to impose conditions specifying 
shorter hours in order to promote the licensing objectives. 
 
14. Specific days for non-standard hours should be identified and 
justified as part of the application to allow responsible authorities 
and interested parties to evaluate the impact that these licensable 
activities may have, and to plan accordingly. The consideration of 
applications for later hours for Bank Holiday Mondays will take into 
account that later hours are generally granted for preceding 
Sundays and that the next day is a working day. Non-specific days 
are expected to be covered by Temporary Event Notices or variation 
applications. 
 
C. For the purpose of Clauses A and B above, the Core Hours for 
applications for each premises use type as defined within this policy 
are:  
 
1. Casinos 
Up to 24 hours a day whilst casino gaming is permitted 
by a premises licence under the Gambling Act 2005. 
 
2. Cinemas, Cultural Venues and Live Sporting Premises 
Monday to Sunday: 9am to Midnight. 
 
3. Delivery Centres 
Monday to Saturday: 8am to 11pm. 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 
 
 
 page 7



4. Hotels 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. 
Friday and Saturday: 9am to Midnight. 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight. 
For the sale of alcohol to guests for consumption in 
hotel/guest rooms only: Anytime up to 24 hours. 
 
5. Outdoor Spaces 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. 
Friday and Saturday: 9am to Midnight. 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight. 
 
6. Pubs and bars, Fast Food and Music and Dance venues 
Monday to Thursday: 10am to 11.30pm. 
Friday and Saturday: 10am to Midnight. 
Sunday: Midday to 10.30pm. 
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: Midday to Midnight. 
 
7. Qualifying Clubs 
Monday to Thursday 9am to 11.30pm 
Friday and Saturday 9am to Midnight 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm 
Sunday immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight. 
 
8. Restaurants 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. 
Friday and Saturday: 9am to Midnight. 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight. 
 
9. Sexual Entertainment Venues and Sex Cinemas 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. 
Friday and Saturday: 9am to Midnight. 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight. 
 
10a. Shops (all licensable activities that are provided as 
ancillary to the primary use of the premises as a shop except 
the off sale of alcohol) 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. 
Friday and Saturday: 9am to Midnight. 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight. 
 
10b. Shops (off-sales of alcohol where it forms either the 
ancillary or primary use of the premises) 
Monday to Saturday: 8am to 11pm. 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 
 
D. Core hours are when customers are permitted to be on 
the premises and therefore the maximum opening hours 

permitted will be to the same start and terminal hours for 
each of the days where licensable activity is permitted. 
 
E. For the purposes of this policy, ‘premises uses’ are defined within 
the relevant premises use policies within this statement. 
 page 8



Note: The core hours are for all licensable activities but if an 
application includes late night refreshment then the starting time for 
that licensable activity will be 11pm. 
 

 
Policy MD1 (A) applies 

 
A. Applications outside the West End Cumulative Zone will 

generally be granted subject to: 
 
1. The application meeting the requirements of policies CD1, PS1, 

PN1 and CH1. 
2. The hours for licensable activities being within the council’s Core 

Hours Policy HRS1. 
3. The operation of any delivery services for alcohol and/or late-

night refreshment meeting the council’s Ancillary Delivery of 
Alcohol and/or Late-Night Refreshment Policy DEL1 

4. The applicant has taken account of the Special Consideration 
Zone Policy SCZ1 if the premises are located within a designated 
zone. 

5. The application and operation of the venue meet the definition of 
a music and dance premises or similar entertainment in Clause 
D. 

 
B.  It is the Licensing Authority’s policy to refuse applications 

within the West End Cumulative Impact Zone other than: 

 
1. Applications to vary the existing licence hours within 

 the council’s Core Hours Policy HRS1, and/or, 

 
2. Applications that seek to vary the existing licence so as 

 to reduce the overall capacity of the premises. 

 
C. The applications referred to in Clause B1 and B2 will 

generally be  granted subject to: 

 
1. The application meeting the requirements of policies CD1, PS1,  

PN1 and CH1. 
2. The operation of any delivery services for alcohol and/or late-night 
    refreshment meeting the Council’s Ancillary Delivery of Alcohol  

and/or Late-Night Refreshment Policy DEL1. 
3. The application and operation of the venue continuing to meet 

the definition of a music and dance premises in Clause D. 

 
D. For the purposes of this policy a music and dance premises 
is defined as a premises whereby the primary purpose of the 
venue is to: 
1. Provide regulated entertainment in the form of music, either in the 

form of live performances or recorded, to customers. 
2. Provide regulated entertainment in the form of music, either as 

live performances or recorded, and provide facilities for the 
provision of dance. 

3. The sale by retail of alcohol may be provided as either a 
considerable element of the operation of the premises or ancillary 
to the provision of regulated entertainment. 

a. Examples of venues that would fall within this policy are 
night clubs or bars that provide music and dancing. 

b. De-regulated entertainment (as set out in the glossary will 
not be subject to this policy). 

 
page 9



 
4.         Equality Implications 
 

The Council in its capacity as Licensing Authority has a duty to have regard to  
its public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In  
summary, section 149 provides that a Public Authority must, in the exercise of  
its functions, have due regard to the need to:  

 
(a) eliminate discrimination harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under this Act;  
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share it.  

Section 149 (7) of the Equality Act 2010 defines the relevant protected characteristics as 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

 

 
5. Appendices 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Premises plans 

Appendix 2 
 

Applicant supporting documents  

Appendix 3 
 

Premises licence and Premises history 
 

Appendix 4 
 

Proposed conditions 

Appendix 5 Residential map and list of premises in the vicinity 
 

 

Report author: Miss Roxsana Haq 
Senior Licensing Officer 

Contact: Telephone: 020 7641 6500 
Email: jdonovan@westminster.gov.uk 
 

 

If you have any queries about this report or wish to inspect one of the background 
papers please contact the report author. 
 

Background Documents – Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 
 

1 Licensing Act 2003 N/A 
 

2 City of Westminster Statement of Licensing  
Policy  

01 October 2021 

3 Amended Guidance issued under section 182 of  
the Licensing Act 2003  

April 2018 

4 Metropolitan Police Service  06 September 2021 

5 Environmental Health Service 13 September 2021 

 
 

 
 
 

page 10



Premises Plans         Appendix 1 
 

 
 

page 11



 
 

page 12



 
 
 
 

page 13



 
Applicant Supporting Documents        Appendix 2 
 
There are no submissions from the applicant. 
 

 

page 14



Existing premises licence         Appendix 3 
 

 

City of 
Westminster 

64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP 

Schedule 12 
Part A 

WARD: St James's 
UPRN: 010033541003 

Premises licence 

 
Regulation 33, 34 

 
 
Premises licence number: 
 

 
21/00725/LIPCH 

 

Original Reference:  
 

 

05/10670/LIPN 

 
Part 1 – Premises details 
 

Postal address of premises: 
 
Reign 
215 - 217 Piccadilly 
London 
W1J 9HN 
 

Telephone Number: Not Supplied 

 

Where the licence is time limited, the dates: 
 
Not applicable 
 

 

Licensable activities authorised by the licence: 
 
Performance of Dance 
Performance of Live Music 
Playing of Recorded Music 
Anything of a similar description to Live Music, Recorded Music or Performance of Dance 
Late Night Refreshment 
Sale by Retail of Alcohol 
 

 

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities: 
 
Performance of Dance 
 Monday to Sunday:                           10:00 to 04:00  
 
Performance of Live Music 
 Monday to Sunday:                            10:00 to 03:00  
 
Playing of Recorded Music 
 Monday to Sunday:                            10:00 to 04:00  
 
Anything of a similar description to Live Music, Recorded Music or Performance of Dance 
 Monday to Sunday:                             10:00 to 04:00  
 
Late Night Refreshment 
 Monday to Sunday:                              23:00 to 04:00  
 
Sale by Retail of Alcohol 
 Monday to Sunday:                              10:00 to 03:00  
 

 

page 15



The opening hours of the premises: 
 
Monday to Sunday: 09:00 to 04:00 
 

 

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol, whether these are on and/or off supplies: 
 
Alcohol is supplied for consumption on the Premises. 
 

 
Part 2 
 

Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of 
premises licence: 
 
Strongarm Holdings Limited 
43A Chesterton Road,  
London,  
England,  
W10 6ES 
C/o LT Law, 18 Soho Square, London, W1D 3QL 
 

 

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where 
applicable) 
 
10552484 
 

 

Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the 
premises licence authorises the supply of alcohol: 
 
Name:                                 Asher Grant 
                                                     
Please note: It is the policy of the Licensing Authority not to display the address details of a 
designated premises supervisor. 
 

 

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated 
premises supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol: 
                                      
Licence Number: LICPL/17/207287 
Licensing Authority: The Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea  
 

 
Date:   03 February 2021 
 
This licence has been authorised by Michelle Steward  
on behalf of the  Director - Public Protection and Licensing. 

page 16



Annex 1 – Mandatory conditions 
 
1. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in 

respect of this licence. 
 
2. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor does not 

hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended. 
 
3. Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who holds a 

personal licence. 
 
4.          (1)  The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out, 

arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises. 
 

(2)  In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following 
activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the 
sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises— 

 
(a)  games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require or 

encourage, individuals to; 
 

(i)  drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or 
supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in which the 
responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or 

(ii)  drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise); 
 

(b)  provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted 
fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a manner which 
carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 

 
(c)  provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or 

reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a 
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 

 
(d)  selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in the 

vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or 
glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable 
manner; 

 
 (e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where 

that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of a disability). 
 
5.  The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to customers 

where it is reasonably available. 
 
6.          (1)  The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age 

verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of 
alcohol. 

 
(2)  The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that 

the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification 
policy. 

 

(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 

years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, 

before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and 

either— 

 (a)  a holographic mark, or 

 (b)  an ultraviolet feature. 

 
7.  The responsible person must ensure that— 

page 17



(a)  where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the 

premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance 

ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the 

following measures— 

  (i)  beer or cider: ½ pint;  

(ii)  gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and 

   (iii)  still wine in a glass: 125 ml; 

 
(b)  these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which is 

available to customers on the premises; and 
 
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol 

to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available. 
 
A responsible person in relation to a licensed premises means the holder of the premise licence in 
respect of the premises, the designated premises supervisor (if any) or any individual aged 18 or over 
who is authorised by either the licence holder or designated premises supervisor.  For premises with a 
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a capacity that 
which enables him to prevent the supply of alcohol. 
 
8(i) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the 

premises for a price which is less than the permitted price. 
 
8(ii) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 8(i) above - 
 

(a)  "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979; 
 

(b)  "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula - 
 

P = D+(DxV) 
 

Where - 
  

(i) P is the permitted price, 
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty     were 

charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and 
(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the 

value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol; 
 

(c)  "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 
premises licence - 

   
(i)  the holder of the premises licence, 
(ii)  the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or 
(iii)  the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of    alcohol under 

such a licence; 
 

(d)   "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a 
capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and 

 
(e)  "value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added 

Tax Act 1994. 
 
8(iii). Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above would (apart from this paragraph) 

not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall be taken to be the 
price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny. 

 
8(iv).     (1)  Sub-paragraph 8(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph 

8(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the permitted price on the 
next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax. 

page 18



(2)  The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of 
alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the 
second day. 

 
 
9.  All persons guarding premises against unauthorised access or occupation or against outbreaks 

of disorder or against damage (door supervisors) must be licensed by the Security Industry 
Authority. 

page 19



Annex 2 – Conditions consistent with the operating Schedule 
 
 
None 

page 20



Annex 3 – Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority 
 
10.  From 21:00 until 30 minutes after close of business, a minimum of 2 SIA licensed door staff to be 

stationed at the entrance on Piccadilly whose tasks will include:  
 

o Reminding customers that this is a residential area and to respect the needs of neighbours  
o To maintain an orderly queue where necessary  
o To ask customers leaving the premises to do so quickly and quietly.  

 
11.  No noise shall emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of 

the premises which gives rise to a nuisance.  
 
12. The number of persons accommodated at any one time (excluding staff) shall not exceed the 

following: Mezzanine- 140 persons; Basement Auditorium - 300 persons. Maximum capacity of 
400 persons on the premises at any one time. A minimum of 50 seats will be provided in the 
mezzanine area and a minimum of 250 seats will be provided in the basement auditorium. 

 
13.  A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV system shall 

be on the premises at all times when the premises is open. This staff member must be able to 
provide a Police or authorised council officer copies of recent CCTV images or data with the 
absolute minimum of delay when requested.  

 
14.  An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available on request to an authorised 

officer of the City Council or the Police. It must be completed within 24 hours of the incident and 
will record the following:  

 
 (a) all crimes reported to the venue  
 (b) all ejections of patrons  
 (c) any complaints received concerning crime and disorder  
 (d) any incidents of disorder  
 (e) all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons  
 (f) any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment  
 (g) any refusal of the sale of alcohol  
 (h) any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service.  
 
15.  The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as per the minimum 

requirements of the Westminster Police Licensing Team. All entry and exit points will be covered 
enabling frontal identification of every person entering in any light condition. The CCTV system 
shall continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable activities and during all times 
when customers remain on the premises. All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 
31 days with date and time stamping. Viewing of recordings shall be made available immediately 
upon the request of Police or authorised officer throughout the preceding 31 day period.  

 
16.  After 23.00hrs all security employed at the premises shall wear high viz jackets or tabards.  
 
17.  Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises, e.g. to smoke, shall not be 

permitted to take drinks or glass containers with them. 
 
18.  In the event that a serious assault is committed on the premises (or appears to have been 

committed) the management will immediately ensure that: (a) The Police (and where appropriate, 
the London Ambulance Service) are called without delay, using emergency telephone number 
999; (b) All measures that are reasonably practicable are taken to apprehend any suspects 
pending the arrival of the Police; (c) As is reasonably practicable, the crime scene is preserved so 
as to enable a full forensic investigation to be carried out by the Police; and (d) Such other 
measures are taken (as appropriate) to fully protect the safety of all persons present on the 
premises." 'Serious assault' includes (but is not limited to) any assault in which emergency 
medical treatment is required and any assault in which a weapon is used.  

 
19.  No children under the age of 16 shall be permitted on the premises after 21:00 hours.  
 
20.  No children under the age of 14 shall be admitted on the premises.  
 
21.  There shall be no striptease or nudity, and all persons shall be decently attired at all times, except 

when the premises are operating under the authority of a Sexual Entertainment Venue licence.  
 page 21



22.  The highway in the vicinity of the premises shall be swept at regular intervals and also at the 
close of business. Litter and sweepings collected shall be stored in accordance with the approved 
refuse storage arrangement.  

 
23. No unauthorised advertisements of any kind shall be inscribed or affixed upon the surface of the 

highway, or upon any building, structure, works, street furniture, tree or any other property, or is 
distributed to the public, that advertises or promotes the establishment, its premises or any of its 
events, facilities, goods and services. 

  
24.  No payment shall be made by or on behalf of the premises for distribution of flyers or tickets 

within public areas in the Licensing District of Westminster.  
 
25.  A daily log is to be maintained to ensure that any capacity limit set for the various floors and the 

overall capacity of the premises is recorded hourly and can be properly monitored. Information 
regarding the capacity will be given to an authorised officer or Police Officer on request. 

 
26.  Alcohol may not be sold or supplied to persons admitted after 23:00 other than to:  
 
 (a) Persons taking a table meal; or  

(b)  Persons who have paid a minimum admission fee of at least £20 for     performance 
based entertainment (not to be credited against consumables)  

(c)  Persons who have paid a minimum annual membership fee of at least £450 payable in 
advance for music, dancing and entertainment (not to be credited against consumables) 
and up to a maximum of 4 bona fide guests. A list of all people who have paid an annual 
membership fee and their guests will be held at reception for inspection by relevant 
authority; or  

(d)  Persons given free membership and their bona fide guests where there  has been an 
interval of at least 48 hours between application for membership. A list of all persons who 
have free membership will be held at reception for inspection by the relevant authority; or  

 (e)  Persons who are bona fide guests of the license holder or management, a  
 list of whom shall be kept at reception for inspection by the relevant  
 authorities; or  
 (f)  Artistes and persons employed by the premises; or  
 (g)  persons attending at private function; the function organiser's name and   
 address to be kept at reception for inspection by the relevant authorities.  
 
27.  Substantial food and non-intoxicating beverages, including water, shall be available throughout 

the permitted hours in all parts of the premises where intoxicating liquor is sold and supplied for 
consumption on the premises. 

 
28.  The sale and consumption of alcohol must be ancillary to the use of the premises for patrons 

attending performance based entertainment.  
 
29.  No payment shall be made by or on behalf of the licensees to any persons bringing customers 

into the premises.  
 
30.  A noise limiter located in a separate and remote lockable cabinet from the volume control must 

be fitted to the musical amplification system set at a level  
determined by and to the satisfaction of an authorised officer of the Environmental Health 
Service's Community Protection Department so as to ensure that no noise nuisance is caused to 
local residents or businesses. The operational panel of the noise limiter shall then be secured to 
the satisfaction of officers from the Environmental Health Service. The keys securing the noise 
limiter cabinet shall be held by the applicant only, and shall not be accessed by any other person. 
The limiter shall not be altered without prior agreement with the Environmental Health Service. 

 
31.  No alteration or modification to any existing sound system(s) should be effected without prior 

knowledge of an authorised Officer of the Environmental Health Service.  
 
32.  Any additional sound generating equipment shall not be used on the premises without being 

routed through the sound limiter device.  
 
33.  All entrance doors to be kept closed except for people's immediate access and egress.  
 
34.  No speakers shall be located in the entrance area. 
 page 22



35.  All refuse will be paid, properly presented and placed on the street 30 minutes before any agreed 
collection time. Every endeavour will be made to prevent refuse being left on the street for more 
than 2.5 hours.  

 
36. No bottles will be moved, removed or placed in outside areas between 23:00 and 08:00.  
 
37. No persons shall give at the premises any exhibition, demonstration or performance of 

hypnotism, mesmerism or any similar act or process which produces or is intended to produce in 
any other person any form of induced sleep or trance in which susceptibility of the mind of that 
person to suggestion or direction is increased or intended to be increased.  

 
NOTE: This rule does not apply to exhibitions given under the provisions of Section 2(1A) and 5 
of the Hypnotism Act 1952.  

 
38.  The approved arrangements at the premises, including means of escape provisions, fire warning 

and fire fighting equipment, the electrical installation and mechanical equipment, shall at all 
material times be maintained in good condition and full working order. 

 
39.  The certificates listed below shall be submitted to the Licensing Authority annually:  
 
 (a) Any emergency lighting battery or system  
 (b) Any electrical installation  
 (c) Any fire alarm system.  
 
40.  The means of escape provided for the premises shall be maintained unobstructed, free of trip 

hazards, be immediately available and clearly identified in accordance with the plans provided. 
 
41.  All exit doors shall be available at all times without the use of a key, code, card or similar means.  
 
42.  All fire doors shall be maintained effectively self-closing and not half open other than by an 

approved device.  
 
43.  Fire doors to ducts, service shafts and cupboards shall be kept locked shut. 
  
44.  The edges of the treads and steps and stairways shall be maintained so as to be conspicuous.  
 
45.  Only hanging, curtains, upholstery and temporary decorations, complying with the relevant British 

Standard shall be used. Where necessary these shall be periodically tested for flame resistance 
and re-treated as necessary. 

  
46. Curtains and hangings shall be arranged so as not to obstruct fire safety signs, fire extinguishers 

or other fire fighting equipment.  
 
47.  Staff with specific responsibilities in the vent of fire or other emergency, together with deputies, 

shall receive training and written instruction appropriate to their role. 
  
48.  Any special effects or mechanical installations shall be arranged and sorted so as to minimise 

any risk to the safety of those using the premises. The following special effects will only be used 
on 10 days prior notice being given to the Licensing Authority where consent has not previously 
been given: 

 
 - dry ice and cryogenic fog  
 - smoke machines and generators  
 - pyrotechnics and fog generators  
 - firearms  
 - lasers  
 - explosives and highly flammable substances  
 - real flame  
 - strobe lighting. 
 
49.  Flashing or particularly bright lights on or outside the premises will not be permitted to cause a 

nuisance to nearby properties (save insofar as they are necessary for the prevention or crime).  
 
50.  After 21:00, at least one Personal License Holder shall be on duty on the premises while alcohol 

is being sold or supplied.  page 23



 
51.  A minimum of two SIA staff shall be deployed with Body Worn Video, capable  

of recording audio and video in any light condition. All recordings shall be stored for a minimum 
period of 31 days with date and time stamping. Viewing of recordings shall be made available 
immediately upon the request of Police or authorised officer throughout the preceding 31-day 
period. 

 
52.  There shall be an electronic search arch installed at the premises and every patron entering or 

re-entering the premises when in use under this licence (including from the smoking area) shall 
pass through the search arch with searching supplemented by the use of two functional metal 
detecting wands. Patrons shall be searched by an SIA-trained member of staff and monitored 
and recorded by the premises CCTV system. 

 
53  (a) All customers entering the premises shall have their ID scanned on entry, save for when a 

biometric scanning system is in place (when fingerprint scanning will be required for all customers 
who have previously shown identification at the premises). The details recorded shall include a 
live facial image capture of the customer and capture the photographic identification produced. 
The details recorded by the ID scanner system shall be made available to the Police and the 
local authority upon request.  

 
(b) The above requirement (a) is subject to the following exception, namely that a maximum 
number of 20 guests per night may be admitted at the Managers discretion without necessarily 
being ID scanned and recorded. A legible record (the Signing in Sheet) of these guests' names 
shall be retained on the premises for inspection by the licensing authority and Police for a period 
of 31 days. The name of manager authorising the admission will also be recorded by that 
manager. Guests shall be required to produce some form of ID such as a bank card (or emailed 
electronic photo I D) and an ID scan entry with a live photo shall be created.  

 
(c)Notwithstanding (a) and (b) above, patrons who are attending a pre-booked corporate event at 
the premises do not need to have their ID scanned on entry and instead a written guest list shall 
be held at reception for the event, and will be retained for 28 days after the event for inspection 
by the police and responsible authorities upon request. 

 
54. All drinking containers used within the premises shall be polycarbonate. All glass bottles to be 

decanted into polycarbonate glassware or polycarbonate glassware carafes, with the exception of 
champagne and bottles of spirits of a minimum size of 70cl, supplied by waiter/waitress service to 
tables. Staff will clear all empty champagne and spirit bottles from the tables promptly. Customers 
will not be permitted to self-serve or remove bottles from the tables. Customers will not be 
permitted to drink directly from champagne or spirit bottles.  

 
Notwithstanding this condition, with the written agreement of the Westminster Police Licensing 
Team, a copy of which will be held at the premises reception, glass drinking vessels may be used 
for private or pre-booked events within the lounge/club area.  

 
55.  There shall be no entry or re-entry (excluding persons from the smoking area) to the premises 

after 02:30 or such time as agreed in writing by the Westminster Police Licensing Unit (and a 
copy of any agreement to be held at reception). 

 
56.  Risk reduction training inclusive of crime scene preservation shall be carried out by 2 February 

2017 and refresher training every 6 months thereafter.  
 
57.  A minimum of one SIA licensed door supervisor to thirty-five customers shall be on duty at the 

premises whenever it is open for business.  
 
58.  Impartial unannounced compliance visits shall take place at the premises on a monthly basis. A 

written record of each visit shall be kept at the premises and produced for immediate inspection 
by a police officer or authorised officer of the licensing authority. 

  
59.  The premises shall provide a cloakroom and all coats and outdoor jackets shall be placed in the 

cloakroom by handing them to an attendant who shall be constantly on duty at the cloakroom 
during the whole time that the premises are open. 

  
60.  There shall be live, real-time CCTV monitoring of the premises at all times the premises is open 

for business except when the premises is being used exclusively for a private pre-booked event.  
 page 24



61.  There shall be a dedicated search captain employed at the premises to supervise the searching 
of customers at all times when the premises are open. 

 
62.  a.  No licensable activities shall take place on lower level 2 (basement auditorium) and in the 

toilet area and DJ booth on lower level 1 (mezzanine) of the premises until these areas of the 
premises have been assessed as satisfactory by the Environmental Health Consultation Team at 
which time this condition shall be removed from the Licence by the licensing authority. 

 
b.  No licensable activities shall take place in the trading room/bar on lower level 1 (mezzanine) of 
the premises until this area of the premises has been assessed as satisfactory by the 
Environmental Health Consultation Team at which time this condition shall be removed from the 
Licence by the licensing authority.  

 
c.  Prior to the licence taking effect, the plans as deposited will be checked by the Environmental 
Health Consultation Team to ensure they are accurate reflection of the premises constructed. 
Where the premises layout has changed during the course of construction new plans shall be 
provided to the LFEPA, Environmental Health Consultation Team, the Police and the Licensing 
Authority.  

 
 

page 25



Annex 4 – Plans 
 
 

page 26



  

 

City of 
Westminster 

64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP 

Schedule 12 
Part B 

WARD: St James's 
UPRN: 010033541003 

Premises licence 
summary 

 
Regulation 33, 34 

 
 

 
Premises licence number: 
 

 
21/00725/LIPCH 

 
 
Part 1 – Premises details 
 

Postal address of premises: 
 

Reign 
215 - 217 Piccadilly 
London 
W1J 9HN 
 

Telephone Number: Not Supplied 

 
 

Where the licence is time limited, the dates: 
 
Not applicable 
 

 

Licensable activities authorised by the licence: 
 
Performance of Dance 
Performance of Live Music 
Playing of Recorded Music 
Anything of a similar description to Live Music, Recorded Music or Performance of Dance 
Late Night Refreshment 
Sale by Retail of Alcohol 
 

 

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities: 
 
Performance of Dance 
 Monday to Sunday:                            10:00 to 04:00  
 
Performance of Live Music 
 Monday to Sunday:                             10:00 to 03:00  
 
Playing of Recorded Music 
 Monday to Sunday:                              10:00 to 04:00  
 
Anything of a similar description to Live Music, Recorded Music or Performance of Dance 
 Monday to Sunday:                              10:00 to 04:00  
 
Late Night Refreshment 
 Monday to Sunday:                               23:00 to 04:00  
 
Sale by Retail of Alcohol 
 Monday to Sunday:                               10:00 to 03:00  
 

 

page 27



 

The opening hours of the premises: 
 
Monday to Sunday:                                              09:00 to 04:00 
 

 

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol, whether these are on and/or off supplies: 
 
Alcohol is supplied for consumption on the Premises. 
 

 

Name and (registered) address of holder of premises licence: 
 
Strongarm Holdings Limited 
43A Chesterton Road,  
London,  
England,  
W10 6ES 
C/o LT Law, 18 Soho Square, London, W1D 3QL 
 

 

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where 
applicable) 
 
10552484 
 

 

Name of designated premises supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the 
supply of alcohol: 
 
Name:                      Asher Grant 
 

 

State whether access to the premises by children is restricted or prohibited: 
 
Restricted 
 

 
Date:   03 February 2021 
 
 
This licence has been authorised by Michelle Steward  
on behalf of the Director - Public Protection and Licensing.   
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

page 28



 
 

Licence & Appeal History  
 
 

 
Application 
 

 
Details of Application 

 
Date Determined 

 
Decision 

05/10670/LIPN New licence application 03.04.2006 Granted in part by 
Licensing Sub-
Committee 

07/00127/WCCMAP Master licence 10.01.2006 Granted by Licensing 
Sub-Committee 

11/03826/LIPT Transfer Application 24.05.2011 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

11/03830/LIPDPS Application to Vary the 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor 

24.05.2011 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

11/03834/LIPVM Minor Variation: 
1)  Remove conditions 13, 
14, 23, 29, 36, 44, 45, 46 
and 47.  The removal of 
these conditions has been 
suggested by the 
Environmental Health 
Service and will not impact 
on the four licensing 
objectives.   
2).  Modify conditions 
below:  12 - Replace with 
Westminster Model 
Condition MC12, 15 - 
Replace with Westminster 
Model Conditions MC01, 17 
3).  Alter the layout of the 
Premises. 
 

17.05.2011 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

12/06828/LIIAN Interim Authority application 06.11.2012 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

14/01997/LIPT Transfer Application 11.03.2014 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

14/02281/LIPDPS Application to Vary the 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor 

08.04.2014 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

14/03174/LIPT Transfer Application 18.06.2014 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

page 29



14/05370/LIPVM Minor Variation: 
To regularise the position 
vis a vis the licence and the 
plans attached. 
  

07.07.2014 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

14/11474/LIPT Transfer Application 10.02.2015 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

16/08335/LIPT Transfer Application 
. 

04.01.2017 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

16/08340/LIPDPS Application to Vary the 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor 

04.01.2017 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

16/12870/LIPVM Minor Variation: 
Add additional Model 
conditions agreed and 
requested by Westminster 
Police Licensing.  
-MC02  
-MC01 
-MC49 
-MC87 
-MC92 
 
After 23.00hrs all persons 
entering or re-entering the 
premises shall be searched 
by an SIA-trained member 
of staff and monitored and 
recorded by the premises 
CCTV system. The 
searching will be 
supplemented by the use of 
two functional metal 
detecting wands. 
 
After 23.00hrs all security 
employed at the premises 
shall wear high viz jackets 
or tabards. 
 

04.01.2017 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

17/04952/LIPT Transfer Application 
 

21.06.2017 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

17/05371/LIPDPS Application to Vary the 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor 

21.06.2017 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

17/06549/LIPV Full Variation: 
To amended conditions 12, 
53, and 55 attached to the 
Licence.  
 
To amend the plans. 

24.08.2017 Granted in part by 
Licensing Sub-
Committee 

page 30



17/11198/LIPV Full Variation: 
To vary the conditions on 
the premises licence as 
follows: 
 
There shall be no entry or 
re-entry (excluding persons 
from the smoking area) to 
the premises after 00:30 or 
such time as agreed in 
writing by the Westminster 
Police Licensing Unit (and a 
copy of any agreement to 
be held at reception) 
 
To read: 
 
There shall be no entry or 
re-entry (excluding persons 
from the smoking area) to 
the premises after 01:30 or 
such time as agreed in 
writing by the Westminster 
Police Licensing Unit (and a 
copy of any agreement to 
be held at reception) 
 

07.12.2017 Granted by Licensing 
Sub-Committee 

18/00047/LIPDPS Application to Vary the 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor 

16.01.2018 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

18/04798/LIPV Variation application: 13.09.2018 Granted by Licensing 
Sub-Committee 

20/11440/LIPDPS Application to Vary the 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor 

07.01.2021 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

21/00725/LIPCH Application to update 
Licensee details 

03.02.2021 Granted Under 
Delegated Authority 

 

page 31



 

 
Application 
 

 
Details of Application 

 
Date Determined 

 
Decision 

21/10215/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

30.09.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/10214/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

30.09.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/10213/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

30.09.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/10211/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

30.09.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/10210/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

30.09.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/09818/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

24.09.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/08519/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

10.09.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/08080/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

29.08.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/08081/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

25.08.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/07633/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

12.08.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/07632/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

12.08.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/07399/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

29.07.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/07397/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

29.07.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/07398/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

06.08.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

page 32



21/06570/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

08.07.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

21/06568/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

08.07.2021 Event allowed to 
proceed 

20/01699/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

14.02.2020 Event allowed to 
proceed 

19/16370/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

11.12.2019 Event allowed to 
proceed 

18/14727/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

02.01.2019 Event allowed to 
proceed 

18/10350/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

11.09.2018 Event allowed to 
proceed 

18/09364/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

30.08.2018 Event allowed to 
proceed 

18/04805/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

30.05.2018 Event allowed to 
proceed 

18/04804/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

28.05.2018 Event allowed to 
proceed 

18/03705/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

12.04.2018 Event allowed to 
proceed 

 
There is no appeal history 

page 33



Appendix 4 
 

CONDITIONS CONSISTENT WITH THE OPERATING SCHEDULE AND CONDITIONS 
PROPOSED BY A PARTY TO THE HEARING  
 
 
When determining an application for a new premises licence under the provisions of the 
Licensing Act 2003, the licensing authority must, unless it decides to reject the application, grant 
the licence subject to the conditions which are indicated as mandatory in this schedule. 
 
At a hearing the licensing authority may, in addition, and having regard to any representations 
received, grant the licence subject to such conditions which are consistent with the operating 
schedule submitted by the applicant as part of their application, or alter or omit these conditions, 
or add any new condition to such extent as the licensing authority considers appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
This schedule lists those conditions which are consistent with the operating schedule, or 
proposed as appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives by a responsible authority 
or an interested party as indicated. These conditions have not been submitted by the licensing 
service but reflect the positions of the applicant, responsible authority or interested party and 
have not necessarily been agreed 
 
Conditions: On Current Licence -  
 
Mandatory: 
 
1. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in 

respect of this licence. 
 
2. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor does not 

hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended. 
 
3. Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who holds a 

personal licence. 
 
4.          (1)  The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out, 

arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises. 
 

(2)  In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following 
activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the 
sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises— 

 
(a)  games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require or 

encourage, individuals to; 
 

(i)  drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or 
supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in which the 
responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or 

(ii)  drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise); 
 

(b)  provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted 
fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a manner which 
carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 

 
(c)  provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or 

reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a 
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 

 
(d)  selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in the 

vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or 
glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable 
manner; 

page 34



 
 (e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where 

that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of a disability). 
 
5.  The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to customers 

where it is reasonably available. 
 
6.          (1)  The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age 

verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of 
alcohol. 

 
(2)  The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that 

the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification 
policy. 

 

(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 

years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, 

before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and 

either— 

 (a)  a holographic mark, or 

 (b)  an ultraviolet feature. 

 
7.  The responsible person must ensure that— 

(a)  where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the 

premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance 

ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the 

following measures— 

  (i)  beer or cider: ½ pint;  

(ii)  gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and 

   (iii)  still wine in a glass: 125 ml; 

 
(b)  these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which is 

available to customers on the premises; and 
 
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol 

to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available. 
 
A responsible person in relation to a licensed premises means the holder of the premise licence in 
respect of the premises, the designated premises supervisor (if any) or any individual aged 18 or over 
who is authorised by either the licence holder or designated premises supervisor.  For premises with a 
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a capacity that 
which enables him to prevent the supply of alcohol. 
 
8(i) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the 

premises for a price which is less than the permitted price. 
 
8(ii) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 8(i) above - 
 

(a)  "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979; 
 

(b)  "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula - 
 

P = D+(DxV) 
 

Where - 
  

(i) P is the permitted price, 

page 35



(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty     were 
charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and 

(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the 
value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol; 

 
(c)  "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 

premises licence - 
   

(i)  the holder of the premises licence, 
(ii)  the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or 
(iii)  the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of    alcohol under 

such a licence; 
 

(d)   "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a 
capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and 

 
(e)  "value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added 

Tax Act 1994. 
 
8(iii). Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above would (apart from this paragraph) 

not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall be taken to be the 
price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny. 

 
8(iv).     (1)  Sub-paragraph 8(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph 

8(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the permitted price on the 
next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax. 

(2)  The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of 
alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the 
second day. 

 
 
9.  All persons guarding premises against unauthorised access or occupation or against outbreaks 

of disorder or against damage (door supervisors) must be licensed by the Security Industry 
Authority. 

 
 
Annex 2 – Conditions consistent with the operating Schedule 
 
None 
 
Annex 3 – Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority 
 
10.  From 21:00 until 30 minutes after close of business, a minimum of 2 SIA licensed door staff to be 

stationed at the entrance on Piccadilly whose tasks will include:  
 

• Reminding customers that this is a residential area and to respect the needs of neighbours  

• To maintain an orderly queue where necessary  

• To ask customers leaving the premises to do so quickly and quietly.  
 
11.  No noise shall emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of 

the premises which gives rise to a nuisance.  
 
12. The number of persons accommodated at any one time (excluding staff) shall not exceed the 

following: Mezzanine- 140 persons; Basement Auditorium - 300 persons. Maximum capacity of 
400 persons on the premises at any one time. A minimum of 50 seats will be provided in the 
mezzanine area and a minimum of 250 seats will be provided in the basement auditorium. 

 
13.  A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV system shall 

be on the premises at all times when the premises is open. This staff member must be able to 
provide a Police or authorised council officer copies of recent CCTV images or data with the 
absolute minimum of delay when requested.  

 

page 36



14.  An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available on request to an authorised 
officer of the City Council or the Police. It must be completed within 24 hours of the incident and 
will record the following:  

 
 (a) all crimes reported to the venue  
 (b) all ejections of patrons  
 (c) any complaints received concerning crime and disorder  
 (d) any incidents of disorder  
 (e) all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons  
 (f) any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment  
 (g) any refusal of the sale of alcohol  
 (h) any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service.  
 
15.  The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as per the minimum 

requirements of the Westminster Police Licensing Team. All entry and exit points will be covered 
enabling frontal identification of every person entering in any light condition. The CCTV system 
shall continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable activities and during all times 
when customers remain on the premises. All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 
31 days with date and time stamping. Viewing of recordings shall be made available immediately 
upon the request of Police or authorised officer throughout the preceding 31 day period.  

 
16.  After 23.00hrs all security employed at the premises shall wear high viz jackets or tabards.  
 
17.  Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises, e.g. to smoke, shall not be 

permitted to take drinks or glass containers with them. 
 
18.  In the event that a serious assault is committed on the premises (or appears to have been 

committed) the management will immediately ensure that: (a) The Police (and where appropriate, 
the London Ambulance Service) are called without delay, using emergency telephone number 
999; (b) All measures that are reasonably practicable are taken to apprehend any suspects 
pending the arrival of the Police; (c) As is reasonably practicable, the crime scene is preserved so 
as to enable a full forensic investigation to be carried out by the Police; and (d) Such other 
measures are taken (as appropriate) to fully protect the safety of all persons present on the 
premises." 'Serious assault' includes (but is not limited to) any assault in which emergency 
medical treatment is required and any assault in which a weapon is used.  

 
19.  No children under the age of 16 shall be permitted on the premises after 21:00 hours.  
 
20.  No children under the age of 14 shall be admitted on the premises.  
 
21.  There shall be no striptease or nudity, and all persons shall be decently attired at all times, except 

when the premises are operating under the authority of a Sexual Entertainment Venue licence.  
 
22.  The highway in the vicinity of the premises shall be swept at regular intervals and also at the 

close of business. Litter and sweepings collected shall be stored in accordance with the approved 
refuse storage arrangement.  

 
23. No unauthorised advertisements of any kind shall be inscribed or affixed upon the surface of the 

highway, or upon any building, structure, works, street furniture, tree or any other property, or is 
distributed to the public, that advertises or promotes the establishment, its premises or any of its 
events, facilities, goods and services. 

  
24.  No payment shall be made by or on behalf of the premises for distribution of flyers or tickets 

within public areas in the Licensing District of Westminster.  
 
25.  A daily log is to be maintained to ensure that any capacity limit set for the various floors and the 

overall capacity of the premises is recorded hourly and can be properly monitored. Information 
regarding the capacity will be given to an authorised officer or Police Officer on request. 

 
26.  Alcohol may not be sold or supplied to persons admitted after 23:00 other than to:  
 
 (a) Persons taking a table meal; or  

(b)  Persons who have paid a minimum admission fee of at least £20 for performance based 
entertainment (not to be credited against consumables)  

page 37



(c)  Persons who have paid a minimum annual membership fee of at least £450 payable in 
advance for music, dancing and entertainment (not to be credited against consumables) 
and up to a maximum of 4 bona fide guests. A list of all people who have paid an annual 
membership fee and their guests will be held at reception for inspection by relevant 
authority; or  

(d) Persons given free membership and their bona fide guests where there  has been an 
interval of at least 48 hours between application for membership. A list of all persons who 
have free membership will be held at reception for inspection by the relevant authority; or  

 (e) Persons who are bona fide guests of the license holder or management, a  
  list of whom shall be kept at reception for inspection by the relevant  
  authorities; or  
 (f)  Artistes and persons employed by the premises; or  
 (g)  persons attending at private function; the function organiser's name and   
  address to be kept at reception for inspection by the relevant authorities.  
 
27.  Substantial food and non-intoxicating beverages, including water, shall be available throughout 

the permitted hours in all parts of the premises where intoxicating liquor is sold and supplied for 
consumption on the premises. 

 
28.  The sale and consumption of alcohol must be ancillary to the use of the premises for patrons 

attending performance based entertainment.  
 
29.  No payment shall be made by or on behalf of the licensees to any persons bringing customers 

into the premises.  
 
30.  A noise limiter located in a separate and remote lockable cabinet from the volume control must 

be fitted to the musical amplification system set at a level  
determined by and to the satisfaction of an authorised officer of the Environmental Health 
Service's Community Protection Department so as to ensure that no noise nuisance is caused to 
local residents or businesses. The operational panel of the noise limiter shall then be secured to 
the satisfaction of officers from the Environmental Health Service. The keys securing the noise 
limiter cabinet shall be held by the applicant only, and shall not be accessed by any other person. 
The limiter shall not be altered without prior agreement with the Environmental Health Service. 

 
31.  No alteration or modification to any existing sound system(s) should be effected without prior 

knowledge of an authorised Officer of the Environmental Health Service.  
 
32.  Any additional sound generating equipment shall not be used on the premises without being 

routed through the sound limiter device.  
 
33.  All entrance doors to be kept closed except for people's immediate access and egress.  
 
34.  No speakers shall be located in the entrance area. 
 
35.  All refuse will be paid, properly presented and placed on the street 30 minutes before any agreed 

collection time. Every endeavour will be made to prevent refuse being left on the street for more 
than 2.5 hours.  

 
36. No bottles will be moved, removed or placed in outside areas between 23:00 and 08:00.  
 
37. No persons shall give at the premises any exhibition, demonstration or performance of 

hypnotism, mesmerism or any similar act or process which produces or is intended to produce in 
any other person any form of induced sleep or trance in which susceptibility of the mind of that 
person to suggestion or direction is increased or intended to be increased.  

 
NOTE: This rule does not apply to exhibitions given under the provisions of Section 2(1A) and 5 
of the Hypnotism Act 1952.  

 
38.  The approved arrangements at the premises, including means of escape provisions, fire warning 

and fire fighting equipment, the electrical installation and mechanical equipment, shall at all 
material times be maintained in good condition and full working order. 

 
39.  The certificates listed below shall be submitted to the Licensing Authority annually:  
 
 (a) Any emergency lighting battery or system  page 38



 (b) Any electrical installation  
 (c) Any fire alarm system.  
 
40.  The means of escape provided for the premises shall be maintained unobstructed, free of trip 

hazards, be immediately available and clearly identified in accordance with the plans provided. 
 
41.  All exit doors shall be available at all times without the use of a key, code, card or similar means.  
 
42.  All fire doors shall be maintained effectively self-closing and not half open other than by an 

approved device.  
 
43.  Fire doors to ducts, service shafts and cupboards shall be kept locked shut. 
  
44.  The edges of the treads and steps and stairways shall be maintained so as to be conspicuous.  
 
45.  Only hanging, curtains, upholstery and temporary decorations, complying with the relevant British 

Standard shall be used. Where necessary these shall be periodically tested for flame resistance 
and re-treated as necessary. 

  
46. Curtains and hangings shall be arranged so as not to obstruct fire safety signs, fire extinguishers 

or other fire fighting equipment.  
 
47.  Staff with specific responsibilities in the vent of fire or other emergency, together with deputies, 

shall receive training and written instruction appropriate to their role. 
  
48.  Any special effects or mechanical installations shall be arranged and sorted so as to minimise 

any risk to the safety of those using the premises. The following special effects will only be used 
on 10 days prior notice being given to the Licensing Authority where consent has not previously 
been given: 

 
 - dry ice and cryogenic fog  
 - smoke machines and generators  
 - pyrotechnics and fog generators  
 - firearms  
 - lasers  
 - explosives and highly flammable substances  
 - real flame  
 - strobe lighting. 
 
49.  Flashing or particularly bright lights on or outside the premises will not be permitted to cause a 

nuisance to nearby properties (save insofar as they are necessary for the prevention or crime).  
 
50.  After 21:00, at least one Personal License Holder shall be on duty on the premises while alcohol 

is being sold or supplied.  
 
51.  A minimum of two SIA staff shall be deployed with Body Worn Video, capable  

of recording audio and video in any light condition. All recordings shall be stored for a minimum 
period of 31 days with date and time stamping. Viewing of recordings shall be made available 
immediately upon the request of Police or authorised officer throughout the preceding 31-day 
period. 

 
52.  There shall be an electronic search arch installed at the premises and every patron entering or 

re-entering the premises when in use under this licence (including from the smoking area) shall 
pass through the search arch with searching supplemented by the use of two functional metal 
detecting wands. Patrons shall be searched by an SIA-trained member of staff and monitored 
and recorded by the premises CCTV system. 

 
53  (a) All customers entering the premises shall have their ID scanned on entry, save for when a 

biometric scanning system is in place (when fingerprint scanning will be required for all customers 
who have previously shown identification at the premises). The details recorded shall include a 
live facial image capture of the customer and capture the photographic identification produced. 
The details recorded by the ID scanner system shall be made available to the Police and the 
local authority upon request.  

 

page 39



(b) The above requirement (a) is subject to the following exception, namely that a maximum 
number of 20 guests per night may be admitted at the Managers discretion without necessarily 
being ID scanned and recorded. A legible record (the Signing in Sheet) of these guests' names 
shall be retained on the premises for inspection by the licensing authority and Police for a period 
of 31 days. The name of manager authorising the admission will also be recorded by that 
manager. Guests shall be required to produce some form of ID such as a bank card (or emailed 
electronic photo I D) and an ID scan entry with a live photo shall be created.  

 
(c)Notwithstanding (a) and (b) above, patrons who are attending a pre-booked corporate event at 
the premises do not need to have their ID scanned on entry and instead a written guest list shall 
be held at reception for the event, and will be retained for 28 days after the event for inspection 
by the police and responsible authorities upon request. 

 
54. All drinking containers used within the premises shall be polycarbonate. All glass bottles to be 

decanted into polycarbonate glassware or polycarbonate glassware carafes, with the exception of 
champagne and bottles of spirits of a minimum size of 70cl, supplied by waiter/waitress service to 
tables. Staff will clear all empty champagne and spirit bottles from the tables promptly. Customers 
will not be permitted to self-serve or remove bottles from the tables. Customers will not be 
permitted to drink directly from champagne or spirit bottles.  

 
Notwithstanding this condition, with the written agreement of the Westminster Police Licensing 
Team, a copy of which will be held at the premises reception, glass drinking vessels may be used 
for private or pre-booked events within the lounge/club area.  

 
55.  There shall be no entry or re-entry (excluding persons from the smoking area) to the premises 

after 02:30 or such time as agreed in writing by the Westminster Police Licensing Unit (and a 
copy of any agreement to be held at reception). 

 
 Condition 55 is proposed to be suspended for a period of 2 years. 
 
56.  Risk reduction training inclusive of crime scene preservation shall be carried out by 2 February 

2017 and refresher training every 6 months thereafter.  
 
57.  A minimum of one SIA licensed door supervisor to thirty-five customers shall be on duty at the 

premises whenever it is open for business.  
 
58.  Impartial unannounced compliance visits shall take place at the premises on a monthly basis. A 

written record of each visit shall be kept at the premises and produced for immediate inspection 
by a police officer or authorised officer of the licensing authority. 

  
59.  The premises shall provide a cloakroom and all coats and outdoor jackets shall be placed in the 

cloakroom by handing them to an attendant who shall be constantly on duty at the cloakroom 
during the whole time that the premises are open. 

  
60.  There shall be live, real-time CCTV monitoring of the premises at all times the premises is open 

for business except when the premises is being used exclusively for a private pre-booked event.  
 
61.  There shall be a dedicated search captain employed at the premises to supervise the searching 

of customers at all times when the premises are open. 
 
62.  a.  No licensable activities shall take place on lower level 2 (basement auditorium) and in the 

toilet area and DJ booth on lower level 1 (mezzanine) of the premises until these areas of the 
premises have been assessed as satisfactory by the Environmental Health Consultation Team at 
which time this condition shall be removed from the Licence by the licensing authority. 

 
b.  No licensable activities shall take place in the trading room/bar on lower level 1 (mezzanine) of 
the premises until this area of the premises has been assessed as satisfactory by the 
Environmental Health Consultation Team at which time this condition shall be removed from the 
Licence by the licensing authority.  

 
c.  Prior to the licence taking effect, the plans as deposited will be checked by the Environmental 
Health Consultation Team to ensure they are accurate reflection of the premises constructed. 
Where the premises layout has changed during the course of construction new plans shall be 
provided to the LFEPA, Environmental Health Consultation Team, the Police and the Licensing 
Authority.  page 40



 
 
Conditions proposed to be added by the applicant. 
 
63.  A copy of the premises dispersal policy shall be made readily available at the premises 
 for inspection by a police officer and/or an authorised officer of Westminster City 
 Council. 
 
64.  On Saturday trade there shall be a designated welfare officer appointed separate to SIA 
 functions to monitor the behaviour and conduct of patrons within the premises and on 
 dispersal. 
 
65.  The variation of hours under ref: xxxx shall be permitted for a limited period of 2 years 
 only until (insert date) 
 
66.  a)  On Sundays to Fridays there shall be no entry or re-entry excluding persons from 
  the smoking area to the premises after 0230 or such time as agreed in writing by 
  the Westminster Police Licensing Unit and a copy of any agreement to be held at 
  reception 
 
 b)  On Saturdays there shall be no entry or re-entry excluding persons from the 
  smoking area to the premises after 0400 or such time as agreed in writing by the 
  Westminster Police Licensing Unit and a copy of any agreement to be held at 
  reception. This condition shall be in force for a limited period of 2 years only until 
  (insert date) 
 
67. Condition 55 shall be suspended for 2 years only until (insert date). 
 
 
Conditions proposed by the Metropolitan Police Service and agreed with the applicant so 
as to form part of the operating schedule. 
 
None. 
 
Conditions proposed by the Environmental Health Service and agreed with the applicant 
so as to form part of the operating schedule. 
 
None. 
 
 
 

 

page 41



Residential Map and List of Premises in the Vicinity    Appendix 5 
 

 
 
Resident count: 43 
 

Licensed premises within 75 Metres of Reign, 215 - 217 Piccadilly London W1J 9HN 

Licence Number Trading Name Address 
Premises 
Type Time Period 

17/01259/LIPVM 
Shadow 
Licence 

215 - 217 
Piccadilly 
London W1J 
9HN 

Night clubs 
and discos 

Sunday; 09:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 09:00 - 
04:00 

17/06314/LIPT Le Pigalle 

215 - 217 
Piccadilly 
London W1J 
9HN 

Night clubs 
and discos 

Sunday; 09:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 09:00 - 
04:00 

21/00725/LIPCH Reign 

215 - 217 
Piccadilly 
London W1J 
9HN 

Night clubs 
and discos 

Monday to Sunday; 
09:00 - 04:00 

page 42



18/03717/LIPVM 
San Carlo 
Cicchetti 

215 Piccadilly 
London W1J 
9HL Restaurant 

Sunday; 08:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 08:00 - 
00:30 

20/08512/LIPT Pizza Hut 

29 - 31 Regent 
Street London 
SW1Y 4NQ Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:30 

19/09064/LIPN 
Shadow 
Licence 

1 Piccadilly 
Circus London 
W1J 0TR Not Recorded 

Sunday; 07:00 - 
01:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 07:00 - 
03:30 | Sundays 
before Bank 
Holidays; 07:00 - 
01:30 

21/04887/LIPDPS 
Getti 
Restaurant 

Ground Floor 
16-17 Jermyn 
Street London 
SW1Y 6EE Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 - 
23:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
23:30 

12/07165/LIPN 
Jermyn Street 
Theatre 

Basement 16B 
Jermyn Street 
London SW1Y 
6ST Theatre 

Friday; 13:00 - 23:00 | 
Saturday to 
Thursday; 13:00 - 
22:00 

20/05168/LIPN Asia Collective 

55 Regent 
Street London 
W1B 4DY Food court 

Sunday; 10:00 - 
22:30 | Monday to 
Thursday; 07:00 - 
00:00 | Friday to 
Saturday; 07:00 - 
01:00 

21/06883/LIPCH 
Criterion 
Theatre 

2 Jermyn 
Street London 
SW1Y 4XA Theatre 

Friday to Saturday; 
09:00 - 02:00 | 
Sunday to Thursday; 
09:00 - 00:00 

21/07894/LIPT 
Granaio 
Piccadilly 

224 Piccadilly 
London W1J 
9HP Restaurant 

Monday; 10:00 - 
05:00 | Tuesday; 
10:00 - 05:00 | 
Wednesday; 10:00 - 
05:00 | Thursday; 
10:00 - 05:00 | Friday; 
10:00 - 05:00 | 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
05:00 | Sunday; 12:00 
- 05:00 

page 43



19/00952/LIPDPS Vue Cinema 

The Plaza 
Cinema 19 
Regent Street 
London SW1Y 
4LR Cinema 

Monday to Sunday; 
00:00 - 00:00 

21/12224/LIPDPS Tesco Metro 

Ground Floor 
The Plaza 17 - 
25 Regent 
Street London 
SW1Y 4LR Shop (large) 

Sunday; 10:00 - 
22:30 | Monday to 
Saturday; 08:00 - 
23:00 

20/12037/LIPDPS Rowleys 

113 Jermyn 
Street London 
SW1Y 6HJ Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:30 

 

page 44



            
  
 
 
 
 

Item No:   

   

Date:  13 January 2022 

   

Licensing Ref No:  21/08577/LIPN - New Premises Licence 

   

Title of Report:  50 Westbourne Grove 
London 
W2 5SH 

   

Report of:  Director of Public Protection and Licensing 

   

Wards involved:  Bayswater 

   

Policy context:  City of Westminster Statement of Licensing Policy  
 

   

Financial summary:  None 

   

Report Author:  Karyn Abbott 
Senior Licensing Officer 

   

Contact details  Telephone: 0207 641 6500 
Email: kabbott@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
Report 

page 45

Agenda Item 2.



 
1. Application 

 

1-A Applicant and premises 
 

Application Type: New Premises Licence, Licensing Act 2003 
 

Application received 
date: 

26 August 2021 

Applicant: Minhoco 61 Limited 

Premises: The Residency 

Premises address: 50 Westbourne Grove 
London 
W2 5SH 
 

Ward: 
 

Bayswater 

Cumulative 
Impact Area: 

None 

 Special 
Consideration 
Zone: 

Queensway/Bayswater 

Premises description: 
 

According to the application form, the premises proposes to 
operate as a restaurant.  

Premises licence 
history: 
 

The premises previously had the benefit of a premises licence 
(19/11431/LIPDPS) which was granted in September 2005 and 
lapsed in November 2020, details can be found at Appendix 3. 

Applicant submissions: The applicant has provided submissions addressing the relevant 
spatial policies which can be found at Appendix 2. 

Applicant amendments: On original submission of the application, the applicant applied for 
the following. 
 
Recorded Music 
Monday to Saturday 10:00 to 00:30 
Sunday 12:00 to 00:00 
 
Late Night Refreshment 
Monday to Saturday 23:00 to 00:30 
Sunday 23:00 to 00:00 
 
Retail Sale of Alcohol  
Monday to Saturday 10:00 to 00:00 
Sunday 12:00 to 23:30 
 
Opening Hours 
Monday to Sunday 10:00 to 00:30 
Sunday 12:00 to 00:00 
 
These hours have since been amended and are reflected in 
section 1-B of the report. 

 

1-B Proposed licensable activities and hours 
 

Recorded Music: Indoors, outdoors or both Indoors 
 

Day: Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun 
 

Start: 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 12:00 

End: 23:00 23:00 23:00 23:00 23:30 23:30 22:30 

Seasonal variations/ Non- Sundays immediately prior to bank holiday 23:30 

page 46



standard timings:  

 

Late Night Refreshment: Indoors, outdoors or both Both 
 

Day: Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun 
 

Start: 23:00 23:00 23:00 23:00 23:00 23:00 N/A 

End: 23:30 23:30 23:30 23:30 00:00 00:00 N/A 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

Sundays immediately prior to bank holiday 23:00 to 23:30 
 

 

Sale by retail of alcohol On or off sales or both: 
 

Both 

Day: Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun 
 

Start: 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 12:00 

End: 23:00 23:00 23:00 23:00 23:30 23:30 22:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

Sundays immediately prior to bank holiday 23:00 
 

 

Hours premises are open to the public 
 

Day: Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun 
 

Start: 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 12:00 

End: 23:30 23:30 23:30 23:30 00:00 00:00 22:30 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

Sundays immediately prior to bank holiday 12:00 to 23:30 
 

Adult Entertainment:  None 
 

 
2. Representations 

 

2-A Responsible Authorities 
 

Responsible 
Authority: 

Metropolitan Police Service 

Representative:  PC Reaz Guerra 

Received:  
 

20 September 2021 (Withdrawn 14 December 2021) 

With reference to the above applications, I am writing to inform you that the Metropolitan Police, 
as a Responsible Authority, are objecting to this application as it is our belief that if granted the 
application would undermine the Licensing Objectives.  
There is insufficient detail contained within the operating schedule to promote the licensing 
objectives.  
The hours sought exceed Westminsters Core Hours Policy.  
It is for these reasons that we object to this application. 
 
The Metropolitan Police Service withdrew their representation due to conditions agreed 
by the Environmental Health Service. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 47



Responsible 
Authority: 

Environmental Health Service 

Representative: Ian Watson 
 

Received: 
 

23 September 2021 

I refer to the application for a New Premises Licence. 

The premises are located within the Queensway/Bayswater Special Consideration Zone 
as stated in the City of Westminster’s Statement of Licensing Policy. 

The applicant has submitted floor plans of the premises. 

This representation is based on the plans and operating schedule submitted. 

The applicant is seeking the following 

1. To provide for the Supply of Alcohol ‘On’ and ‘Off’ the premises Monday to Saturday 
between 10.00 and 00.00 hours and Sunday between 12.00 to 23.30 hours. 

2. To provide Late Night Refreshment ‘Indoors’ and ‘Outdoors’ Monday to Saturday between 
23.00 and 00.30 hours and Sunday between 23.00 to 00.00 hours. 

3. To provide regulated entertainment ‘Indoors’ comprising 

• Recorded Music 
Monday to Saturday between 10.00 and 00.30 hours and Sunday between 12.00 to 00.00 
hours. 

 
I wish to make the following representation 

1. The hours requested for the Supply of Alcohol will have the likely effect of causing an 
increase in Public Nuisance within the QB SCZ. 

2. The hours requested to permit the provision of late-night refreshment will have the likely 
effect of causing an increase in Public Nuisance and impact on Public Safety within the QB 
SCZ. 

3. The hours requested to permit the provision of regulated entertainment will have the likely 
effect of causing an increase in Public Nuisance and impact on Public Safety within the QB 
SCZ. 

The applicant has provided additional information with the application which is being addressed. 

Should you wish to discuss the matter further please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Conditions have been agreed between the applicant and Environmental Health. These 
conditions can be found at Appendix 5. 

 

2-B Other Persons 
 

Name:  

Address and/or Residents Association:  
 
  

Received:  
 

28 August 2021 

Opening hours for the serving of alcohol until after midnight for both on site consumption and 
takeaway are totally unsuitable for a residential area. This will only attract drunkards from far 
and wide with noise, garbage and foul behaviour to the detriment of residents. 
 
Opening hours should be limited to 10:00 during weekdays and and Saturday and 10:00 pm on 
Sundays to discourage anti-social behaviour. 
 

page 48



Name:  

Address and/or Residents Association:  
 

  
 

  
  

Received:  
 

20 September 2021 

The welcome this new restaurant 
operator to Westbourne Grove and wish them every success. 

We note on Premises Licence application most of standard restaurant conditions have been 
offered in the application.  

However we object to application as there are few additional conditions required in order to 
prevent any public nuisance or potential crime and disorder in Westbourne Grove / Queensway 
and the surrounding area.  

No alcohol to be allowed to be taken off premises in open vessels, except to those seated if any 
taking a table meal. 

On 'Off Sales', we request our usual condition due to anti social drinking issues in Queensway 
and Westbourne Grove area and surrounding area, that there will be no 'off sales' of beer or 
cider over 5.5% APV, unless premium brand in bottles or cans. 

No sales of food or alcohol from the premises after 23.00 with Sunday after 22.30. 

In this particular location opposite Kensington Gardens Square and along Westbourne Grove 
and Queensway we have numerous, well documented, continual problems with delivery drivers 
with scooters etc all day but particularly in the evenings and weekends.  

Standard condition required that entrance doors and windows to be kept closed after 21.00, 
accept for customers entering or leaving. 

We also request condition that all Refuse and Recycling collections not to take place between 
midnight 00.00 and 0800, on order to protect residential amenity of flats above and opposite.  

We note that applicant has applied for Westminster Council 'Core Hours' for sale of alcohol and 
Late Night Refreshment but has also applied for 30 minutes 'drinking up' time and we object to 
these hours as we wish to protect residential amenity and potential crime and disorder in the 
Westbourne Grove and the surrounding area. 

We object to this 30 minute extension after Westminster standard 'Core Hours' as there are a 
substantial number of residential units in Westbourne Grove and surrounding area. 

We are content for our above representation and contact details to be forwarded to applicant 
and agent.  

As always,  is more than happy to discuss the matters above and we have already 
made initial contact with the applicant. 

We trust we can reach agreement with the applicant on our amendments, so as hopefully to 
avoid application having to go to a Licensing hearing for determination. 

page 49



Conditions have been agreed between the applicant and . These conditions can 
be found at Appendix 5. 

 Name:  

Address and/or Residents Association:  
 
  

Received:  
 

23 September 2021 

I presume the opening terms are identical to the previous licence but I would be grateful if the 
Council would check. 
I see that the premises will be altered to allow fire doors to the back yard and the garden 
removed and more seating added. The fire doors may be opened for ventilation and I object to 
them. The back door is not supposed to be kept open during opening hours but this often 
happens already especially during summer. The back "room" is at present a garden and the 
previous planning for these premises should be checked.  
The licence allows for seating outside when there is none. This should be deleted as the 
licences premises in case the back yard is used for eating in due course. It should be a 
condition that the yard is not used. 
The previous tenant quite often emptied bottles or stored them in the back yard, causing noise 
at midnight and waking us up. please pay attention to this 

 
3. Policy & Guidance 

 

The following policies within the City Of Westminster Statement of Licensing Policy apply: 
 

Policy SCZ1 applies A. In addition to meeting the other policies within this statement, 
applications within a designated Special Consideration Zone should 
demonstrate that they have taken account of the issues particular 
to the Zone, in question as identified within the 2020 Cumulative 
Impact Assessment, and should set out any proposed mitigation 
measures in relation to those issues within their operating schedule. 
B. For the purpose of Clause A, the designated 
Special Consideration Zones are: 
• West End Buffer. 
• Queensway/Bayswater. 
• Edgware Road. 
• East Covent Garden. 
• Mayfair. 
• Victoria. 

Policy HRS1 applies A. Applications within the core hours set out below in this policy will 
generally be granted for the relevant premises uses, subject to not 
being contrary to other policies in the Statement of Licensing Policy. 
B. Applications for hours outside the core hours set out in Clause 
C will be considered on their merits, subject to other relevant 
policies, and with particular regard to the following: 
1. The demonstration of compliance in the requirements of policies 
CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1 associated with the likelihood of the effect 
of the grant of a licence for later or earlier hours on crime and 
disorder, public safety, public nuisance and the protection of children 
from harm. 
2. If the application is located within a Special Consideration Zone 
they have demonstrated that they have taken account of the 
issues identified in that area and provided adequate mitigation. 
3. Whether there is residential accommodation in the proximity of 
the premises that would likely be adversely affected by premises 
being open or carrying out operations at the hours proposed. 

page 50



4. The proposed hours of the licensable activities and when 
customers will be permitted to remain on the premises. 
5. The proposed hours when any music, including incidental music, 
will be played. 
6. The hours when customers will be allowed to take food or drink 
outside the premises or be within open areas which form part of the 
premises. 
7. The existing hours of licensable activities and the past operation 
of the premises (if any) and hours of licensable premises in the 
vicinity. 
8. Whether customers and staff have adequate access to public 
transport when arriving at and leaving the premises, especially at 
night. 
9. The capacity of the premises. 
10. The type of use, recognising that some venues are more likely to 
impact the licensing objectives than others; for example, pubs 
and bars are higher risk than theatres, cinemas and other cultural 
and sporting venues due to the nature of the operation. 
11. The Licensing Authority will take into account the active 
measures proposed for a ‘winding down’ period including 
arrangements for people to be collected from the premises to travel 
home safely. 
12. Conditions on hours may be attached that require that the supply 
of alcohol for consumption on the premises ceases a suitable period 
of time before customers are required to leave the premises. 
13. The council, acting as the Licensing Authority, may reduce hours 
if, after review, it is necessary to impose conditions specifying 
shorter hours in order to promote the licensing objectives. 
14. Specific days for non-standard hours should be identified and 
justified as part of the application to allow responsible authorities 
and interested parties to evaluate the impact that these licensable 
activities may have, and to plan accordingly. The consideration of 
applications for later hours for Bank Holiday Mondays will take into 
account that later hours are generally granted for preceding 
Sundays and that the next day is a working day. Non-specific days 
are expected to be covered by Temporary Event Notices or variation 
applications. 
C. For the purpose of Clauses A and B above, the Core Hours for 
applications for each premises use type as defined within this policy 
are: 

8. Restaurants 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm.  
Friday and Saturday: 9am to 12am.  
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm.  
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to 12am. 
D. Core hours are when customers are permitted to be on the 
premises and therefore the maximum opening hours permitted will 
be to the same start and terminal hours for each of the days where 
licensable activity is permitted.                                                           
E. For the purposes of this policy, ‘premises uses’ are defined within 
the relevant premises use policies within this statement. 

Policy RNT1 applies A. Applications outside the West End Cumulative Impact Zone will 
generally be granted subject to: 
1. The application meeting the requirements of policies CD1, PS1, 
PN1 and CH1. 
2. The hours for licensable activities being within the council’s Core 

page 51



Hours Policy HRS1. 
3. The operation of any delivery services for alcohol and/or latenight 
refreshment meeting the council’s Ancillary Delivery 
of Alcohol and/or Late-Night Refreshment Policy DEL1. 
4. The applicant has taken account of the Special Consideration 
Zones Policy SCZ1 if the premises are located within a designated 
zone. 
5. The application and operation of the venue meeting the definition 
of a restaurant as per Clause C. 
B. Applications inside the West End Cumulative Impact Zone will 
generally be granted subject to: 
1. The application meeting the requirements of policies CD1, PS1, 
PN1 and CH1. 
2. The hours for licensable activities are within the council’s Core 
Hours Policy HRS1. 
3. The operation of any delivery services for alcohol and/or latenight 
refreshment meeting the council’s Ancillary Delivery of Alcohol 
and/or Late-Night Refreshment Policy DEL1. 
4. The applicant has demonstrated that they will not add to 
cumulative impact within the Cumulative Impact Zone. 
5. The application and operation of the venue meeting the definition 
of a restaurant as per Clause C. 
C. For the purposes of this policy a restaurant is defined as: 
1. A premises in which customers are shown to their table or the 
customer will select a table themselves to which food is either 
served to them or they have collected themselves. 
2. Which provide food in the form of substantial table meals that are 
prepared on the premises and are served and consumed at a table. 
3. Which do not provide any takeaway service of food and/or drink 
for immediate consumption, except if provided via an ancillary 
delivery service to customers at their residential or workplace 
address. 
4. Where alcohol shall not be sold, supplied, or consumed on the 
premises otherwise than to persons who are bona fide taking 
substantial table meals and provided always that the consumption 
of alcohol by such persons is ancillary to taking such meals.  
5. The sale and consumption of alcohol prior to such meals may be 
in a bar area but must also be ancillary to the taking of such meal. 

 
4.         Equality Implications 
 

The Council in its capacity as Licensing Authority has a duty to have regard to  
its public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In  
summary, section 149 provides that a Public Authority must, in the exercise of  
its functions, have due regard to the need to:  

 
(a) eliminate discrimination harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under this Act;  
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share it.  

Section 149 (7) of the Equality Act 2010 defines the relevant protected characteristics as 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

 
 

page 52



5. Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 
 

Premises plans 

Appendix 2 
 

Applicant supporting documents  

Appendix 3 Lapsed Premises Licence (19/11431/LIPDPS) 
 

Appendix 4 
 

Premises history 
 

Appendix 5 
 

Proposed conditions 

Appendix 6 Residential map and list of premises in the vicinity 
 

 

Report author: Karyn Abbott 
Senior Licensing Officer 

Contact: Telephone: 0207 647 6500 
Email: kabbott@westminster.gov.uk 

 

If you have any queries about this report or wish to inspect one of the background 
papers please contact the report author. 
 

Background Documents – Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 
 

1 Licensing Act 2003 N/A 
 

2 City of Westminster Statement of Licensing  
Policy  

October 2021 

3 Amended Guidance issued under section 182 of  
the Licensing Act 2003  

April 2018 

4 Metropolitan Police Service 20th September 2021 

5 Environmental Health Service 23rd September 2021 

6 Representation 1 28th August 2021 

7 Representation 2 20th September 2021 

8 Representation 3 23rd September 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 53



 
Premises Plans          Appendix 1 

 

 

page 54



 
Applicant Supporting Documents        Appendix 2 

 

 
 

page 55



 

 
 

page 56



 
 
Lapsed Premises Licence (19/11431/LIPDPS)     Appendix 3 
 

 
 

page 57



 

 
 
 
 

page 58



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

page 59



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

page 60



 
 
 
 
 

page 61



 
 
 

page 62



 
 
 

 
 
 

page 63



 

 
 
 
 

page 64



 
 
 

 
 

page 65



 

 
 
 
 
 

page 66



 
 
 
 
 

page 67



 
Premises History         Appendix 4 

 
Licensing Act 2003  

Application Details of Application Date Determined Decision 

05/09622/LIPC Premises Licence 
Conversion 

26 September 
2005 

Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

07/00966/LIPDPS Premises Licence 
Change of DPS 

13 February 2007 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

07/11035/LIPDPS Premises Licence 
Change of DPS 

6 February 2008 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

06/11847/WCCMAP Master Licence  
Recorded Music – 
Unrestricted 
 
Late Night 
Refreshment - 
Monday to Saturday 
23:00 to 00:30 
Sunday 23:00 to 00:00 
 
Private Entertainment 
– Unrestricted 
 
Sale by Retail of 
Alcohol - 
Monday to Saturday 
10:00 to 00:00 
Sunday 12:00 to 23:30 

6 February 2008 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

08/06145/LIPDPS Premises Licence 
Change of DPS 

19 August 2008 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

10/06489/LIPDPS Premises Licence 
Change of DPS 

15 September 
2010 

Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

11/06952/LIPDPS Premises Licence 
Change of DPS 

15 August 2011 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

13/01818/LIPDPS Premises Licence 
Change of DPS 

8 May 2013 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

16/01601/LIPDPS Premises Licence 
Change of DPS 

24 February 2016 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

17/14070/LIPDPS Premises Licence 
Change of DPS 

27 March 2018 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

18/12824/LIPT Transfer Premises 
Licence Holder from 
Gourmet Burger 
Kitchen Limited to Gbk 
Restaurant Ltd 

7 November 2018 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

19/06760/LIPDPS Premises Licence 
Change of DPS 

26 June 2019 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

19/10418/LIPDPS Premises Licence 
Change of DPS 

3 September 2019 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

19/11431/LIPDPS Premises Licence 
Change of DPS 

7 October 2019 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

 
**Licence Lapsed in November 2020* 
 
There is no TEN’s or appeal history. 

page 68



 
 

Appendix 5 
 
CONDITIONS CONSISTENT WITH THE OPERATING SCHEDULE AND CONDITIONS 
PROPOSED BY A PARTY TO THE HEARING  
 
When determining an application for a new premises licence under the provisions of the 
Licensing Act 2003, the licensing authority must, unless it decides to reject the application, grant 
the licence subject to the conditions which are indicated as mandatory in this schedule. 
 
At a hearing the licensing authority may, in addition, and having regard to any representations 
received, grant the licence subject to such conditions which are consistent with the operating 
schedule submitted by the applicant as part of their application, or alter or omit these conditions, 
or add any new condition to such extent as the licensing authority considers necessary for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
This schedule lists those conditions which are consistent with the operating schedule, or 
proposed as necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives by a responsible authority 
or an interested party as indicated. These conditions have not been submitted by the licensing 
service but reflect the positions of the applicant, responsible authority or interested party and 
have not necessarily been agreed 
 
Mandatory Conditions 
 
1. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises 

supervisor in respect of this licence. 
 
2. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor 

does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended. 
 
3. Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who 

holds a personal licence. 
 
4.          (1)  The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry 

out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the 
premises. 

 
(2)  In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the 

following activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of 
encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises— 

 
(a)  games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require 

or encourage, individuals to; 
 

(i)  drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol 
sold or supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in 
which the responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or 

(ii)  drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or 
otherwise); 

 
(b)  provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or 

discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in 
a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 

 
(c)  provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage 

or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or 

page 69



less in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing 
objective; 

 
(d)  selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, 

or in the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to 
condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects 
of drunkenness in any favourable manner; 

 
 (e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than 

where that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of a 
disability). 

 
5.  The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to 

customers where it is reasonably available. 
 
6.          (1)  The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that 

an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the 
sale or supply of alcohol. 

 
(2)  The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must 

ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with 
the age verification policy. 

 

(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be 

under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to 

produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their 

photograph, date of birth and either— 

 (a)  a holographic mark, or 

 (b)  an ultraviolet feature. 

 
7.  The responsible person must ensure that— 

(a)  where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on 

the premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up 

in advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available 

to customers in the following measures— 

  (i)  beer or cider: ½ pint;  

(ii)  gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and 

   (iii)  still wine in a glass: 125 ml; 

 
(b)  these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material 

which is available to customers on the premises; and 
 
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of 

alcohol to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are 
available. 

 
A responsible person in relation to a licensed premises means the holder of the premise licence 
in respect of the premises, the designated premises supervisor (if any) or any individual aged 
18 or over who is authorised by either the licence holder or designated premises supervisor.  
For premises with a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the 
premises in a capacity that which enables him to prevent the supply of alcohol. 

page 70



 
8(i) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or 

off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price. 
 
8(ii) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 8(i) above - 
 

(a)  "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 
1979; 

 
(b)  "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula - 

 
P = D+(DxV) 

 
Where - 

  
(i) P is the permitted price, 
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty     

were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and 
(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if 

the value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the 
alcohol; 

 
(c)  "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in 

force a premises licence - 
   

(i)  the holder of the premises licence, 
(ii)  the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, 

or 
(iii)  the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of    

alcohol under such a licence; 
 

(d)   "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in 
force a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the 
premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply 
in question; and 

 
(e)  "value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value 

Added Tax Act 1994. 
 
8(iii). Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above would (apart from this 

paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph 
shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the 
nearest penny. 

 
8(iv).     (1)  Sub-paragraph 8(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by 

Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the 
permitted price on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the 
rate of duty or value added tax. 

(2)  The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or 
supplies of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days 
beginning on the second day. 

 
Conditions consistent with the operating schedule 
 
None 
 
 

page 71



 
Conditions proposed by the Environmental Health and agreed with the applicant to form 
part of the operating schedule.  
 
9. The supply of alcohol at the premises shall only be to a person seated taking a 

substantial table meal there and for consumption by such a person as ancillary to their 
meal. 

 

10. Substantial food and non-intoxicating beverages, including drinking water, shall be 

available in all parts of the premises where alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption 

on the premises. 

 

11. The supply of alcohol shall be by waiter or waitress service only. 

 
12. The premises shall be permanently laid to tables and chairs. 

 
13. The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as per the 

minimum requirements of the Westminster Police Licensing Team. All entry and exit 

points will be covered enabling frontal identification of every person entering in any light 

condition. The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for 

licensable activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises and 

will include the external area immediately outside the premises entrance. All recordings 

shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time stamping. Viewing of 

recordings shall be made available immediately upon the request of Police or authorised 

officer throughout the preceding 31 day period. 

 
14. A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV 

system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises are open. This staff 

member must be able to provide a Police or authorised council officer copies of recent 

CCTV images or data with the absolute minimum of delay when requested. 

 
15. A Challenge 21 or Challenge 25 scheme shall be operated at the premises where the 

only acceptable forms of identification are recognised photographic identification cards, 

such as driving licence, passport of proof of age card with the PASS Hologram. 

 

16. An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available on request to an 

authorised officer of the City Council or the Police, which will record the following: 

(a) all crimes reported to the venue 

(b) all ejections of patrons 

(c) any complaints received regarding crime disorder 

(d) any incidents of disorder 

(e) any faults in the CCTV system 

(f) any refusal of the sale of alcohol 

(g) any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service 

 
17. No noise generated on the premises, or by its associated plant or equipment, shall 

emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of the 

premises which gives rise to a nuisance. 

 

page 72



18. Notices shall be prominently displayed at all exits requesting patrons to respect the 

needs of the local residents and businesses and leave the area quietly. 

 
19. Notices shall be prominently displayed at any area used for smoking requesting patrons 

to respect the need of local residents and use the area quietly. 

 
20. Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises, e.g. to smoke, 

shall not be permitted to take drinks or glass containers with them. 

 
21. The pavement from the building line to the kerb edge immediately outside the premises, 

including gutter/channel; at its junction with the kerb edge, is swept and or washed and 

litter and sweepings collected and stored in accordance with the approved refuse 

storage arrangements. 

 
22. No deliveries to the premises shall take place between 23:00 and 08:00 hours on the 

following day. 

 
23. All waste if to be properly presented and placed out for collection no earlier than 30 

minutes before the scheduled collection times. 

 

24. The means of escape provided for the premises shall be maintained unobstructed, free 

of trip hazards, be immediately available and clearly identified in accordance with the 

plans provided. 

 
25. All emergency exit doors shall be available at all material times without the use of a key, 

code, card or similar means. 

 
26. All emergency doors shall be maintained effectively self-closing and not held open other 

than by an approved device. 

 

27. No licensable activities shall take place until the premises has been assessed as 

satisfactory by the Environmental Health Consultation Team at which time this condition 

shall be removed from the Licence by the licensing authority. 

 
28. No licensable activities shall take at the premises until the capacity of the premises has 

been determined by the Environmental Health Consultation Team and the licensing 

authority has replaced this condition on the licence with a condition detailing the capacity 

so determined. 

 
29. Before the premises open to the public, the plans as deposited will be checked by the 

Environmental Health Consultation Team to ensure they are an accurate reflection of the 

premises constructed. Where the premises layout has changed during the course of 

construction new plans shall be provided to the Environmental Health Consultation 

Team and the Licensing Authority. 

 
Conditions proposed by an Interested Party and agreed with the applicant to form part of 
the operating schedule.  

30. No alcohol to be allowed to be taken off premises in open vessels, except to those 
seated (if any) taking a table meal. Re-sealed vessels can be taken off the premises.   

page 73



 

31. There will be no 'off sales' of lager, beer, cider or perry over 5.5% ABV, with the 
exception of premium brands in bottles or cans.  

 
32. No sales of food or alcohol for takeaway from the premises after 23.00 Monday to 

Saturday and 22:30 on a Sunday, with the last order to be taken no later than 21:30. 
 
33. All external doors and windows to be kept closed after 21.00, except for access and 

egress. 
 

34. Refuse and Recycling collections will not to take place between 00.00 and 0800, in order 
to protect residential amenity of flats above and opposite.  
 

35. The premises will not empty their bins at the rear after 21:00. 
 
Conditions proposed by the Police 
 
None 

page 74



 
Residential Map and List of Premises in the Vicinity    Appendix 6 
 

 
 
Resident Count = 248 
 

Licensed premises within 75 metres of 50 Westbourne Crove, London 
 

Licence Number  Trading Name   Address  Premises 
Type  

 Time Period 

16/09366/LIPVM C & R Izakaya 52 Westbourne 
Grove London W2 
5SH 

Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:30 

08/07525/LIPN Alounak 44 Westbourne 
Grove London W2 
5SH 

Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 
23:30 | Monday to 
Saturday; 12:00 - 
00:00 

21/00125/LIPDPS Planet Organic Ground Floor 42 
Westbourne Grove 
London W2 5SH 

Shop Sunday; 10:00 - 
22:30 | Monday to 
Saturday; 08:00 - 
23:00 

07/02430/LIPDU Shakespeare 
Public House 

65 Westbourne 
Grove London W2 
4UJ 

Not Recorded Sunday; 11:30 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 09:00 - 
00:30 

18/13806/LIPDPS 65 65 Westbourne 
Grove London W2 
4UJ 

Public house 
or pub 
restaurant 

Sunday; 11:30 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 09:00 - 
00:30 

16/06297/LIPDPS Caspian 67 Westbourne Shop Sunday; 10:00 - 

page 75



Grove London W2 
4UJ 

22:30 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
23:00 

18/13774/LIPDPS W2 Express 62A Westbourne 
Grove London W2 
5SH 

Shop Sunday; 10:00 - 
22:30 | Monday to 
Saturday; 08:00 - 
23:00 

06/11478/WCCMAP Alwaha 75 Westbourne 
Grove London W2 
4UL 

Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:30 

19/02261/LIPDPS Nandos 63 Westbourne 
Grove London W2 
4UA 

Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 
23:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
23:30 

18/05640/LIPDPS Chojo Basement And 
Ground Floor 16 
Garway Road 
London W2 4NH 

Shop Sunday; 12:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:30 

19/12002/LIPN Not Recorded 59 Westbourne 
Grove London W2 
4UA 

Restaurant Sunday; 10:00 - 
22:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 11:00 - 
22:00 

20/06567/LIPT The American 
Diner 

57 Westbourne 
Grove London W2 
4UA 

Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
01:30 

17/01077/LIPN Sushi Shop 72 Westbourne 
Grove London W2 
5SH 

Restaurant Monday to Sunday; 
11:00 - 22:30 

 

page 76



            

 City of Westminster 

 

 

 
 

Item No:   
 

   

Date:  13 January 2022 

   

Licensing Ref No:  21/07775/LIGN - New Premises Licence 

   

Title of Report:  Silvertime  
32 Gerrard Street 
London 
W1D 6JA 

   

Report of:  Director of Public Protection and Licensing 

   

Wards involved:  St James’s 

   

Policy context:  City of Westminster statement of principles for gambling 
 

   

Financial summary:  None 

   

Report Author:  Jessica Donovan 
Senior Licensing Officer 

   

Contact details  Telephone: 0207 641 6500  
Email: Jessica Donovan@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
Report 

page 77

Agenda Item 3.



page 78



page 79



 
For the purposes of this application, it would be useful for the applicant to provide their definition 
of vulnerability and what it means to their operation.  
 
The Licensing Authority notes that this premises is situated within the busy “Chinatown” area 
with a large number of licensed premises in the immediate vicinity. The area is an attraction to 
vulnerable persons and in particular those with problems with gambling and/or alcohol or drug 
abuse problems.  The Licensing Authority note that there are 2 hostels within 250 metres of the 
premises catering for vulnerable people. Due to the premises location, the local area profile is 
something that should be considered when determining this application 
 
Given the close proximity of the above, the Licensing Authority is of the view that the premises 
fall within a “sensitive location”.  
 
Location and History of the Premises 
 
Gerrard Street is located within the busy “Chinatown” area of Central London which consists of 
predominantly commercial licensed premises and is a short distance Leicester Square. The 
premises are situated on the ground floor of 32 Gerrard Street. The building is a 4 storey 
building with offices above. Attached is a Google map search of the area. (attached at appendix 
A) 
 
After doing a 250 metre radius search of the premises the Licensing Authority has identified 
1369 residents and 63 licences under the Gambling Act 2005, this includes 5 betting shops, 3 
non-commercial society lotteries, 2 Adult Gaming Centres, 8 Casinos, 1 Bingo Hall and 44 
gaming machine permits. A further search on our GIS mapping has revealed 2 hostels and 5 
faith groups.  (attached at appendix B and C) 
 
The premises were previously licensed as a betting shop (Betfred) with a Betting Shop (Other) 
licence under the Gambling Act 2005 from October 2010.  The licence was surrendered in 
November 2020.  
 
Policy considerations 
 
Policy LOC1 of Westminster’s Statement of Licensing Principles for Gambling states that ‘a 
sensitive location is defined as any premises which is within close proximity or on a main route 
to a school, educational institution, hostel or other sensitive locations where there is the 
potential for exposing children, young people or other vulnerable persons to gambling’. The 
proposed location of this new adult gaming centre must be considered as part of this application 
due to the local area profile and its potential to impact upon the promotion of the 3 gambling 
objectives. 
 
Paragraph 27.1 of Westminster’s Statement of Licensing Principles for Gambling states ‘Adult 
gaming centres (AGCs) premises licences allow the holder of the licence to make gaming 
machines available for use on the premises. An AGC premises licence granted after the 13th 
July 2011 may make available for use a number of category B gaming machines not exceeding 
20% of the total number of gaming machines which are available for use on the premises and 
any number of category C or D machines’.  
 
Paragraph 27.2 goes on to state ‘Gaming machines are a form of gambling which is attractive to 
children and AGC’s will contain machines of a similar format to the Category D machines on 
which children are allowed to play. However, no-one under the age of 18 is permitted to enter 
an AGC and applicants must be aware of the location of and entry to AGC’s to minimise the 
opportunities for children to gain access’. 
 
The Licensing Authority notes that within the risk assessment it states that Signage & window 
display not to attract under 18s, and advise under 18’s access is prohibited.  

page 80



Can the applicant provide further submissions as to the placement of this signage in the 
windows to show its visibility from outside the premises and explain further what checks will be 
in place in terms of ID checks? Is it proposed for SIA door staff to be present and conduct these 
checks?   
 
Paragraph 27.3 states ‘Because gaming machines provide opportunities for solitary play and 
immediate payouts, they are more likely to engender repetitive and excessive play. The council 
in considering premises licences will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to 
satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to, for example, ensure that under 18 
year olds are not attracted to, or gain access to, the premises.’ 
 
Paragraph 27.6 sates: The council has created a Byelaw for Pleasure Fairs (Amusement 
Premises) in pursuance of section 75 of the Public Health Act 1961 (the 1961 Act) as amended 
by section 22 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. These byelaws 
apply to Adult Gaming Centres as the premises are used to provide amusement with prizes 
machines (gaming machines) or entertainment machines which are used to play games where 
there are no chance of winning prizes.  
 
A copy of the Pleasure Fairs (Amusement Premises) byelaws is attached for information as 
Appendix D. 
 
As stated previously the Licensing Authority notes that this premises is situated in close 
proximity to a large number of licensed premises. Due to the nature of those businesses they 
can attract a variety of age groups including the vulnerable. Due to the premises location, the 
local area profile is something that should be considered when determining this application.  
 
Policy AGC1 states ‘Applications will be determined, subject to relevant criteria in policies 
OBJ1, OBJ2, OBJ3 and other polices within the Statement of Licensing Principles for 
Gambling’. 
 
Policy OBJ1 states ‘To prevent gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime, the Licensing Authority will 
apply the following criteria and take into account the following considerations, where relevant, in 
determining applications.  
 
Paragraph 11.1 states ‘Whether the premises make or will make a contribution to the levels of 
crime and disorder and whether the applicant has demonstrated that he has, or intends to, 
implement sufficient controls to prevent gambling from being a source of, and/or associated with 
crime or disorder, or being used to support crime, if the application is granted.’ 
 
Paragraph 11.1.1 states ‘Where an area is known for high levels of crime the council will 
consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there, and whether 
additional conditions may be necessary, such as the provision of CCTV, minimum levels of 
staffing and licensed door supervisors, etc.’ 
 
Paragraph 11.1.4 states ‘Whether the layout, lighting and fitting out of the premises have been 
designed so as to minimise conflict and opportunities for crime and disorder.’ 
 
Policy OBJ2 states ‘To ensure that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, the Licensing 
Authority will apply the following criteria and take into account the following considerations, 
where relevant, in determining applications.’ 
 
Paragraph 12.1.2 states ‘Whether sufficient management measures are proposed or are in 
place to ensure that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.’ 
 
Paragraph 12.1.3 states ‘Whether the management and operation of the premises is open and 

page 81



transparent.’  
 
Paragraph 12.1.4 states ‘Whether the operators of the premises have been or will be fully 
cooperative with enforcement agencies.’ 
 
It would be useful for the applicant to provide further information into their operation of other 
licensed premises under the Gambling Act 2005 to obtain an understanding of their 
management and operation of such premises. Again this pertinent point has not been included 
within the applicant submission and therefore clarity is needed.  
 
Policy OBJ3 states ‘To protect children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling, the Licensing Authority will apply the following criteria and take into 
account the following considerations, where relevant, in determining applications.’  
 
Paragraph 13.1 states ‘Whether there are appropriate measures in place to protect children and 
other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling.’ 
 
Paragraph 13.1.1 asks the Licensing Authority to consider whether the operator has a specific 
training programme for staff to ensure that they are able to identify children and vulnerable 
people and take appropriate action to be reasonably consistent with this objective to exclude 
them from the premises or parts of the premises.  
 
The applicant has stated in the risk assessment that there will be training for staff. Although the 
applicant has advised this, there is no actual content about what measures or training staff 
undertake. Therefore it would be useful for the applicant to provide details of what training staff 
will undertake in terms of identifying vulnerable people and providing sufficient and effective 
support to those people?  
 
The Licensing Authority notes within the risk assessment that the premises will have notices 
and leaflets promoting Gamcare which is a charity supporting those with gambling addictions. 
Information on the following points would be useful in assessing the considerations of 
paragraph 13.1.1 above: 
 

• Does the applicant have a referral scheme in place, in regards to self-exclusion? 

• Is the onus on the individual to self exclude from a premises? If so, how does an 
individual go about this? 

• What links does the premises have with local services to provide support? 

• Will the applicant propose to advertise any promotional material associated with the 
premises? This could encourage the use of the premises by children or young people.  

• How will the applicant control customers from bringing alcohol onto the premises to 
consume whilst gaming? Or entering the premises in an intoxicated state? 

 
Should this application for an Adult Gaming Centre be granted a list of Mandatory Conditions 
will be attached to the licence. These have been included with this representation as Appendix 
E. 
 
The Licensing Authority require the applicant to confirm the number of machines/categories of 
those machines, that will be at the premises. It would also assist if the applicant could provide 
an updated plan showing the location of the machines and the location of CCTV cameras. 
 
The Licensing Authority submit this as a formal representation to this application and look 
forward to receiving further submissions from the applicant on the points raised above 
 
Please see Appendix 3 for supporting documents to the Licensing Authority 
Representation. 

 

page 82



page 83



page 84



page 85



page 86



page 87



page 88



 
 
3.  The Gambling Act 2005  
 
3.1  The Licensing Authority must under Section 153(1) of the Act exercise its functions 

relating to premises licensing with an aim to permit the use of the premises for gambling 
in so far as it thinks fit and in accordance with the relevant codes of practice, guidance, 
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and in accordance with the Council’s 
Statement of Principles.    

  
3.2  The Licensing Authority can take into account a representations relating to an 

application for a premises licence from either an interested party (a person living 
sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activity or 
has a business interest that may be affected or represents persons in either of these two 
groups) or a responsible authority (Licensing Authority, Gambling Commission, Police, 
Fire Authority, Environmental Health and HM Revenue and Custom).  Any 
representations must be relevant and not frivolous or vexatious.    

  
3.3  Section 152 of the Act provides that a premises licence may not be issued in respect of 

premises if a premises licence already has effect in relation to the premises, except for a 
track premises licences. The Explanatory Notes for section 152 state “The general 
position for premises licensing is that premises may only be subject to one premises 
licence at a time… The effect of this requirement is to limit the principal activity on the 
premises to the provision of facilities for a particular type of gambling activity.”  

  
3.4  The Act, via regulations also imposes mandatory and default conditions that promote the 

licensing objectives.  A list of these Mandatory and Default conditions are attached at 
Appendix 5 to this report.    

 
3.5  A premises licence issued by the Authority will be subject to the mandatory and default 

conditions for that licence type.  However, paragraph 9.27 of the guidance states;  
  
   Section 169 of the Act gives licensing authorities:  
  

”The ability to exclude from premises licences any default conditions that have been 
imposed under Section 168;” and ”The power to impose conditions on the premises 
licences that they issue.”  

 
  

page 89



page 90



cooperative with enforcement agencies.   

5.  Whether the Commissions Codes of Practice have been 
complied with. 

Policy OBJ3 applies: To protect children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed 
or exploited by gambling, the Licensing Authority will apply the 
following criteria and take into account the following considerations, 
where relevant, in determining applications and reviews. 

Considerations:   

1.  Has the operator a specific training programme for staff to ensure 
that they are able to identify children and vulnerable people and take 
appropriate action to be reasonably consistent with this objective to 
exclude them from the premises or parts of the premises.   

2.  If the premises is an adult only environment has the operator 
taken effective measures to implement an appropriate proof of age 
scheme to ensure that no one under the age of 18 is admitted to the 
premises or restricted areas.   

3.  Whether the layout, lighting and fitting out of the premises have 
been designed so as to not attract children and other vulnerable 
persons who might be harmed or exploited by gambling.   

4.  Whether sufficient management measures are proposed or are in 
place to protect children and other vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling.  

5.  Whether any promotional material associated with the premises 
could encourage the use of the premises by children or young 
people. 

Policy AGC1 applies: Applications and reviews will be determined, subject to the relevant 
criteria in policies OBJ1, OBJ2, OBJ3 and other policies within this 
statement. 

Policy LOC1 applies: Applicants for new or variation applications of premises licences 
within a sensitive location must include detailed information as to 
how the proposals will be reasonably consistent with the gambling 
objectives and policies OBJ1, OBJ2 and OBJ3 A sensitive location 
is defined as any premises which is within close proximity or on a 
main route  to a school, other educational institution, hostel or other 
sensitive locations where there is the potential for exposing children, 
young people or other vulnerable persons to gambling.  

 

page 91



 
5.  Gambling Commission Guidance  
 
5.1  The Gambling Commission have produced guidance for local authorities in relation to 

the 2005 Act.  The information in this section of the report relates to the relevant points 
within the Guidance which members may wish to consider.   

 
5.2  Paragraphs 7.5 of the GLA describes what may be considered as a premises, it states 

that:  
  

“…There is no reason in principle why a single building could not be subject to more 
than one premises licence, provided they are for different parts of the building, and the 
different parts of the building can reasonably be regarded as being different premises. 
This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple unit premises such as pleasure 
parks, tracks, or shopping malls to obtain discrete premises licences, where appropriate 
safeguards are in place. However, licensing authorities should pay particular attention if 
there are issues about sub-division of a single building or plot and should ensure that 
mandatory conditions relating to access between premises are observed.”     

  
5.3  Paragraph 7.32 of the GLA states:  
  
  “…they [Licensing Authorities] should be aware of the following:   

“Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises 

licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different premises 

is not compromised and people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area. In this context it 

should normally be possible to access the premises without going through another 

licensed premises or premises with a permit customers should be able to participate in 

the activity named on the premises licence.’ 

  
5.4  Paragraph 7.33 of the GLA sets out factors that the Licensing Authority can use to assist 

in determining whether premises are truly separate.  These factors may include:  
• Is a separate registration for business rates in place for the premises? 

• Is the premises' neighbouring premises owned by the same person or someone 

else? 

• Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public passageway? 

• Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises? 

5.5  The Gambling Commissions Guidance to Licensing Authorities (GLA) states in 
paragraph 7.20 that “The Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and Default Conditions) 
Regulations set out the access provisions for each type of premises. The broad principle 
is that there can be no access from one licensed gambling premises to another, except 
between premises which allow access to those under the age of 18 and with the further 
exception that licensed betting premises may be accessed from other licensed betting 
premises. Under-18s can go into FECs, tracks, pubs and some bingo clubs, so access is 
allowed between these types of premises.”  

  
5.6  Paragraph 7.21 of the GLA states: “It should be noted that the Gambling Act 2005 

(Mandatory and Default Conditions) Regulations define street as ‘including any bridge, 
road, lane, footway, subway, square, court, alley or passage (including passages 
through enclosed premises such as shopping malls) whether a thoroughfare or not’. This 
is to allow access through areas which the public might enter for purposes other than 
gambling, for example, access to casinos from hotel foyers.”  

  

page 92



5.7  Paragraph 7.22 of the GLA states “There is no definition of ‘direct access’ in the Act or 
regulations, but licensing authorities may consider that there should be an area 
separating the premises concerned, for example a street or cafe, which the public go to 
for purposes other than gambling, for there to be no direct access.” 

  
5.8 The Committee can, if it feels minded impose conditions on the premises licence.  

Paragraph 9.28 of the Guidance states that   
  

“Licensing authorities should make decisions on conditions on a case-by-case basis, 
and in the context of the principles of s.153. They must aim to permit the use of 
premises for gambling and so should not attach conditions that limit their use except 
where it is necessary in accordance with the licensing objectives, the Commission’s 
codes of practice and this guidance, or their own statement of policy.” 

  
5.9  The guidance goes further to state that authorities should not turn down applications for 

premises licences where relevant objections can be dealt with through the use of 
conditions.  If the authority does decide that the only way to address a particular concern 
is through conditions it must be proportionate to the circumstances which they are 
seeking to address.  

  
5.10  The guidance encourages licensing authorities to ensure that premises licence 

conditions are relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a 
gambling facility, directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for, or 
fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of the premises and reasonable in all 
other respects (see paragraph 9.31 of the guidance).   

 
5.11  Local authorities are also prevented from attaching conditions relating to certain matters.  

Paragraph 9.32 of the guidance sets out the relevant sections of the Act where 
conditions may not be imposed.    

  
   “…The relevant sections are:   

• s.169(4) prohibits a licensing authority from imposing a condition on a premises licence 

which makes it impossible to comply with an operating licence condition 

• s.172(10) provides that conditions may not relate to gaming machine categories, 

numbers, or method of operation 

• s.170 provides that membership of a club or body cannot be required by attaching a 

condition to a premises licence (the Act specifically removed the membership 

requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated) 

• s.171 prevents a licensing authority imposing conditions in relation to stakes, fees, 

winnings or prizes. 

6.   The Council’s Statement of Principles  
 
6.1  The Licensing Authority’s Statement of Principles set out the council’s policy 

considerations in relation to applications made under the Gambling Act.  The Statement 
reemphasises the Authority’s position in relation to Section 153 of the Act and sets out 
the principles and policies that the Authority will adopt when considering and 
determining Gambling Act applications.  

  

page 93



6.2  The Council’s Statement or Principles location policy (LOC 1) sets out that the authority 
will pay particular attention to the suitability of a location for gambling activity in terms of 
the objective of the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.  It is the authority’s view that the applicant should establish if 
there are any sensitive premises or locations within close proximity to the proposed 
gambling premises.  Applicants should, in addition to their application submit information 
as to how they plan to promote this objective.  A plan showing the location of schools, 
places of religious worship and hostels within a 250 metre radius of the premises is 
attached to this report as Appendix 6.  

 
6.3  The Council’s Policy relating to Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or 

disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime (OBJ1) 
sets out the criteria as to whether the premises make or will make a contribution to the 
levels of crime and disorder and whether the applicant has demonstrated that he has, or 
intends to, implement sufficient controls to prevent the premises being a source of, 
and/or associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime, if the 
application is granted”.  

  
6.4  The Council’s policy relating to the Protection of children and other vulnerable people 

from being harmed or exploited (OBJ 3) sets out the criteria that the authority will 
consider when determining an application.  The authority will have to be satisfied that 
the applicant has appropriate measures in place to protect children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling.    

 
7.  Options for Members  
 
7.1   When determining the application the Committee will need to consider the Gambling Act 

2005, the relevant Guidance to Licensing Authorities, the policies contained within the 
Council’s Statement of Principles and the licensing objectives.  

  
7.2   Section 152 of the Act provides that a premises licence may not be issued in respect of 

premises if a premises licence already has effect in relation to the premises, except for a 
track premises licences.  However, this section does not prohibit the Licensing Authority 
from determining the application.   

  
7.3  Members need to be satisfied that if the application were to be granted there would be 

no breach of mandatory conditions and the granting of the application would not have a 
detrimental impact on the licensing objectives. 

 
8. Equality Implications 
 

The Council in its capacity as Licensing Authority has a duty to have regard to  
its public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In  
summary, section 149 provides that a Public Authority must, in the exercise of  
its functions, have due regard to the need to:  

 
(a) eliminate discrimination harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under this Act;  
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share it.  

 
Section 149 (7) of the Equality Act 2010 defines the relevant protected characteristics as 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

page 94



page 95



page 96



Premises Plans                                   Appendix 1 
 

    

page 97



 
Applicant supporting documents       Appendix 2 
 
 
THIS PAGE IS LEFT BLANK 
 

page 98



 
 
 

  1 

                

  

Premises 

Premises Name: Silvertime 

Premises Address: 32, Gerrard Street, London 

Premises Post Code: W1D 6JA 

Premises Licence 
Number: 

TBA 

Category of Premises: AGC 

 
 

Company 

Operating Company: Silvertime Amusements Ltd 

Operating Licence 
Number: 

000-002913-N-103141-008 

 
 

Assessment Writer 

Name of Person Writing this Assessment: Phil Wheeler - Operations Director 

Date that Original Assessment was Written July 2021 updated 19/10/21 and 20/12/21 

page 99



 
 
 

  2 

Requirement to Comply 

 

 

All non-remote casino, adult gaming centre, bingo, family entertainment centre, betting and remote betting intermediary (trading room 

only) licences, except non-remote general betting (limited) and betting intermediary licences. 

 

Effective as at 6 April 2016 

 

Social responsibility code provision 10.1.1 

1. Licensees must assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at each of their 

premises, and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks. In making risk assessments, licensees 

must take into account relevant matters identified in the licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy. 

2. Licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local risk assessments. 

a. to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those identified in a licensing authority’s statement 

of licensing policy; 

b. when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their mitigation of local risks; 

c. when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and 

d. in any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new premises licence. 

 

Ordinary code provision 10.1.2 

page 100



 
 
 

  3 

1. Licensees should share their risk assessment with licensing authorities when applying for a premises licence or applying for a 

variation to existing licensed premises, or otherwise on request. 

The purpose of this document is to assist staff in understanding and carrying out their responsibilities in running the premises including 

alerting them to any special problems of which they need to be aware in carrying out their duties, for example awareness of children or 

potentially vulnerable individuals in the vicinity. 

 

The Operator 

Silvertime Amusements Ltd is licensed by the Gambling Commission and is a long standing member of the AGC trade association 

BACTA. Silvertime Amusements Ltd is an extremely experienced operator of these types of premises, having been a family owned and 

run business for over 30 years. 

It is familiar with the guidance and information contained in the London Borough of Westminster Statement of Licensing Principles for 

Gambling and the Guide to Undertaking Local Gambling Risk Assessments contained within the Statement of Licensing Principles. 

Silvertime have operated other Adult Gaming Centre premises within the Borough of Westminster at 426 Edgware Road, W2 1EG for 

over 7 years. 

We believe this Local Area Risk Assessment (and future updates) identifies all necessary steps required in both complying with the 

Statement of Licensing Principles for Gambling, upholding the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice and promoting the 3 Licensing 

Objectives. The grid matrix at pages 9 to 27 also detail how the operator intends dealing with key relevant points identified in the 

Westminster Statement of Licensing Principles for Gambling. 

 

 

page 101



 
 
 

  4 

Local Area Profile 

 

The premise is located on Gerrard Street in the West End of London within the local area known as ‘Chinatown’ that is controlled under 

the authority of Westminster City Council. In compiling this assessment we have considered the Council’s ‘Statement of Principles for 

Gambling, effective January 2019, and acknowledge the study together with Manchester City Council and Geofutures in 2015, to help 

understand key issues concerning gambling related harm so as to protect those that are vulnerable. We have utilised information from 

the study including the ‘Gambling Risk Index’ and other relevant indices. 

The local population of Westminster is ethnically diverse and the social grade is equally mixed with the majority split being either 

administrative or unskilled/semi-skilled labour. There are approximately 250,000 residents increased by the workers (550,000 to over 

47,000 businesses) and visitors bringing a combined total of over 1,000,000 people to the borough on a daily basis. 

The site falls near to the northern edge of St James’ Ward. The ward profile from 2018 shows a population of 11,495, 29% with 

dependent children, a median household income exceeding £45,000, 11,560 businesses and over 219,000 jobs (30% of the total for 

Westminster). The ward is among the 30-40% most deprived in the UK with 8.75% of the working age population claiming benefits. 28% 

of homes were socially rented at the last count in 2011. 85% of residents say their health is good, with only 5% saying it is bad, 1% less 

than the average for Westminster. 12.9% are affected by long term illness or disability, also 1% under the figure for Westminster.  

As to crime and disorder, 98% of residents feel safe, and 96% feel safe after dark. 19% feel that crime affects their quality for life, the 

same figure as for Westminster as a whole. Similarly, 19% feel that anti-social behaviour affects the quality of their neighbourhood.  

The local shops are dominated by the presence of restaurants and food dealers with a dedication to oriental cuisine. Chinatown is part of 

an area in the West End of London renowned for entertainment and night life.  

page 102



 
 
 

  5 

There are a number of gambling establishments within 1/2 mile of the site in particular Casinos such as the Hippodrome, Grosvenor and 

Empire. Specifically there are 3 licensed bookmakers, 3 AGCs, and one Bingo premises within a 250 metre radius, as listed below: 

Coral Bookmakers, 3 Newport Place. Opens 7am to 10pm 

Paddy Power Bookmakers, 40 Gerrard Street. Opens 8am to 10pm 

Bet Fred Bookmakers, 37 Wardour Street. Opens 7am to 10pm 

Play2Win AGC, 32 Wardour Street, Opens 9am to 2am  AGC 

Las Vegas AGC, 89-91 Wardour Street. Opens 10am to 2am  AGC 

Little Macau, 3-5 Wardour Street. Opens 8am to midnight.  AGC 

The Crystal Rooms, Bingo Licence, 7-9 Cranbourn Street. Opens 24/7 

The application premises previously operated as a ‘BetFred’ licensed betting office. 

Leicester Square and Piccadilly Circus Underground Stations are within 500 metres of the property. There are ‘Q-Park’ car parks in 

Newport Place, China Town and Leicester Square. 

(Source - City of Westminster Profile 2018, Metropolitan Police - Crime Data Dashboard, Westminster City Council - Statement for 

Gambling Principals 2021, Geofutures study with Westminster and Manchester City Councils) 

 

Risks to the Vulnerable 

Further details regarding gambling vulnerability is set out at Appendix 1 to this risk assessment. 

There are numerous premises within the area that cater for, or attract, children, the potentially vulnerable and the homeless. 

page 103



 
 
 

  6 

The nearest schools are: 

Soho Parish Primary School, Archer Street. 

Westminster Kingsway College, Soho Centre, Hopkins Street. 

Support and Educational services for teenagers and young adults are provided at: 

The Young Westminster Foundation, 21 Wardour Street. 

Mousetrap Theatre Project, 33 Shaftesbury Avenue. 

Facilities are provided for the homeless (including hostels) or potentially vulnerable at various locations within in Chinatown & 

Soho and include: 

St Anne’s Church, Dean Street (Alcoholics Anonymous meet here 3 times a week).  

Notre Dame de France, Leicester Place. 

Orange Street Covenant Church, Orange Street. 

Soho Housing Association, Chancel Court, Dean Street. 

Turning Point - Westminster - Drug and Alcohol Wellbeing Service, 32A Wardour St. 

DR Janina Janowska Lokalizacja, Psychotherapist, West End, London. 

Staff will be made aware as part of their training that these and other facilities are nearby and that they should be constantly watchful and 

vigilant of attempts by children and the vulnerable to enter the premises. Before operating the premises, there will be both a 

Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedure Document and a separate Safeguarding Children Policy and Procedure Document. This will 

include having policies and procedures in place in relation to the following risks: ‘The cognitive capacity of the person to make informed 

page 104



 
 
 

  7 

decisions relating to their gambling’ and ‘Establishing the means to which a person can afford to gamble to the extent and frequency of 

their gambling activity’.  Staff will be trained in these policies, training shall be formally recorded on each member of staff’s training 

records which will be available for presentation to the Licensing Authority immediately upon request. The following conditions in relation 

to staff training have been offered: 

-The licensee shall:  

a. provide induction training to all staff working at the premises; 

b. provide refresher training to every member of staff at least every six months. 

The training shall include the following: 

i. the specific local risks to the licensing objectives that have been identified for these premises; 

ii. drug and alcohol awareness training to include Homeless and Street Drinking. 

iii. Conflict Management Training. At least one of these training sessions each calendar year shall be provided by instructors qualified to 
a formally recognised national or equivalent standard on dealing with conflict. 

 

The applicant will make contact with all of the above schools and facilities prior to opening in order to make themselves known and to 

provide materials on problem gambling.  

Faith Groups: 

Soho Islamic Centre (for Men), Berwick Street. 

St Anne’s Church, Dean Street. 

Notre Dame de France, Leicester Place. 

Trinity Church Central London, Orange Street 

page 105



 
 
 

  8 

Orange Street Congregational Church, Orange Street 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

page 106



page 107



 
 
 

  10 

particularly linked with gambling 
premises.  

 

In relation to CCTV the following 
conditions have been offered: 
-The premises shall install and 
maintain a comprehensive CCTV 
system as per the minimum 
requirements of the Westminster 
Police Licensing Team. 
(a) All entry and exit points will be 
covered enabling frontal 
identification of every person 
entering in any light condition. 
(b) The CCTV system shall 
continually record whilst the 
premises is open for licensable 
activities and during all times when 
customers remain on the premises 
and will include the gaming area, 
office, toilet entrance, any seating 
and external area immediately 
outside the premises entrance. 
(c) All recordings shall be stored for a 
minimum period of 31 days with date 
and time stamping. 
(d) Viewing of recordings shall be 
made available immediately upon the 
request of Police or authorised 
officer throughout the entire 31-day 
period. 
 
-A staff member from the premises 
who is conversant with the operation 
of the CCTV system shall be on the 
premises at all times when the 
premises is open. This staff 
member must be able to provide a 
Police or authorised council officer 
copies of recent CCTV images or data 
with the absolute minimum of delay 
when requested. 

page 108



 
 
 

  11 

 
-The premises shall display notices 
near the entrance of the venue 
stating that CCTV is in operation. 
 
-A ‘spotter monitor’ shall be placed 
inside the premises near the front 
door showing CCTV images of 
customers entering ,exiting and 
whilst on the premises. 
 
Security alarms and panic buttons. 
The following conditions are offered: 
 
-A magnetic locking device, 
commonly referred to as a Maglock, 
will be installed and maintained on 
the main entrance/exit to the 
premises which will be operable by 
staff.  
 
-Staff will receive a notification when 
the front door opens. 
 
-The licensee shall install and 
maintain fixed panic buttons and in 
addition portable panic buttons will 
be worn by staff. 
 
 
Fixed or weighted seating to prevent 
lifting. The following condition has 
been offered:  
 
-All seating within the premises shall 
be either secured to the floor or are 
weighted to prevent lifting. 
 

page 109



 
 
 

  12 

Toughened glass windows and 
doors. 
 
 

 

 There are a number of casinos in 
the vicinity including but not 
limited to; 
-The Hippodrome Casino - 
Leicester Square. 
-The Grosvenor - Coventry St. 
-The Empire - Leicester Square. 
 
There are 3 AGC’s 
-Play 2 Win – 32 Wardour Street.  
-Las Vegas – 89-91 Wardour 
Street. 
-Little Macau – 3-5 Wardour 
Street. 
 
There is a Bingo Premises, which 
operates in a similar fashion to 
the AGC’s at: 
-The Crystal Rooms, Cranbourn 
Street. 
 
There are several bookmakers 
including but not limited to; 
-Corals - Newport Pl. 
-BetFred - Wardour St. 
-Paddy Power - Gerrard St. 

Design Warning/Advice communication 
using signs displayed at 
entrance/exit produced to reflect 
local population, including signage in 
Mandarin Chinese.   
 
 

 

page 110



 
 
 

  13 

  Systems 
 

Strong liaison with local residents, 
Police Local Safer Neighbourhood 
Team and Council Officers. The 
following conditions have been 
offered: 
 
-A direct telephone number to the 
manager of the premises will be 
available at all times the premises is 
open. This number shall be made 
available to residents and businesses 
in the vicinity.  
 
-The licensee will liaise with any 
residents who would like to be 
contacted quarterly to discuss the 
operation of the AGC and any issues. 
  
- The licensee shall organise and 
participate in a meeting for local 
residents and residents' associations 
to discuss the operation of the 
premises at least once every six 
months. The licensee shall directly 
notify local residents and residents’ 
associations of the meeting date and 
venue at least two weeks before the 
meeting. 
 
Premises to be double-staffed at all 
times. The following condition has 
been offered: 
 
-There shall be 2 members of staff 
present at all times the premises are 
open to the public. 
 
Use of SIA supervisors to the extent 
required following risk assessment, 

 

page 111



 
 
 

  14 

and in any case post- 6 p.m. The 
following condition has been offered: 
 
-Between 6pm and 6am there will be 
an SIA registered door person 
employed at the front door of the 
premises. The need for an SIA door 
person at other times will be risk 
assessed. They shall display their 
licence at all times in a yellow high 
visibility arm band. 
 
-The licensee shall install and 
maintain an intruder alarm on the 
premises. 
 
Staff training and refresher training 
including local issues and conflict 
avoidance.  
 
 
Warning and banning miscreants, 
preventing intoxicated persons from 
using premises. The following 
conditions have been offered: 
 
- The licensee shall implement a 
policy of banning any customers who 
engage in crime or disorder within or 
outside the premises. 
 
-The licensee will refuse entry to 
customers who appear to be under 
the influence of alcohol or drugs. 
 
-The Licensee shall take all 
reasonable steps to prevent street 
drinking of alcohol directly outside 

page 112



 
 
 

  15 

the premises and to ban from the 
premises those who do so.  
 
-The Licensee shall place a notice 
visible from the exterior of the 
premises stating that customers 
drinking alcohol outside the premises 
is not permitted and those who do so 
will be banned from the premises. 
 
- Any tea/coffee/drinks facilities will 
be provided for playing customers 
only. 
 
Toilet checking - every hour for 
evidence of drug taking. The 
following condition has been offered:  
 
-The licensee will ensure that 
customer toilets are checked every 
hour for evidence of drug taking. 
Toilet checks are to be documented 
stating the time and member of staff 
who made the checks. Toilets will 
remain locked at all times with 
access being provided by staff. 
 
Incident logs kept. The following 
condition has been offered:  
 
-An incident log shall be kept for the 
premises and made available on 
request to an authorised officer of the 
City Council or the Police which will 
record the following; 
a. All crimes reported to the 
venue; 
b. Any complaints received 
regarding crime and disorder; 

page 113



 
 
 

  16 

c. Any incidents of disorder; 
d. Any faults in the CCTV 
system; and 
e. Any visit by a relevant 
authority or emergency service. 
f. All ejections of patrons; 
g. All seizures of drugs or 
offensive weapons; 
 
Notices visible from the exterior of 
the premises stating that customers 
drinking alcohol outside the premises 
 
 
Regular inspections of websites: 
www.met.police.co.uk/ 
www.streetcheck.co.uk 
www.crimestats.com 
 
Crime bulletins from Bacta. 
 
Staff discussions (internal) and with 
neighbouring businesses. 
 

 

Ensuring that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open 
way. 

    

 Managing Operation Physical Fully co-operative with Council 
requirements as evidenced by our 
other sites and in particular at 426 
Edgware Road W2 1EG that is under 
the authority of Westminster City 
Council. 

 

page 114



 
 
 

  17 

 Communication  Design Terms and Conditions Signage 
produced in a variety of appropriate 
languages and displayed at entrance. 
 
Promotional activity clearly 
communicated in a variety of 
appropriate languages and displayed 
around the arcade. 

 

 Operation Systems Compliant with Bacta codes of 
practice. 
 
Staff will be aware of the Terms and 
Conditions and relevant game rules 
associated with the gaming machines 
offered. 

 

Protecting children and other 
vulnerable people from being 
harmed or exploited by 
gambling. 

    

 There are a considerable number 
of educational facilities in the 
area including but not limited to 
within ½ mile of the site as 
follows: 
 
-Soho Parish Primary School 
- Westminster Kingsway College, 
Soho Centre, Hopkins Street. 
- St. Georges Hanover Sq. 
Primary School 
- All Souls C of E Primary School 
- St. Josephs Primary School 

Physical HD CCTV covering immediate 
external area, recordings available 
remotely and held for 30 days. 
 
Regular monitoring of external 
cameras/screens by staff, in line with 
council’s CSE concerns. 
 
Window signs display notices 
prohibiting Under 18’s produced in 
numerous appropriate languages 
including Mandarin Chinese. 
Emphasis on ‘Challenge 25’.  
 

 

page 115



 
 
 

  18 

- St. Clement Danes Primary 
School 

 
Student Accommodation 
including but not limited to: 
 
-International Students House - 
Great Portland St. 
-Host the Hub - S Lambeth Rd. 
 
Support and Educational services 
for teenagers and young adults 
are provided at: 
 
-The Young Westminster 
Foundation, 21 Wardour Street. 
-Mousetrap Theatre Project, 33 
Shaftesbury Avenue. 
 
Facilities are provided for the 
homeless (including hostels )or 
potentially vulnerable at various 
locations within in Chinatown & 
Soho and include: 
 
-St Anne’s Church, Dean Street. 
(Alcoholics Anonymous meet 
here three times a week).  
-Notre Dame de France, Leicester 
Place. 
-Orange Street Covenant Church, 
Orange Street. 
-Soho Housing Association, 
Chancel Court, Dean Street. 
-Turning Point - Westminster - 
Drug and Alcohol Wellbeing 
Service, 32A Wardour St 
(Addiction Recovery Centre) 

No promotional material associated 
with the premises will encourage the 
use of the premises by children or 
young people. 

 Design 
 

Window signs display notices 
prohibiting Under 18’s produced in 
numerous appropriate languages 
including Mandarin Chinese. 
 
There will be no view from the 
exterior of the premises of people 
playing gaming machines inside. 
 
Any external advertising will not 
include characters or images that are 
attractive to children. 
 
 
 

 

 Systems Challenge 25 - including the keeping 
of a refusals register. The register will 
cover: 
a)challenges made under the age 
verification policy, 
b) the number of customers who 
failed a challenge under this policy, 
c) any breaches of the age 
verification policy by staff, and 
d) any incidents where a child or 
young person has accessed the 
premises or played on any adult 
gaming machines. 
 
Third party age verification testing. 
 

 

page 116



 
 
 

  19 

-DR Janina Janowska Lokalizacja, 
Psychotherapist, West End, 
London. 
 
Care Homes including but not 
limited to within 1 mile are; 
 
-Anchor Trust 
-Parigester Court 
-Hamberley 
-Shelbourne 
-Laurens Care Home 
http://www.carehome.co.uk 
Awareness of gambling care 
agencies in the local area. 
 
No facilities for problem gambling 
in the vicinity. 
 
Chinese Welfare Association 
http://www.cwa-ni.org/      
Gamcare www.gamcare.org.uk 
www.gamblersanonymous.co.uk 
www.nhs.uk/live-well/healthy-
body/gambling-addiction 
 
Job centres/employment 
agencies in the close area: 
-Carnegie Consulting - Gerard St. 
-Bite Consulting - Bear St. 
-Leverage Partnership - Charing 
Cross Road. 
-St. Marylebone Job Centre - 
Lisson Grove. 
 
Family Service Centres 
-London Child & Family Therapy 
Centre - Margaret St. 

Any branded merchandise will not be 
intended for use by or promoted to 
children. 
 
The following conditions are offered: 
 
-A Challenge 25 proof of age scheme 
shall be operated at the premises 
where the only acceptable forms of 
identification are recognised 
photographic identification cards, 
such as a driving licence, passport or 
proof of age card with the PASS 
Hologram. 
 
-The Licensee shall maintain a bound 
and paginated ‘Challenge 25 
Refusals’ register at the premises. 
The register shall be produced to the 
police or licensing authority forthwith 
on request. 
 
-Prominent signage and notices 
advertising the Challenge 25 will be 
displayed showing the operation of 
such policy.  
 
-Third party testing on age restricted 
sales systems purchasing shall take 
at least twice a year and the results 
shall be provided to the Licensing 
Authority upon request. 
 
Stay in Control leaflets and Gamcare 
posters and leaflets produced and 
displayed languages appropriate to 
the local population, including 
Mandarin Chinese. The following 
condition has been offered: 

page 117



 
 
 

  20 

 
- Prominent GamCare documentation 
will be displayed at the premises 
together with other notices 
promoting responsible gambling. All 
such documentation and notices will 
be provided in English and Mandarin 
Chinese. 
 
- There shall be no cash point or ATM 
facilities on the premises. 
 
Social responsibility measures from 
licence conditions and codes of 
practice, including customer 
interaction and self-exclusion.  
 
All leaflets and advice subject to 
stock control. 

 
Before operating the premises, there 
will be in place both a Safeguarding 
Adults Policy and Procedure 
Document and a separate  
Safeguarding Children Policy and 
Procedure Document. 
 
This will include having policies and 
procedures in place in relation to the 
following risks: ‘The cognitive 
capacity of the person to make 
informed decisions relating to their 
gambling’ and ‘Establishing the 
means to which a person can afford 
to gamble to the extent and 
frequency of their gambling activity’.   

page 118



page 119



 
 
 

  22 

  Design Toughened and laminated glass used 
for all windows. 
 
Double doors with porch allow 
controlled and selective admission. 
 
Staffed ‘Welcome desk’. 
 
Machine layout to eliminate blind 
spots. 
 
Magnetic door lock for controlled 
entry. 

 

  Systems Machine door opening keys only 

available to management. 

 

Log maintained for history of Police 

attendance recorded on data hub. 

 

 
Premises to be double-staffed at all 
times. 
 
The operator will be fully cooperative 
with all enforcement agencies. 
 
The gambling Commission Codes of 
Practice will be fully complied with. 

 page 120



 
 
 

  23 

 Awareness of increased local 

crime in the area.      

 

                  

Systems Regular inspections of websites: 
www.met.police.co.uk/ 
www.streetcheck.co.uk 
www.crimestats.com 
 
 
Staff discussions (internal) and with 
neighbouring businesses. 
 
 

 

 Failure to identify attempts to 

launder money on the premises 

(e.g. dye stained notes) and to 

follow correct reporting 

procedure. 

Design HD CCTV Internal & External 

monitored and recorded, data stored 

for 30 days accessed locally or 

remotely.  

Staff training on Anti-Money 

Laundering. 

 

  Physical Monitoring customers’ behaviour by 
static and mobile staff. 

 

  Systems Fully compliant with LCCP 
requirements.  
Acknowledgement of new licence 
condition 15.1.3 (31/10/20) - reporting 
of systematic or organised money 
lending. 
 
Comply with Bacta’s Policy & 
Procedures guidance. 
 

 

page 121



page 122



 
 
 

  25 

  
Failure to deal with customers 
making complaints about the 
outcome of Gambling. 

 
Physical 

 
All machines purchased from 

manufactures/suppliers licensed by 

the Gambling Commission. 

 

Machines maintained by qualified 

engineers. 

 

Machines turned off should a fault 
occur. 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 
Systems 

The management and operation of 
the premises will be open and 
transparent. 
 
Complaints procedure & forms 
available on premises. 
 
Regular staff training on company 
policy.  
 
Registered with ADR Entity – Bacta 
ADR Service. 
 
Compliant with Bacta Policies & 
Procedures. 
 
The operator will be fully cooperative 
with all enforcement agencies. 
 
The gambling Commission Codes of 
Practice will be fully complied with. 

 

 Failure to provide information to 
players on responsible gambling. 

 
Physical 

Stay in control leaflets displayed and 

discretely available. 

 

Stay in Control Posters displayed. 

 

 

page 123



 
 
 

  26 

Gambling Helpline contact displayed. 

   
 

Systems 

 

 
Adhere to Bacta Procedure & Policy.  
 
Stock control method required for 
leaflets. 

 

Protecting children and other 

vulnerable people from being 

harmed or exploited by 

gambling. 

    

 Failure to recognise signs 
associated with problem 
gambling or substantial changes 
in gambling style. 

 

Design Players’ positions and behaviour 
effectively monitored. 

 

  Systems Staffed trained in customer 
interaction in line with Bacta’s 
guidance. 
 
Policy to record interaction and level 
of staff that are authorised to 
intervene. 

 

  Physical CCTV positioned at entrance to 
enhance ease of recognition of 
excluded customers. Including the 
use of spotter screen. 
 

 

page 124



 
 
 

  27 

Regular staff employed to improve 
customer relationships. 

 Failure to properly administer and 
maintain the self-exclusion 
process. 

Systems Data regularly reviewed. 
 
Self exclusion process always 

available. 

 

Self-Excluded customer file kept on 

premises using the iHub. 

 

 

 

  
Awareness of schools in the local 
area. 

 
Systems 

 
Reference local education authority. 
 
Obtain education welfare officer 
contact details and hold for referral. 
 

 

 Age Verification with customers 
wearing masks following Covid-
19. 

Physical Following the virus outbreak 
customers may choose to wear a 
protective mask. Customers must be 
asked to remove mask for AV 
purposes before being allowed in. 
 
 

 

 

                                                                                                          

 

  

  

page 125



 
 
 

  28 

Appendix 1 

 

Geofutures analysis 

 

According to the Geofutures information available from Westminster City Council, the location scores 34.7 for the composite gambling risk index.  

The highest risk area in Westminster is near the University of Westminster Cavendish Campus with a location score of 74.2.  The lowest risk score 

being 0.1 in the centre of Regent’s Park. 

 

The site scores lower than the applicant’s site at 426 Edgware Road, which has a composite gambling risk index of 35.5. This site has been operating 

without incident for 7 years.   

 

32 Gerrard Street has a 6.2 score for the people gambling at home risk and 28.5 for people gambling away from home risk. This is relatively low risk. 

 

There are no gambling treatment centres nearby. 

 

Geofutures report as follows: 

 

Case study 3 – The West End 

The risk areas in the West End focus on two distinct spaces, one around Soho and the other to the north of Oxford Street, between Goodge Street and 

Great Portland Street. Like the area around about Paddington/Edgware Road, both areas are smaller geographically than the area of risk in the north 

west. 

 

The risk in both areas is broadly driven by the types of services offered in each area. For example, three of the four locations of Gamblers 

Anonymous/GamCare treatment services (see Figure 29) are in these areas. These areas are also home to five supported housing facilities; 

these are especially concentrated in the area north of Oxford Street. There are at least three payday loan shops around the Soho area. To the south of 

the Soho area, there is a treatment support service for those with drugs and alcohol problems. 

 

There is less evidence that the risk profile is being driven by the profile of local residents, though the area to the north of Oxford St has some higher 

numbers of economically inactive people (with typically 15 people per output area) and those from a minority ethnic background (typically more than 

150 people per output area) (see Figures 30 and 31).  

 

Interestingly, Soho did not display noticeably higher numbers of residents from minority ethnic groups, despite this being the location of Chinatown. 

Whilst the residents will be represented, our models do not include facilities like Chinatown to which Chinese and other minority ethnic 

page 126



 
 
 

  29 

workers will gravitate. In this respect, the model around Soho is likely to be a conservative estimate of risk. 

 

 

  

page 127



 
 
 

  30 

 
 

page 128



 
 
 

  31 

 
 

 

Extract from the recent WCC Consultation Documents: 

Final Draft of LAP - Consultation Version - 27 September 2021 

 

*Please note Soho and Gerrard Street are not mentioned, this is for info only. Please also note that Gerrard Street sits outside the Gambling 

Vulnerability Focus Area: West End. 

  

Focus Area: West End 

5.45 The West End generally presents an ‘at home’ index score between 0.00268 – 0.0059, punctuated by three locations with a higher score up to 

0.0125, and notably one between 0.08 – 0.26, the second highest risk level. The general level of vulnerability is caused by the area having the highest 

count of males between the ages of 25 and 44, a highly vulnerable group and of residents receiving mental health care packages. In the three locations 

where vulnerability is exacerbated, we find temporary accommodation properties and supported housing for young adults who are experiencing 

homelessness, as well as a slightly higher than average number (when comparing to the whole borough) of people deemed “at risk”, 

“struggling” or “in crisis” within the Lower Income Family Tracker.  

page 129



page 130



page 131



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

 LA Comment/Query Silvertime Response 
 Vulnerability 

1 The council’s definition of vulnerable persons when considering 
applications of this types is that it relates to groups that include 
‘people who gambling more than they want to; people who 
gamble beyond their means; and people who may not be able to 
make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a 
mental impairment, alcohol or drugs’.  
 
For the purposes of this application, it would be useful for the 
applicant to provide their definition of vulnerability and what it 
means to their operation. 
 

The applicant agrees with the LA definition of ‘vulnerable persons’, as set out 
in paragraph 13.4 of its Policy.  
The applicant has policies and procedures in place to protect the vulnerable. 
All staff are fully trained on this matter including customer interaction and 
self-exclusion.  
Policies 
‘Vulnerable persons’ are covered in the relevant policies used by the 
applicant: 
-Bacta ToolKit; 
-Bacta Social Responsibility Charter and Code of Practice;  
-Bacta Self-Exclusion Services Application; and 
-GambleAware Brief Intervention Guide. 
 
Poster and Leaflets 
In addition there will be posters and leaflets within the premises in relation to 
‘staying in control’ and where to find help. 
 
Training 
The staff are tested in relation to their understanding of ‘vulnerable persons’ 
at regular intervals, as part of their training programme. 
 
Licence conditions and codes of practice 
The applicant complies with its obligations in relation to vulnerable persons 
as required by the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of 
Practice, including the rules regarding customer interaction and self-
exclusion. 
 
Additional Proposed Conditions 
The following additional conditions have also been offered in relation to 
‘vulnerable persons’: 

page 132



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

14.        Between 10pm and 6am there will be an SIA registered door person 
employed at the front door of the premises. The need for an SIA door person 
at other times will be risk assessed. 
15. There shall be 2 members of staff present at all times the premises 
are open to the public. 
17. The licensee will refuse entry to customers who appear to be under 
the influence of alcohol or drugs. 
21. Prominent GamCare documentation will be displayed at the premises 
and other notices promoting responsible gambling. 
22. The licensee shall: provide training on the specific local risks to the 
licensing objectives that have been identified for these premises as part of 
the staff induction training programme. Periodically provide refresher 
training to all of its staff working at these premises on the specific local risks 
to the licensing objectives. Participation in this training shall be formally 
recorded on each member of staffs training records which, if requested will 
be presented to the Licensing  Authority as soon as practicable. 
23. New and seasonal staff must attend induction training and receive 
refresher training every six months. 
24. Staff will also undergo drug and alcohol awareness training. 
25. The Licensee shall take all reasonable steps to prevent street drinking 
of alcohol directly outside the premises and to ban from the premises those 
who do so.  
26. The Licensee shall place a notice visible from the exterior of the 
premises stating that customers drinking alcohol outside the premises is not 
permitted and those who do so will be banned from the premises. 
29. All Responsible Gambling posters and messaging will also be provided 
in Mandarin Chinese. 

2 Chinatown Location - The area is an attraction to vulnerable 
persons and in particular those with problems with gambling 
and/or alcohol or drug abuse problems.  The Licensing Authority 
note that there are 2 hostels within 250 metres of the premises 
catering for vulnerable people. Due to the premises location, the 

The applicant acknowledges that the premises falls within a “sensitive 
location” and the uniqueness of Westminster as a location to operate.  The 
risk assessment has been updated and the local area profile has been 
considered in detail. The applicant is experienced in operating Adult Gaming 
Centres close to similar premises and is experienced in dealing with any 
potential risk of vulnerable people trying to use its premises.  This is 

page 133



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

local area profile is something that should be considered when 
determining this application. 
 
Given the close proximity of the above, the Licensing Authority is 
of the view that the premises fall within a “sensitive location”. 

evidenced by the fact that Silvertime have operated in Westminster for 7 
years at their Edgware Road premises. In this period there have been at least 
three inspections by the Westminster licensing team in recent years and no 
issues have been noted. 
 
Please also see above in 1 for the steps that the applicant will adopt in 
relation to ‘vulnerable persons’. 
 

 Location and History of the Premises  

3 After doing a 250 metre radius search of the premises the 
Licensing Authority has identified 1369 residents and 63 licences 
under the Gambling Act 2005, this includes 5 betting shops, 3 non-
commercial society lotteries, 2 Adult Gaming Centres, 8 Casinos, 1 
Bingo Hall and 44 gaming machine permits. A further search on 
our GIS mapping has revealed 2 hostels and 5 faith groups.   

As covered above, the risk assessment has been updated and the local area 
profile has been considered in detail. Specific to vulnerable persons, as stated 
previously, Silvertime have operated in Westminster for 7 years at their 
Edgware Road premises. In this period there have been at least three 
inspections by the Westminster licensing team in recent years and no issues 
have been noted. 

4 The premises were previously licensed as a betting shop (Betfred) 
with a Betting Shop (Other) licence under the Gambling Act 2005 
from October 2010.  The licence was surrendered in November 
2020. 

The applicant is not aware that there were any issues with the operation of 
the premises as a Betting Shop. 

 Policy Considerations 

 LOC1 

5 Policy LOC1 of Westminster’s Statement of Licensing Principles for 
Gambling states that ‘a sensitive location is defined as any 
premises which is within close proximity or on a main route to a 
school, educational institution, hostel or other sensitive locations 
where there is the potential for exposing children, young people 
or other vulnerable persons to gambling’. The proposed location 
of this new adult gaming centre must be considered as part of this 
application due to the local area profile and its potential to impact 
upon the promotion of the 3 gambling objectives. 

The applicant acknowledges that the premises falls within a ‘sensitive 
location’.  The risk assessment has been updated and the local area profile 
has been considered in detail. The applicant is experienced in operating Adult 
Gaming Centres close to similar premises and is also experienced in dealing 
with any potential risk of under 18s trying to use its premises. As stated 
above, consideration has also been given to other vulnerable persons. The 
above is evidenced by the fact that Silvertime have operated in Westminster 
for 7 years at their Edgware Road premises. In this period there have been at 
least three inspections by the Westminster licensing team in recent years and 
no issues have been noted. 
 
 

page 134



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

The applicant has policies and procedures in place to protect children and 
young people. Again, all staff are fully trained in this area. 
 
Policies 
‘children and young people’ are covered in the relevant policies used by the 
applicant: 
-Bacta ToolKit; and 
-Bacta Social Responsibility Charter and Code of Practice. 
 
Poster and Signage 
Please see attached documents. Signs are very clearly placed on the front 
door and are highly visible to those outside the shop stating: “it is against the 
law for persons under the age of 18 to enter the premises”.   Challenge/Think 
25 will be implemented inside the shop by staff who will be on the shop floor.   
 
As set out in the proposed further conditions below: “There shall be 2 
members of staff present at all times the premises are open to the public”. 
This will ensure there is always a member of staff free to conduct these 
checks. There is also the proposed condition that: “Between 10pm and 6am 
there will be an SIA registered door person employed at the front door of the 
premises. The need for an SIA door person at other times will be risk 
assessed.”  
 
Window Signage 
The only promotional material used will be standard posters in the window. 
None of the promotional material will be of a type which would encourage 
the use of premises by children or young people. This would be wholly self-
defeating as children and young people are not allowed access to the 
premises in any event. Further, the applicant complies with the Licence 
Conditions and Codes of Practice, which require compliance with the ASA’s 
advertising codes of practice. 
 
Training 

page 135



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

The staff are tested in relation to their understanding of ‘exposing children 
and young people to gambling’ at regular intervals, as part of their training 
programme.  
 
Additional Proposed Conditions 
8. The Licensee shall maintain a bound and paginated ‘Challenge 25 
Refusals’ register at the premises. The register shall be produced to the police 
or licensing authority forthwith on request. 
9. Prominent signage and notices advertising the Challenge 25 will be 
displayed showing the operation of such policy.  
10. Third party testing on age restricted sales systems purchasing shall 
take at least twice a year and the results shall be provided to the Licensing 
Authority upon request.  
11. A Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises 
where the only acceptable forms of identification are recognised 
photographic identification cards, such as a driving licence, passport or proof 
of age card with the PASS Hologram. 
14. Between 10pm and 6am there will be an SIA registered door person 
employed at the front door of the premises. The need for an SIA door person 
at other times will be risk assessed. 
15. There shall be 2 members of staff present at all times the premises 
are open to the public. 
 
 

6 Paragraph 27.1 of Westminster’s Statement of Licensing Principles 
for Gambling states ‘Adult gaming centres (AGCs) premises 
licences allow the holder of the licence to make gaming machines 
available for use on the premises. An AGC premises licence 
granted after the 13th July 2011 may make available for use a 
number of category B gaming machines not exceeding 20% of the 
total number of gaming machines which are available for use on 
the premises and any number of category C or D machines’. 

The applicant is aware of this requirement. Please see attached plan setting 
out the location of gaming machines within the premises. There will be 40 x 
Category D, 52 x Category C and 23 x Category B3 machines in the venue.  
 
The applicant’s low stake Category D machine provision will provide an 
alternative to the several casinos in the area which offer large numbers of 
high stake and prize machines.  
 

page 136



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

7 Paragraph 27.2 goes on to state ‘Gaming machines are a form of 
gambling which is attractive to children and AGC’s will contain 
machines of a similar format to the Category D machines on which 
children are allowed to play. However, no-one under the age of 18 
is permitted to enter an AGC and applicants must be aware of the 
location of and entry to AGC’s to minimise the opportunities for 
children to gain access’. 

The applicant is aware of this, please see 5 above. 
 
In the applicant’s experience, children are not attracted to enter its premises 
in any event, but it has adequate safeguards to ensure that they do not. 

8 The Licensing Authority notes that within the risk assessment it 
states that Signage & window display not to attract under 18s, and 
advise under 18’s access is prohibited.  
Can the applicant provide further submissions as to the placement 
of this signage in the windows to show its visibility from outside 
the premises and explain further what checks will be in place in 
terms of ID checks? Is it proposed for SIA door staff to be present 
and conduct these checks?   

The applicant is aware of this, please see 5 above. 

9 Paragraph 27.3 states ‘Because gaming machines provide 
opportunities for solitary play and immediate payouts, they are 
more likely to engender repetitive and excessive play. The council 
in considering premises licences will specifically have regard to the 
need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or 
being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to 
satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to, for 
example, ensure that under 18 year olds are not attracted to, or 
gain access to, the premises.’ 

The applicant is aware of this, please see 5 above. 

10 Paragraph 27.6 sates: The council has created a Byelaw for 
Pleasure Fairs (Amusement Premises) in pursuance of section 75 
of the Public Health Act 1961 (the 1961 Act) as amended by 
section 22 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. These byelaws apply to Adult Gaming Centres as the 
premises are used to provide amusement with prizes machines 
(gaming machines) or entertainment machines which are used to 
play games where there are no chance of winning prizes. 

The applicant is advised that an adult gaming centre is not a pleasure fair 
within the meaning of section 75 of the Public Health Act 1961. However, the 
licensing and health and safety authority have sufficient power to regulate 
the operation to achieve the protective purposes of the byelaw in any event. 
If, contrary to its advice, the 1961 Act does apply to adult gaming centres, 
Silvertime will comply with it. This does not require to be resolved by the 
Licensing Sub-Committee as part of the application process. 

page 137



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

11 As stated previously the Licensing Authority notes that this 
premises is situated in close proximity to a large number of 
licensed premises. Due to the nature of those businesses they can 
attract a variety of age groups including the vulnerable. Due to the 
premises location, the local area profile is something that should 
be considered when determining this application. 

The applicant is aware and has reviewed the local area profile for the 
application premises.    Having considered the local area profile and other 
relevant factors, further conditions have been offered in support of the 
application. These include the following specific related conditions: 
 
14. Between 10pm and 6am there will be an SIA registered door person 
employed at the front door of the premises. The need for an SIA door person 
at other times will be risk assessed. 
15. There shall be 2 members of staff present at all times the premises 
are open to the public. 
17. The licensee will refuse entry to customers who appear to be under 
the influence of alcohol or drugs. 
24. Staff will also undergo drug and alcohol awareness training. 
25. The Licensee shall take all reasonable steps to prevent street drinking 
of alcohol directly outside the premises and to ban from the premises those 
who do so.  
26. The Licensee shall place a notice visible from the exterior of the 
premises stating that customers drinking alcohol outside the premises is not 
permitted and those who do so will be banned from the premises. 
 
Additionally please see response 1 in relation to ‘vulnerable persons’. 

 AGC1 

12 Policy AGC1 states ‘Applications will be determined, subject to 
relevant criteria in policies OBJ1, OBJ2, OBJ3 and other polices 
within the Statement of Licensing Principles for Gambling’. 

The applicant is aware of Policy AGC1, further information set out below 
considers policies OBJ1, OBJ2, OBJ3 and other polices within the Statement of 
Licensing Principles for Gambling. 

 OBJ1 

13 Policy OBJ1 states ‘To prevent gambling from being a source of 
crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder, or 
being used to support crime, the Licensing Authority will apply the 
following criteria and take into account the following 
considerations, where relevant, in determining applications. 

The applicant is aware of OBJ1, please see responses below. 

page 138



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

13a Paragraph 11.1 states ‘Whether the premises make or will make a 
contribution to the levels of crime and disorder and whether the 
applicant has demonstrated that he has, or intends to, implement 
sufficient controls to prevent gambling from being a source of, 
and/or associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support 
crime, if the application is granted.’ 

Having considered the local area profile and other relevant factors, further 
conditions have been offered in support of the application. These include the 
following specific conditions relating to crime and disorder: 
 
3. A comprehensive CCTV system shall be installed and maintained on 
the premises as required by the Metropolitan Police Licensing Team. CCTV 
should cover the following: 
a) All entry and exit points to and from the premises enabling frontal 
identification of every person entering under any light conditions 
b) The areas of the premises to which the public have access (excluding 
toilets) 
c) Gaming machines and the counter area 
4. The CCTV shall continue to record activities 24 hour a day for 31 days. 
5. CCTV shall be made available for the police viewing at any time with 
minimum delays when requested. 
6. The premises shall display notices near the entrance of the venue 
stating that CCTV is in operation. 
7. A ‘spotter monitor’ shall be placed inside the premises near the front 
door showing CCTV images of customers entering ,exiting and whilst on the 
premises. 
12. A magnetic locking device, commonly referred to as a Maglock will be 
installed and maintained on the main entrance/exit to the premises which 
will be operable by staff.  
13. Staff will receive a notification when the front door opens. 
14. Between 10pm and 6am there will be an SIA registered door person 
employed at the front door of the premises. The need for an SIA door person 
at other times will be risk assessed. 
15. There shall be 2 members of staff present at all times the premises 
are open to the public. 
16. The Licensee shall implement a policy of banning any customers who 
engage in crime or disorder within or outside the premises. 
17. The licensee will refuse entry to customers who appear to be under 
the influence of alcohol or drugs. 

page 139



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

18. The licensee shall install and maintain an intruder alarm on the 
premises. 
19. The premises shall install and maintain fixed panic buttons and in 
addition portable panic buttons will be worn by staff. 
20. The licensee will ensure that customer toilets are checked every hour 
for evidence of drug taking. Toilet checks are to be documented stating the 
time and member of staff who made the checks. Toilets will remain locked at 
all times with access being provided by staff. 
24. Staff will also undergo drug and alcohol awareness training. 
25. The Licensee shall take all reasonable steps to prevent street drinking 
of alcohol directly outside the premises and to ban from the premises those 
who do so.  
26. The Licensee shall place a notice visible from the exterior of the 
premises stating that customers drinking alcohol outside the premises is not 
permitted and those who do so will be banned from the premises. 
Recording of Incidents and Visits  
27. An incident log shall be kept for the premises and made available on 
request to an authorised officer of the City Council or the Police which will 
record the following; 
a. All crimes reported to the venue; 
b. Any complaints received regarding crime and disorder; 
c. Any incidents of disorder; 
d. Any faults in the CCTV system; and 
e. Any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service. 

13b Paragraph 11.1.1 states ‘Where an area is known for high levels of 
crime the council will consider carefully whether gambling 
premises are suitable to be located there, and whether additional 
conditions may be necessary, such as the provision of CCTV, 
minimum levels of staffing and licensed door supervisors, etc.’ 

Please see above in 13a, the proposed additional conditions offered in 
relation to crime and disorder concerns, including the specific CCTV, staffing 
and door staff conditions. 

13c Paragraph 11.1.4 states ‘Whether the layout, lighting and fitting 
out of the premises have been designed so as to minimise conflict 
and opportunities for crime and disorder.’ 

As with all Silvertime premises the layout is such that there are good lines of 
sight over the gaming machines.  All premises are well lit and the fit out is 
designed to minimise conflict and opportunities for crime and disorder.   
 

page 140



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

Additional measures also include the ‘spotter monitor’ being placed inside 
the premises near the front door showing CCTV images of customers 
entering, exiting and whilst on the premises.  
 
A magnetic locking device, commonly referred to as a Maglock will be 
installed and maintained on the main entrance/exit to the premises which 
will be operable by staff. Staff will receive a notification when the front door 
opens, all of the above measures are contained in the proposed additional 
conditions. 

 OBJ2 

14 Policy OBJ2 states ‘To ensure that gambling is conducted in a fair 
and open way, the Licensing Authority will apply the following 
criteria and take into account the following considerations, where 
relevant, in determining applications.’ 

The applicant is aware of OBJ2, please see responses below. 

14a Paragraph 12.1.2 states ‘Whether sufficient management 
measures are proposed or are in place to ensure that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open way.’ 

Gambling in a ‘fair and open way’ is covered in both the risk assessment and 
Policies and Procedures. 
Risk Assessment 
The risk assessment sets out the following steps: 
-All machines purchased from manufactures/suppliers licensed by the 
Gambling Commission; 
-Machines maintained by qualified engineers; 
-Machines turned off should a fault occur; 
-Complaints procedure and forms available on premises; 
-Regular staff training on company policy; 
-Registered with ADR Entity – Bacta ADR Service; 
-Compliant with Bacta Policies & Procedures; 
-Fully co-operative with Council requirements as evidenced by applicant’s 
other sites and in particular at 426 Edgware Road W2 1EG that is under the 
authority of Westminster City Council; 
-Terms and Conditions Signage produced in a variety of appropriate 
languages and displayed at entrance; 
-Promotional activity clearly communicated in a variety of appropriate 
languages and displayed around the premises. 

page 141



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

 
Policies 
‘Fair and open’ is covered in the Bacta ToolKit under ‘Fair and Open Practice 
and Dispute Resolution’ used by the applicant. 
 
Complaint Procedure 
Please see attached the Complaint Procedure that clearly sets out how 
customers can make a complaint, should the need arise. 
 
Training  
The staff are questioned in relation to their understanding of ‘ensuring that 
gambling is conducted in a fair and open way’ at regular intervals, as part of 
their training programme.  

14b Paragraph 12.1.3 states ‘Whether the management and operation 
of the premises is open and transparent.’  

Please see above point 14 a and 14 c below.  The applicant can also confirm 
that  its ‘terms and conditions’ will be provided to customers in a clear, 
timely, intelligible, unambiguous, transparent, non-misleading and prominent 
manner, by being set out at the entrance to the premises.  It can also be 
confirmed that the only promotional material used, will be standard posters 
in the window. No promotional material will be ‘off site’.  

14c Paragraph 12.1.4 states ‘Whether the operators of the premises 
have been or will be fully cooperative with enforcement agencies.’ 

The applicant has and will always be fully co-operative with enforcement 
agencies.  This is reflected in the liaison that will take place with PC Bryan 
Lewis, in relation to the proposed conditions, although no representation was 
received from the Police. In addition this can be evidenced by the fact that 
Silvertime have operated in Westminster for 7 years at their Edgware Road 
premises. In this period there have been at least three inspections by the 
Westminster licensing team in recent years and no issues have been noted. 
 
Policies 
 ‘Cooperation with enforcement agencies’ is also covered in the Bacta ToolKit 
under ‘Access to Premises by the Gambling Commission’s Enforcement 
Officers’ used by the applicant. This relates specifically to Gambling 
Commission enforcement officers. 

page 142



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

Training 
The staff are tested in relation to their understanding of ‘access to the 
premises by the statutory authorities’ at regular intervals, as part of their 
training programme.  
 
 

14d It would be useful for the applicant to provide further information 
into their operation of other licensed premises under the 
Gambling Act 2005 to obtain an understanding of their 
management and operation of such premises. Again this pertinent 
point has not been included within the applicant submission and 
therefore clarity is needed. 

The applicant attaches a full list of all Adult Gaming Centres operated by 
them under the Gambling Act 2005. These are all in high street locations.  
 
The applicant is a small independent operator with the owner adopting a very 
hands on approach. There is also an operations manager and compliance 
manager to support the owner. Regulatory returns are submitted to the 
Gambling Commission.  
 
The applicant’s Adult Gaming Centres operate without issues and operate as 
standard Adult Gaming Centres which promote the licensing objectives: 
through their policies and procedures including the BACTA tool kit, the 
training given to all staff, the Local Area Risk Assessments and other risk 
assessments undertaken and the strong management control implemented 
by the applicant.   
 
The applicant has first-hand experience of operating within Westminster, 
having operated its AGC on Edgware Road for seven years.  These premises 
have been visited by Westminster Licensing Officers on a number of 
occasions and no negative comments about the operation have been made. 
 
The applicant has never been subject to enforcement action or had a 
premises licence review.  
   

 OBJ3 

15 Policy OBJ3 states ‘To protect children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, the 
Licensing Authority will apply the following criteria and take into 

The applicant is aware of OBJ3, please see responses above at 1 & 5, as well 
as below. 

page 143



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

account the following considerations, where relevant, in 
determining applications.’ 

15a Paragraph 13.1 states ‘Whether there are appropriate measures in 
place to protect children and other vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling.’ 

The applicant takes the protection of children and other vulnerable persons 
extremely seriously.  All staff are trained in relation to this.  The training is 
logged and recorded, with refresher training taking place every 6 months.  
Please see above responses to 1 & 5. 
 
 

15b Paragraph 13.1.1 asks the Licensing Authority to consider whether 
the operator has a specific training programme for staff to ensure 
that they are able to identify children and vulnerable people and 
take appropriate action to be reasonably consistent with this 
objective to exclude them from the premises or parts of the 
premises. 

The applicant can confirm that it does have specific training programmes for 
staff to ensure that they are able to identify children and vulnerable people.  
Please see below response for further details on how training is delivered. 

15c The applicant has stated in the risk assessment that there will be 
training for staff. Although the applicant has advised this, there is 
no actual content about what measures or training staff 
undertake. Therefore it would be useful for the applicant to 
provide details of what training staff will undertake in terms of 
identifying vulnerable people and providing sufficient and 
effective support to those people?  

The training provided to staff is provided by each Venue Manager, with the 
overall responsibility being with the Compliance Manager. The applicant’s 
policies and procedures, including the BACTA tool kit are relied on. Each new 
member of staff would also spend time working under an experienced 
manager in an existing shop as set out in the applicant’s statement. Hands on 
training is given by the managers. This training provides that staff are given 
an understanding of identifying children and vulnerable people, gambling 
related harm, why people are gambling and how to protect the vulnerable. 
The training includes; 
• identifying children and Age Verification, 
• Identifying safe gambling,  
• identifying the signs of problem gambling, 
• staff detection of problem gambling and protection of the vulnerable, 
• implementation of know your customer,  
• staff trained to encourage customers to think about their gambling, 

directing customers to information about safer gambling and/or 
suggesting appropriate gambling management tools such as self-
exclusion or specialist support from organisations which deal with 
advice and treatment, 

page 144



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

• information about safer gambling is readily available to customers, 
• how to interact with customers, record interactions and act on the    

written interactions providing the right help and support. 

15d The Licensing Authority notes within the risk assessment that the 
premises will have notices and leaflets promoting Gamcare which 
is a charity supporting those with gambling addictions. 
Information on the following points would be useful in assessing 
the considerations of paragraph 13.1.1 above: 

Please see below responses. Please also note that an additional condition has 
been proposed to ensure this takes place: 
21. Prominent GamCare documentation will be displayed at the premises 
and other notices promoting responsible gambling. 

15e Does the applicant have a referral scheme in place, in regards to 
self-exclusion? 

Yes, the applicant has a self-exclusion referral scheme - the BACTA self-
exclusion referral scheme. This self-exclusion referral scheme allows the 
applicant to input details of a self-excluder and then tell other operators 
nearby that a particular person has self-excluded and that they will in the 
usual way need to stop them entering the premises should they try. Any 
attempted breaches of a self-exclusion can be recorded on the system. The 
system uses a 1000 metre radius from the postcode of the AGC to determine 
which other AGCs are relevant. 
 
Policies 
‘Self Exclusion’ is covered in the relevant policies used by the applicant: 
-Bacta ToolKit; 
-Bacta Social Responsibility Charter and Code of Practice; and 
-Bacta Self -Exclusion Services Application. 
 
Training  
The staff are questioned in relation to their understanding of ‘Self-Exclusion’ 
at regular intervals, as part of their training programme.  
 

15f Is the onus on the individual to self-exclude from a premises? If so, 
how does an individual go about this? 

The first point of contact for self-exclusion is the staff at the premises who 
are trained to approach and speak to/interact with any customer displaying 
any signs of problem gambling. Customers may directly request help 
themselves for a gambling related problem or be approached by staff who 
spot signs of problem gambling. Customers may ask to self-exclude or request 
details of gambling help services or they may speak to a member of staff and 

page 145



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

indirectly refer to concerns about their gambling habits. Staff also are trained 
and have a duty of care towards customers who wish to self-exclude and staff 
will refer these individuals to other self-exclusion schemes operated by other 
gambling sectors as well as care agencies and helplines such as GamCare or 
Gamble Aware. Staff are trained to ensure that information about self-
exclusion is provided in a discreet and confidential manner and the procedure 
is thoroughly explained. If a customer refuses to self-exclude and/or the staff 
believes that the customer is vulnerable or at risk then the customer will not 
be allowed to gamble at the premises. Staff are trained to identify, evaluate 
and interact. 

15g What links does the premises have with local services to provide 
support? 

The applicant has already liaised with the local police and will continue to do 
so if the application is granted. The applicant approached all those who made 
representations through the Council and suggested a meeting; to date it has 
not received any response. The applicant will liaise with all support services 
to discuss what support can be given. 

15h Will the applicant propose to advertise any promotional material 
associated with the premises? This could encourage the use of the 
premises by children or young people. 

The only promotional material used will be standard posters in the window. 
No promotional material will be ‘off site’. None of the promotional material 
will be of a type which would encourage the use of premises by children or 
young people. This would be wholly self-defeating as children and young 
people are not allowed access to the premises in any event. 
The applicant always ensures compliance with the LCCP on socially 
responsible advertising, which in turn imports the ASA’s CAP code and 
industry codes. 

15j How will the applicant control customers from bringing alcohol 
onto the premises to consume whilst gaming? Or entering the 
premises in an intoxicated state? 

Staff patrol the shop floor and control the door at all times. Alcohol is not 
permitted by law. Any patrons bringing alcohol or attempting to bring alcohol 
into the premises will be immediately asked to leave. Staff are trained in 
drugs and alcohol awareness. Any patrons who appear under the influence 
will also not be allowed to enter the premises. There is clear signage on the 
front door and inside the venue stating no alcohol permitted. There is also a 
maglock in use at the discretion of the staff to control persons entering. 

16 Should this application for an Adult Gaming Centre be granted a 
list of Mandatory Conditions will be attached to the licence. These 
have been included with this representation as Appendix E. 

The applicant is aware that the Mandatory Conditions will be attached to the 
licence and will comply with them.  

page 146



Silvertime Amusements Limited - Response to Licensing Authority Representation  

17 The Licensing Authority require the applicant to confirm the 
number of machines/categories of those machines, that will be at 
the premises. 

There will be 40 x Category D, 52 x Category C and 23 x Category B3 machines 
in the venue. 

18 It would also assist if the applicant could provide an updated plan 
showing the location of the machines and the location of CCTV 
cameras. 

Please see attached plan. The CCTV cameras will provide full internal and 
external coverage. 

 

page 147



page 148



page 149



SilverTime SilverTime
116-118, BURNT OAK BROADWAY 527 HIGH ROAD 
BURNT OAK, EDGWARE. HA8 0BB WEMBLEY HA0 2DH 

SilverTime SilverTime
53 HIGH STREET 426 EDGWARE ROAD 
HARLESDEN NW10 4NJ London W2 1EG

SilverTime SilverTime
10 PEMBRIDGE ROAD 10 BANK BUILDINGS 
LONDON W11 3HL HARLESDEN NW10 4LT

SilverTime SilverTime
446 HIGH ROAD (Corner Park Lane) 169 Earls Court Road
WEMBLEY HA9 6AH London SW5 9RF

SilverTime
509 HIGH ROAD 
WEMBLEY HA0 2DH 

page 150



42 

PS/2016/Oct31/v16/01 

Complaint Procedure 
 

 

The Company endeavours to provide a high quality service to its customers and members of staff are trained 

how to deal with complaints at the initial stage.  However, if you believe that things have gone wrong and 

your complaint was not resolved to your satisfaction at our premises, then please inform us as we take such 

reports seriously.  
 

The Company will review your complaint and will be dealt with by: 
  

 

(name)…………………………….......................................... who is (job title) ………………………………............................... 

 

at (address)……………………………………...................................................................................................................... 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................... 

 

Email Address: ...................................................................................................................................................... 

 
 

How to make a complaint 
 

• Complaints, which we will deal with confidentially, should be submitted in writing, by letter 

or e-mail.   
 

• The attached form should be used to record and submit complaints.   

 

• Give as much detail as possible including details of independent witnesses and any other 

relevant information in order to assist the Company in the investigative process. 
 
What happens next? 
 

The Company will investigate and provide a full explanation of what we have done within 15 working days of 

receiving a complaint.  If this is not possible we will explain why and give a date by which a full response can 

be expected. 

 

If you are not satisfied with our response 
 

If you are still not satisfied with our response to the complaint, you may consider writing to an alternative 

dispute resolution (ADR) entity requesting that the matter be reviewed, enclosing all previous 

correspondence relating to the complaint including the original complaint form. The ADR entity will 

acknowledge receipt of your correspondence without undue delay and, after review, inform you of its 

findings and recommendations, usually within 60 days. The review process is thorough and based upon the 

information that both parties and other independent sources provide.  
 

 

This Company is registered with the following  ADR entity: 
 
Name of ADR Entity: bacta ADR Service 
 
Email Address:  enqs@bactaadrservice.org.uk 
 
Website:  www.bactaadrservice.org.uk 
 
Postal Address:  29-30 Ely Place, London EC1N 6TD 
 
It is highly recommended that you visit the ADR entity’s website (as above) so that you are fully aware of 
the procedural rules and other related information. 

page 151



43 

PS/2016/Oct31/v16/01 

Complaint Form 
 
CUSTOMER  

 
Name:  ……………………………………………………………………………………...................................................................................... 

 

Address: …………………………………………………………………………………….................................................................................... 

 

……………………………………………………………..................................................... Postcode ……………………................................ 

 

Daytime Telephone No .: .................……………………………………………………......................................................................... 

 

E-mail address:  ............................…………………………………………………………………………….................................................... 

 

Signature: ...........................................................................   Date: ................................................................................. 

 

Is this an initial complaint or a follow up to a previous incident? 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

VENUE WHERE COMPLAINT OCCURRED 
 

Reference (if known):......................................................................................................................................................... 

 

Company: ........................................................................................................................................................................... 

 

Name of Premises: ………………………………………………………………........................................................................................... 

 

Address: …………………………………………………………………………................................................................................................. 

 

……………………………………………………………………………………….................................................................................................. 

 

Name(s) of staff member(s) that you initially raised your complaint with: ....................................................................... 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

 

Date of Incident: ............................................................................................................................................................ 

 

Time of Incident: ............................................................................................................................................................ 

 

Names & Addresses or contact telephone numbers of any independent witnesses. 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..... 

 

 

Name and Category of Gambling Machine subject of complaint: ………………………………………………………………………………. 

page 152



44 

PS/2016/Oct31/v16/01 

A clear and comprehensive account of the complaint and what you are seeking as redress to resolve the matter: 
 

……………………………………………………………………………………….................................................................................................. 

 

……………………………………………………………………………………….................................................................................................. 

 

……………………………………………………………………………………….................................................................................................. 

 

……………………………………………………………………………………….................................................................................................. 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

............................................................................................................................................................................................ 

 

......................................................................................................................Please use continuation sheet(s) if required. 
 

Signed………………………………………………………………………   (Complainant)         ……………………………………………………….. (date) 

 

 

For Office Use Only 
 

Appointed Manager dealing:        …………………………………………….   ……………………………………..................(Mobile Number) 

 

Complaint Acknowledged (Y/N): ……………….…………………………..     ……………………………………………………………………... (date)  

 

Details of action to resolve taken by Company: ……..……………………………………………………………………………………………………. 

 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 

 

 
If complaint still unresolved by Company 
 
Complainant referred to ADR Entity (Y/N); ……………………………….   ……………………………………………………………………..(date) 

 

Name of ADR Entity:  …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

Company Complaint Policy & Procedure Document given to Complainant(Y/N): ………………     ………………………….(date) 

                

page 153



45 

PS/2016/Oct31/v16/01 

RECORD OF COMPLAINTS 
 

 

Date of 

Complaint 

Name of 

Complainant 

Date Complaint 

Resolved by 

Company 

Date Referred to 

BACTA ADR 

Service 

(if not resolved)  

Date Complaint 

resolved to 

satisfaction of 

both parties 

Outcome and 

Gambling 

Commission 

informed  

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

 
To be retained on Site   Company:         Site Reference:        Serial No.      /               

  

page 154



page 155



 
Licensing Authority Supporting Documents          Appendix 3 
 
Appendix A 
 

 
 
 

page 156



Appendix B 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 157



Appendix C 

 
 
 

page 158



Appendix D 
 
Pleasure Fairs (Amusement Premises) Byelaw  
 
Byelaws for the regulation of hours during which amusement premises may be open to the 
public; for the securing of safe and adequate means of ingress to and egress from amusement 
premises; for the prevention and suppression of nuisances and for the preservation of sanitary 
conditions, cleanliness, order and public safety at amusement premises; for the prevention of 
outbreaks of fire which might endanger structures used or intended for use in connection with 
amusement premises, and for reducing the risk of, and the spread of fire from, such outbreaks; 
made by the Westminster City Council in pursuance of Section 75 of the Public Health Act 
1961, as amended by Section 22 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976.  
 
1. (a) These byelaws shall apply only to pleasure fairs within the meaning of Section 75(2) of 
the Public Health Act 1961 which are amusement premises:  
(b) These byelaws shall not apply to premises licensed or registered under Part II of the Gaming 
Act 1968 or to members clubs and miners welfare institutes registered under Part III of that Act.  
 
2. In these byelaws, except where the context otherwise requires, the following expressions 
have the following meanings respectively, that is to say:  
(a) "Amusement premises" means any place used wholly or mainly to provide entertainments 
within the meaning of Section 75(3)(f) of the Public Health Act 1961, and shall include any 
stationary vehicle, vessel, stall, caravan, trailer or tent where the above applies.  
(b) "The Council" means the Westminster City Council.  
(c) "Manager" means the person having control of the entertainments provided within the 
meaning of Section 75(3)(f) at the amusement premises.  
 
Regulation of opening hours  
 
3. (1) The manager shall not keep the amusement premises open between the hours of 12 
midnight and 9am.  
(2) The Council, may by resolution, fix a later hour in substitution for the hour of 12 midnight in 
this byelaw for the closing of amusement premises or specified classes of amusement premises 
on specified dates or during specified periods or generally.  
 
4. (1) The manager shall give to the proper officer of the Council at least 5 days prior notice in 
writing of the intention to use any amusement premises specifying therein the dates and place 
at which such amusement premises are to be used.  
(2) The notice to be given under this byelaw shall be in addition to and not in substitution for any 
notice required to be given under any other enactment.  
(3) In this byelaw "proper officer" means an officer appointed for the purpose of the Council.  
 
5. (1) The manager shall take such steps as are reasonably practicable to ensure that there are 
provided such entrances and exits to the amusement premises as will enable persons using the 
amusement premises (including disabled persons) to be safe and free from risks to health and 
while such persons are present on the premises every exit provided for their use shall be 
unsecured and free from obstruction.  
(2) The manager shall cause to be exhibited over each exit from the amusement premises a 
notice bearing the word 'EXIT' in letters of sufficient size to ensure it is legible at the maximum 
viewing distance.  
6. No person shall place or cause to be placed any obstruction in any exit or gangway provided 
in accordance with these byelaws while any persons are using the amusement premises.  
Nuisances, sanitary conditions, cleanliness, order and public safety  
 

page 159



7. The manager shall ensure that at all times when the amusement premises are open for 
business, there is in operation such lighting as is adequate to enable persons using the 
premises to be safe.  
 
8. The manager shall ensure that the internal parts of the amusement premises are maintained 
in good repair and condition in order that persons using the premises shall be safe at all times 
when the premises are open for business.  
 
9. The manager shall take such steps as are reasonably practicable to ensure that:-  
(a) a sufficient number of unobstructed gangways are provided and maintained in the 
amusement premises;  
(b) amusement machines, seats and other furnishings and structures are distributed in order 
that the amusement premises shall, at all times when they are open for business, be safe for 
persons using the premises (including disabled persons).  
 
10. The manager shall ensure that all parts of the premises (including sanitary accommodation) 
are kept as clean as is reasonably practicable.  
 
11. The manager shall take such steps as are reasonably practicable to ensure that every 
machine provided at the amusement premises is properly and safely installed.  
 
12. The manager shall not knowingly permit:-  
(a) the amusement premises to be used for soliciting for the purpose of prostitution nor as a 
habitual resort or place of meeting of reputed prostitutes but this does not prohibit the manager 
from permitting such persons to remain on the premises for the purpose of using the 
amusement machines for such time as is necessary for that purpose.  
 
(b) any person who is drunk or disorderly to enter or remain on the amusement premises.  
13. The manager shall take such steps as are reasonably practicable to ensure that the external 
doors to the amusement premises suppress noise emanating from those premises where by 
means of the doors being fitted with a device for automatic closure or by any other similar 
means.  
 
14. The manager shall ensure that the amusement premises are under the supervision of at 
least one responsible person at all times when those premises are open for business.  
Fire protection. 
 
15. (1) The manager shall:  
(a) Consult the fire authority regarding a means of fighting fire for use in the amusement 
premises; and  
(b) Provide and maintain reasonable means of fighting fire having regard to all the 
circumstances including the size, nature and age of the amusement premises; and  
(c) Keep the means for fighting fire in a place where it is readily available for use.  
(2) In this byelaw 'maintain' means to maintain in an efficient state in efficient working order and 
in good repair.  
 
Penalty  
 
16. Any person offending against any of the foregoing byelaws shall be liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding £400.  
 
Defence  
 
17. It shall be a defence for a person to prove that he had taken all reasonable precautions and 
exercised all due diligence to prevent the commission of an offence under these byelaws. 
 
 

page 160



Appendix E 
 
These are the mandatory conditions for an AGC:  
 
1.A notice must be displayed at all entrances to AGCs stating that no person under the age of 
18 years will be admitted to the premises. 
 
2.There can be no direct access between an AGC and any other premises licensed under the 
Act or premises with a family entertainment centre (FEC),club gaming, club machine or alcohol 
licensed premises gaming machine permit. (England and Wales only). There is no definition of 
‘direct access’ in the Act or regulations, although licensing authorities may consider that there 
should be an area separating the premises concerned, such as a street or cafe, which the 
public go to for purposes other than gambling, for there to beno direct access. 
 
3.Any ATM made available for use on the premises shall be located in a place that requires any 
customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling at any gaming machine in order to do so. 
 
4.The consumption of alcohol in AGCs is prohibited at any time during which facilities for 
gambling are being provided on the premises. Additionally in Scotland the sale of alcohol on the 
premises is specifically prohibited. A notice stating this should be displayed in a prominent place 
at every entrance to the premises. 

 
 
 

page 161



 
 
Premises History         Appendix 4 

 
 

Licence Number Application Type 
 

Date Determined Decision 

09/08556/LIGPN Gaming Machine 
Permit  

02.11.2009 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

10/06211/LIGN New Gambling 
premises licence  

28.10.2010 Granted by Licensing 
Sub-Committee 

11/12461/LIGV Gambling Variation 
application 

06.02.2012 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

15/10449/LIGD Request for a 
duplicate licence 

17.11.2015 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 
 
Surrendered 
November 2020 

page 162



 
 

Appendix 5 
 
CONDITIONS CONSISTENT WITH THE OPERATING SCHEDULE AND CONDITIONS 
PROPOSED BY A PARTY TO THE HEARING  
 
When determining an application for a new premises licence under the provisions of the 
Licensing Act 2003, the licensing authority must, unless it decides to reject the application, grant 
the licence subject to the conditions which are indicated as mandatory in this schedule. 
 
At a hearing the licensing authority may, in addition, and having regard to any representations 
received, grant the licence subject to such conditions which are consistent with the operating 
schedule submitted by the applicant as part of their application, or alter or omit these conditions, 
or add any new condition to such extent as the licensing authority considers necessary for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
This schedule lists those conditions which are consistent with the operating schedule, or 
proposed as necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives by a responsible authority 
or an interested party as indicated. These conditions have not been submitted by the licensing 
service but reflect the positions of the applicant, responsible authority or interested party and 
have not necessarily been agreed 
 
Mandatory Conditions 
 
1. A notice must be displayed at all entrances to AGCs stating that no person under 

the age of 18 years will be admitted to the premises. 
 
2. There can be no direct access between an AGC and any other premises licensed 

under the Act or premises with a family entertainment centre (FEC), club gaming, club 
machine or alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permit. (England and Wales 
only). There is no definition of ‘direct access’ in the Act or regulations, although 
licensing authorities may consider that there should be an area separating the 
premises concerned, such as a street or cafe, which the public go to for purposes 
other than gambling, for there to be no direct access. 

 
3. Any ATM made available for use on the premises shall be located in a place that 

requires any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling at any gaming 
machine in order to do so. 

 
4. The consumption of alcohol in AGCs is prohibited at any time during which facilities 

for gambling are being provided on the premises. Additionally in Scotland the sale of 
alcohol on the premises is specifically prohibited. A notice stating this should be 
displayed in a prominent place at every entrance to the premises. 

 
Conditions consistent with the operating schedule 
 
5.  A direct telephone number to the manager of the premises will be available at all times 

the premises is open. This number shall be made available to residents and businesses 
in the vicinity.  

6.  The licensee will liaise with any residents who would like to be contacted quarterly to 
discuss the operation of the AGC and any issues.  

7.  The licensee shall organise and participate in a meeting for local residents and 
residents' associations to discuss the operation of the premises at least once every six 
months. The licensee shall directly notify local residents and residents’ associations of 
the meeting date and venue at least two weeks before the meeting.  

page 163



  
8. The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as per the 

minimum requirements of the Westminster Police Licensing Team.  
(a) All entry and exit points will be covered enabling frontal identification of every person 
entering in any light condition.  
(b) The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable 
activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises and will include 
the gaming area, office, toilet entrance, any seating and external area immediately 
outside the premises entrance.  
(c) All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time 
stamping.  
(d) Viewing of recordings shall be made available immediately upon the request of 
Police or authorised officer throughout the entire 31-day period. 

 
9. A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV 

system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises is open. This staff 
member must be able to provide a Police or authorised council officer copies of recent 
CCTV images or data with the absolute minimum of delay when requested. 

 
10.  The premises shall display notices near the entrance of the venue stating that CCTV is 

in operation.  
 
11.  A ‘spotter monitor’ shall be placed inside the premises near the front door showing 

CCTV images of customers entering, exiting and whilst on the premises.  
 
12.  A Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises where the only 

acceptable forms of identification are recognised photographic identification cards, such 
as a driving licence, passport or proof of age card with the PASS Hologram.  

13.  The Licensee shall maintain a bound and paginated ‘Challenge 25 Refusals’ register at 
the premises. The register shall be produced to the police or licensing authority forthwith 
on request.  

14.  Prominent signage and notices advertising the Challenge 25 will be displayed showing 
the operation of such policy.  

15.  Third party testing on age restricted sales systems purchasing shall take at least twice a 
year and the results shall be provided to the Licensing Authority upon request.  

 
16. A magnetic locking device, commonly referred to as a Maglock, will be installed and 

maintained on the main entrance/exit to the premises which will be operable by staff.  

17.  Staff will receive a notification when the front door opens.  

18.  Between 6pm and 6am there will be an SIA registered door person employed at the front 
door of the premises. The need for an SIA door person at other times will be risk 
assessed. They shall display their licence at all times in a yellow high visibility arm band.  

 
19.  There shall be 2 members of staff present at all times the premises are open to the 

public.  
 
20. The licensee shall implement a policy of banning any customers who engage in crime or 

disorder within or outside the premises.  
 
21.  The licensee will refuse entry to customers who appear to be under the influence of 

alcohol or drugs.  
 
22. The licensee shall install and maintain an intruder alarm on the premises.  

page 164



23.  The licensee shall install and maintain fixed panic buttons and in addition portable panic 
buttons will be worn by staff.  

 
24. The licensee will ensure that customer toilets are checked every hour for evidence of 

drug taking. Toilet checks are to be documented stating the time and member of staff 
who made the checks. Toilets will remain locked at all times with access being provided 
by staff. 

 
25.  Prominent GamCare documentation will be displayed at the premises together with 

other notices promoting responsible gambling. All such documentation and notices will 
be provided in English and Mandarin Chinese.  

 
26.   The licensee shall:  

a. provide induction training to all staff working at the premises;  

b. provide refresher training to every member of staff at least every six months.  
The training shall include the following:  
i. the specific local risks to the licensing objectives that have been identified for these 
premises;  
ii. drug and alcohol awareness training to include Homeless and Street Drinking.  

iii. Conflict Management Training. At least one of these training sessions each calendar 
year shall be provided by instructors qualified to a formally recognised national or 
equivalent standard on dealing with conflict.  

 
27.  Participation in the said training shall be formally recorded on each member of staff’s 

training records which will be available for presentation to the Licensing Authority 
immediately upon request.  

 
28.  At least one member of staff working at the premises shall have a minimum of 6 months 

experience working in a licensed Adult Gaming Centre.  
 
29.  The Licensee shall take all reasonable steps to prevent street drinking of alcohol directly 

outside the premises and to ban from the premises those who do so.  
 
30.  The Licensee shall place a notice visible from the exterior of the premises stating that 

customers drinking alcohol outside the premises is not permitted and those who do so 
will be banned from the premises.  

 
31.  An incident log shall be kept for the premises and made available on request to an 

authorised officer of the City Council or the Police which will record the following;  
 

a. All crimes reported to the venue;  

b. Any complaints received regarding crime and disorder;  

c. Any incidents of disorder;  

d. Any faults in the CCTV system; and  

e. Any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service.  

f. All ejections of patrons;  

g. All seizures of drugs or offensive weapons;  
 
32.  There shall be no cash point or ATM facilities on the premises  
 
33.  Any tea/coffee/drinks facilities will be provided for playing customers only.  
 

page 165



34.  All seating within the premises shall be either secured to the floor or are weighted to 
prevent lifting.  

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

page 166



 
Residential Map and List of Premises in the Vicinity                     Appendix 6 
 

 
 
 
Resident Count within a 75 metre radius: 101 
 

page 167



 

Licensed premises within a 250m radius of 32 Gerrard Street, London, W1D 6JA 

Licence Number Trading Name Address 
Application 
Type 

09/08556/LIGPN Exchange Bar 

32 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 6JA 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

12/01762/LILN 
Chinese 
Community Centre 

Second Floor 28 
- 29 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 6JW 

New Lotteries 
Registration 

11/08754/LIGPN Slug And Lettuce 

Ground 5 Lisle 
Street London 
WC2H 7BF 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

20/11829/LIGV Paddy Power 

Basement And 
Ground Floor 40 
Gerrard Street 
London W1D 
5QE 

Gambling Act - 
Variation 

08/03570/LIGPN 
De Hems Public 
House 

11 Macclesfield 
Street London 
W1D 5BW 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

21/13101/LIGCH Play 2 Win 

32 Wardour 
Street London 
W1D 6JJ 

Gambling Act - 
Change Licensee 
Dets 

09/10170/LIGPN The Imperial 

5 Leicester 
Street London 
WC2H 7BL 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

08/00690/LIGPN The Imperial 

5 Leicester 
Street London 
WC2H 7BL 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

11/00378/LIGPPC O'Neill's 

33 - 37 Wardour 
Street London 
W1D 6PT 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGMP 
Conversion 

17/07823/LIGT Betfred 

39 Wardour 
Street London 
W1D 6PX 

Gambling Act - 
Transfer 

19/16970/LIGV 
The Empire Poker 
Room 

Basement To 
Second Floor 5 
- 6 Leicester 
Square London 
WC2H 7NA 

Gambling Act - 
Variation 

20/01525/LIGT Caesar's Mayfair 

Second Floor 5 
- 6 Leicester 
Square London 
WC2H 7NA 

Gambling Act - 
Transfer 

19/13579/LIGV 
The Casino At The 
Empire 

Basement To 
Second Floor 5 
- 6 Leicester 
Square London 
WC2H 7NA 

Gambling Act - 
Variation 

11/00803/LIGPN Not Recorded 

1 Leicester 
Place London 
WC2H 7BP 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

19/02395/LIGV Horizons Basement 1 Gambling Act - 

page 168



Leicester Place 
London WC2H 
7BP 

Variation 

09/07972/LIGPS Ladbrokes 

118-120 
Shaftesbury 
Avenue London 
W1D 5EP 

Gambling Act - 
Provisional 
Statement 

20/03860/LILR The Soho Society 

55 Dean Street 
London W1D 
6AF 

Renewal of a 
Lotteries 
Registration 

09/01117/LIGPN 
Golden Lion Public 
House 

51 Dean Street 
London W1D 
5BH 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

08/10018/LIGPPR 
Golden Lion Public 
House 

51 Dean Street 
London W1D 
5BH 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGMP 
Renewal 

19/02391/LIGT Coral 

1-3 Newport 
Place London 
WC2H 7JR 

Gambling Act - 
Transfer 

07/10189/LIGPN 
Vue Cinemas West 
End 

3 Cranbourn 
Street London 
WC2H 7AL 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

18/11176/LIGCHT 
The Rialto Casino 
Piccadilly 

3 - 4 Coventry 
Street London 
W1D 6BL 

Gambling Act - 
Change Trading 
Name 

11/02779/LIGV G Casino Piccadilly 

3 - 4 Coventry 
Street London 
W1D 6BL 

Gambling Act - 
Variation 

13/05696/LIGV 

Genting Casino 
London China 
Town 

93-107 
Shaftesbury 
Avenue London 
W1D 5DY 

Gambling Act - 
Variation 

17/05555/LIGPN Comptons 

51 - 53 Old 
Compton Street 
London W1D 
6HN 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

11/00218/LIGPN Not Recorded 

51 - 53 Old 
Compton Street 
London W1D 
6HN 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

18/15825/LIGV Crystal Rooms 

Basement And 
Part Ground 
Floor 7 - 9 
Cranbourn 
Street London 

Gambling Act - 
Variation 

19/11852/LIGV 
The Hippodrome 
Casino 

The 
Hippodrome 
Cranbourn 
Street London 
WC2H 7JH 

Gambling Act - 
Variation 

15/08625/LIGPN Duke Of Wellington 

77 Wardour 
Street London 
W1D 6QA 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

08/00099/LIGPN Duke Of Wellington 77 Wardour Gambling Permit 

page 169



Street London 
W1D 6QA 

- LPGM 
Notification 

15/08621/LIGPN Admiral Duncan 

54 Old Compton 
Street London 
W1D 4UD 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

17/07818/LIGPPV Not Recorded 

54 Old Compton 
Street London 
W1D 4UD 

Licensed 
Premises Gaming 
Machine Permit 

10/03167/LIGPN 
White Horse Public 
House 

45 Rupert Street 
London W1D 
7PB 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

08/04614/LIGPN 
Rupert Street Cafe 
Bar 

50 Rupert Street 
London W1D 
6DR 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

11/00180/LIGPN Not Recorded 

50 Rupert Street 
London W1D 
6DR 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

12/02196/LIGV William Hill 

18 Newport 
Court London 
WC2H 7JS 

Gambling Act - 
Variation 

10/05314/LIGPN 
The Zoo Bar And 
Club 

Basement And 
Ground Floor 
Cameo House 
13 - 17 Bear 
Street London 
WC2H 7AS 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

18/12908/LIGPPN Village Bar 

Basement 
Ground Floor 
And Part First 
Floor 81 
Wardour Street 
London W1D 
6QD 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGMP New 

08/00436/LIGPPN Not Recorded 

Second Floor 
Trocadero 13 
Coventry Street 
London W1W 
7DH 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGMP New 

11/06403/LIGPN Not Recorded 

79 Charing 
Cross Road 
London WC2H 
0NE 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

18/12904/LIGPPN Bar Soho 

23 - 25 Old 
Compton Street 
London W1D 
5JL 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGMP New 

10/05315/LIGPN Bar Soho 

23 - 25 Old 
Compton Street 
London W1D 
5JL 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

11/00343/LIGPPC Not Recorded 

10 - 12 Bear 
Street London 
WC2H 7AX 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGMP 
Conversion 

07/10089/LIGPN Walkabout 

136 Shaftesbury 
Avenue London 
W1D 5EZ 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

page 170



09/08090/LIGPN Walkabout 

136 Shaftesbury 
Avenue London 
W1D 5EZ 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

09/06763/LIGPPC Moon Under Water 

28 Leicester 
Square London 
WC2H 7LE 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGMP 
Conversion 

07/10627/LIGPN 
The Porcupine 
Public House 

48 Charing 
Cross Road 
London WC2H 
0BS 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

21/10187/LIGPUR Funland 

89 - 91 Wardour 
Street London 
W1F 0UB 

Gambling Permit 
- unFEC Renewal 

16/06717/LIGPUD Funland 

89 - 91 Wardour 
Street London 
W1F 0UB 

Gambling Permit 
- unFEC 
Duplicate/Update 

21/13102/LIGCH Las Vegas 

89 - 91 Wardour 
Street London 
W1F 0UB 

Gambling Act - 
Change Licensee 
Dets 

07/10251/LIGPN Odeon Cinema 

Ground Floor To 
Upper Floor 40 
Leicester 
Square London 
WC2H 7LE 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

16/02117/LIGPN Comedy 

Basement To 
Second Floor 7 
Oxendon Street 
London SW1Y 
4EE 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

10/02886/LIGPN The Brewmaster 

37 Cranbourn 
Street London 
WC2H 7AD 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

10/02873/LIGPN The Brewmaster 

37 Cranbourn 
Street London 
WC2H 7AD 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

08/04587/LIGPN 
Three Greyhounds 
Public House 

The Three 
Greyhounds 
Public House 25 
Greek Street 
London W1D 
5DD 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

11/08749/LIGPPT Yates Wine Lodge 

Ground Floor 29 
- 30 Leicester 
Square London 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGMP 
Transfer 

09/03961/LIGPN 
St James' Tavern 
Public House 

45 Great 
Windmill Street 
London 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

09/08642/LILN 
Soho Parish 
School 

Soho Parish 
Primary School 
23 Great 
Windmill Street 
London W1D 
7LF 

New Lotteries 
Registration 

12/03930/LILN 
Soho Parish 
School 

Soho Parish 
Primary School 
23 Great 

New Lotteries 
Registration 

page 171



Windmill Street 
London W1D 
7LF 

09/09960/LIGPN 
Round Table 
Public House 

26-27 St 
Martin's Court 
London WC2N 
4AL 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

10/03168/LIGPN 
Duke Of Argyll 
Public House 

37 Brewer 
Street London 
W1F 0RY 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

08/04635/LIGPN 
Duke Of Argyll 
Public House 

37 Brewer 
Street London 
W1F 0RY 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

10/00266/LIGPN Cambridge Hotel 

93 Charing 
Cross Road 
London WC2H 
0DP 

Gambling Permit 
- LPGM 
Notification 

 
 
 
 

page 172


	Agenda
	1. Reign, 215 - 217 Piccadilly, W1J 9HN
	2. The Residency, 50 Westbourne Grove, W2 5SH
	3. Silvertime Amusement Limited, 32 Gerrard Street, W1D 6JA



